Behavioural and neural correlates of memory loss: investigating storage impairment in consolidation, reconsolidation, and active decay

Jie Jane Zhang

Department of Psychology McGill University, Montreal

June 2018

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy in Psychology

© Jie Jane Zhang, 2018

Table of Contents

GENERAL ABSTRACT	vii
RÉSUMÉ	X
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xiv
CONTRIBUTION TO ORIGINAL KNOWLEDGE	xvi
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	xviii
COMMONLY USED ABBREVIATIONS	xix
LIST OF FIGURES	XX
CHAPTER ONE: General introduction	1
1.1. How memories are lost	2
1.2. The nature of amnesia	5
1.2.1. History of recovery from amnesia experiments	5
1.2.2. The second learning phenomenon	7
1.2.3. Types of memory and memory loss	10
1.3. Spotlight on a specific type of AMPA receptor	13
1.3.1. The role of GluA2-AMPARs in synaptic plasticity	14
1.3.2. The role of GluA2-AMPARs in long-term memory maintenance	16
1.4. GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis is part of a neural mechanism of many forms of memory loss	17
1.4.1. Endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs disrupts long-term memory	18
1.4.2. Post-retrieval AMPAR endocytosis causes long-term memory destabilization	19
1.4.3. Endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs contributes to forgetting	22
1.4.4. GluA2-AMPAR expression levels may increase due to additional learning	24
1.5. Summary: GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis as a biological correlate of experimental amn	esia
and active decay	25

CHAPTER TWO: ZIP erasure of an object location memory leads to NMDAR-dependency

of later object location learning	
2.1. Preface	
2.2. Abstract	

2.3. Introduction
2.4. Methods
2.4.1. Animal subjects
2.4.2. Surgeries
2.4.3. Apparatus
2.4.4. Drug infusions
2.4.5. Behavioural procedure
2.4.5.1. First learning
2.4.5.2. Second learning
2.4.6. Sacrifice
2.4.7. Behavioural scoring
2.4.8. Biochemistry
2.4.8.1. Subcellular fractionation for postsynaptic density
2.4.8.2. Western blots
2.5. Results
2.5.1. First learning of an object location task requires NMDAR for acquisition
2.5.2. First learning object location memory lasts longer than a week
2.5.3. Second learning of an object location task does not require NMDAR for acquisition
2.5.4. ZIP impairment of first learning memory renders second learning NMDAR-dependent45
2.5.5. GluA2-AMPAR expression level is negatively correlated with novelty ratio score after
ZIP-induced impairment
2.6. Discussion
2.7. Conclusion
2.8. Figures
CHAPTER THREE: Reconsolidation blockade leads to experience-driven changes in
NMDAR-dependency in later spatial learning
3.1. Preface
3.2. Abstract
3.3. Introduction
3.4. Methods

3.4.1. Animal subjects	70
3.4.2. Surgeries	70
3.4.3. Apparatus	71
3.4.4. Drug infusions	72
3.4.5. Behavioural procedure	72
3.4.5.1. First learning in Open Field A	72
3.4.5.2. Reactivation in Open Field A	73
3.4.5.3. Second learning in Open Field B	73
3.4.6. Sacrifice	74
3.4.7. Behavioural scoring	74
3.4.8. Biochemistry	76
3.4.8.1. Subcellular fractionation for postsynaptic density	76
3.4.8.2. Western blots	76
3.5. Results	77
3.5.1. Post-reactivation infusion of sulfasalazine blocks reconsolidation of object location	n
memory	77
3.5.2. Reconsolidation blockade of first learning memory leads to subsequent learning to)
become NMDAR-dependent	78
3.5.3. GluA2-AMPAR levels remain unchanged by sulfasalazine-induced reconsolidation	n
blockade of first learning memory, with or without NMDAR blockade of second	
learning memory acquisition	80
3.6. Discussion	81
3.7. Conclusion	85
3.8. Figures	87
CHAPTER FOUR: GluA2-containing AMPA receptor expression in CA1 hippocamp	ous
does not correlate with decreasing object location memory	91

4.4.1. Animal subjects	98
4.4.2. Apparatus	98
4.4.3. Behavioural procedure	99
4.4.4. Sacrifice	100
4.4.5. Behavioural scoring	100
4.4.6. Biochemistry	101
4.4.6.1. Subcellular fractionation for postsynaptic density	102
4.4.6.2. Western blots	102
4.5. Results	102
4.5.1. Object location memory declines over time	102
4.5.2. GluA2-AMPAR expression at CA1 PSD decreases over time	103
4.5.3. GluA2-AMPAR expression at PSD does not correlate with object location memory	105
4.5.4. Actin expression increases with new object location learning	106
4.6. Discussion	107
4.7. Conclusion	112
4.8. Figures	114

CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION	120
5.1. Rationale of studies	121
5.2. Summary of findings	123
5.2.1. Experimental amnesia causes storage loss of spatial learning memory	119
5.2.2. Natural forgetting of a spatial learning task does not reflect similar changes in 0	GluA2-
AMPAR internalization as found in experimental amnesia	125
5.3. Theoretical implications of the data	129
5.3.1. Post-retrieval GluA2-AMPAR exchange with CP-AMPARs	129
5.3.2. Place field size correlates to neuronal recruitment	131
5.3.3. Metaplasticity and NMDAR-independent learning	133
5.4. Usage of western blotting to probe for GluA2-AMPARs in the hippocampus	135
5.4.1. Dorsal hippocampus is necessary for spatial memory representation	136
5.4.2. Long-term retention of spatial memories recruit GluA2-AMPARs	136

5.4.3. Actin is not an appropriate loading control for experiments measuring learning-based
changes
5.4.4. Spatial memories likely are coded sparsely in the dorsal hippocampus
5.5. Future directions
5.5.1. Alternative neural correlates associated with memory destabilization and/or memory loss .140
5.5.2. Other techniques
5.6. Conclusion
REFERENCES

General abstract

Although the loss of memory has long been recognised as fundamental to memory function as initial memory formation, considerably less is known about the neurobiology of forgetting. Therefore, we explore neurobiological correlates of three distinct forgetting phenomena: (1) experimental amnesia induced by impairing memory consolidation, (2) amnesia induced by impairing memory reconsolidation, and (3) active decay of long-term memory.

(1) The nature of experimental amnesia has traditionally been discussed within a framework of analysis based on the distinction of storage versus retrieval impairment, with the view that experimental amnesia arises either from memories being unavailable (impaired storage) or inaccessible (impaired retrieval). Using a second learning protocol that takes advantage of the fact that N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) are required for the initial but not subsequent learning of a task, it is possible to behaviourally dissociate whether loss of a specific memory is caused by a storage or retrieval impairment. In Chapter 2, we describe experiments in which we employed this approach to show that infusions of ZIP, an inhibitor of a protein required for memory maintenance (PKMζ), leads to a memory impairment consistent with the view that experimental amnesia reflects impaired memory storage. Animals first acquired long-term memory for object locations in an open field. The subsequent day, we infused ZIP into the dorsal hippocampus (dHPC), which promoted the loss of these object location memories. Animals then learned another set of object locations. We found that this learning did not require NMDAR activation, which is normally necessary in animals naïve to this task. Western blot quantification of GluA2-subunit containing α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (GluA2-AMPAR) expression levels in the dHPC revealed an

vii

unexpected correlation, in that decreased memory expression in animals infused with ZIP went along with increased GluA2-AMPARs. This suggests that the correlation between GluA2-AMPAR expression and memory expression might not be as linear as we expected.

(2) In Chapter 3, we used the second learning protocol to explore whether impairing the reconsolidation of an object location memory leads to memory loss consistent with a storage or retrieval impairment view of amnesia. To this end, we infused the transcription inhibitor sulfasalazine (SSZ) into the dHPC after reactivating long-term object location memories. We then trained these animals in a different object location task and found that infusing an NMDAR-blocker prior to this second learning did not affect memory acquisition the way it normally would in untrained animals. Thus, similar to the results reported in Chapter 2, these findings suggest that impairing memory reconsolidation leads to a memory loss consistent with the position that the intervention impaired memory storage processes, and not memory retrieval. Western blot assays showed no difference in GluA2-AMPAR expression levels in dHPC neurons, which may indicate that the changes that are likely occurring as a result of reconsolidation blockade are too minimal to be detected with this technique.

(3) In Chapter 4, we explore biochemical correlates of decay of long-term object location memories. We varied the time between memory acquisition and test, and measured the expression of GluA2-AMPARs in the dHPC. We found the hypothesized gradual decrease in memory expression with increasing retention time, leading to apparent full memory loss after seven days. However, in contrast to these behavioural observations, we found that the expression of GluA2-AMPARs in the dHPC increases during the retention interval, unlike the positive correlation between GluA2-AMPAR expression and memory strength expected, based on literature. Taken together with the results from Chapter 2 and 3, the inconsistency of GluA2-

viii

AMPAR expression in our studies suggest that western blots might not be a suitable method of assessment for the types of memories studied in our experiments.

In summary, our data indicate that experimental amnesia observed after impairing memory consolidation and reconsolidation reflects the actual loss of a memory trace, and thus supports the idea that these forms of memory loss are best explained with compromised memory storage, not memory retrieval. Based on the unexpected results from our study on the relationship between memory loss during natural memory decay over time and expression of GluA2-AMPARs, we remain cautious regarding the corresponding biochemical assessments in our consolidation and reconsolidation studies. In chapter 5, we discuss these issues in detail. Indeed, understanding how behavioural phenomena relate to synaptic phenomena and vice versa seems essential in deepening our understanding of memory. The results put forward in this dissertation illustrates the importance of this goal for progress in this field, and provide a set of solid behavioural paradigms that will promote future research efforts.

Résumé

Bien que la perte de mémoire ait longtemps été reconnue comme une fonction fondamentale de la formation initiale de la mémoire, la neurobiologie de l'oubli est considérablement moins connue. Nous explorons donc les marqueurs neurobiologiques de trois phénomènes de l'oubli : (1) l'amnésie expérimentale induite par l'altération de la consolidation de la mémoire (2) l'amnésie induite par l'altération de la reconsolidation de la mémoire, et (3) le déclin actif de la mémoire à long terme.

(1) Traditionnellement, la nature de l'amnésie expérimentale a été discuté dans un cadre d'analyse basé sur la distinction entre un problème de stockage ou de rappel, en tenant compte que l'amnésie expérimentale résulte soit de souvenirs non-disponibles (problème de stockage) ou inaccessibles (problème de rappel). En utilisant un protocole de deuxième apprentissage, qui tire avantage du fait que les récepteurs N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDARs) sont nécessaires pour le premier mais non le deuxième apprentissage d'une tâche, il est possible de dissocier de manière comportementale si la perte d'un souvenir spécifique est causée par un problème de stockage ou de rappel. Au chapitre 2, nous décrivons des expériences qui emploient cette approche afin de démontrer que des infusions de ZIP, un inhibiteur d'une protéine nécessaire au maintien de la mémoire (PKMζ), mène à une diminution de la mémoire en accord avec la vision que l'amnésie expérimentale reflète un problème de stockage. Les animaux ont d'abord acquis un souvenir à long terme pour la localisation d'objets situés dans une arène. Le jour suivant, nous avons infusé ZIP dans l'hippocampe dorsal (dHPC), ce qui a stimulé la perte de ces souvenirs de localisation d'objets. Les animaux ont ensuite appris la localisation d'une autre paire d'objets. Nous avons constaté que cet apprentissage ne nécessitait pas l'activation des NMDARs, qui sont

normalement essentiels chez les animaux naïfs à cette tâche. La quantification par *Western blot* des niveaux d'expression des récepteurs de l'acide propionique alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-4-isoxazole contenant la sous-unité GluA2 (GluA2-AMPARs) dans le dHPC a révélé une corrélation inattendue, c'est-à-dire qu'une diminution de l'expression de la mémoire chez les animaux infusés avec ZIP correspondait avec une augmentation des GluA2-AMPARs. Ceci suggère que la corrélation entre l'expression des GluA2-AMPARs et l'expression de la mémoire ne sont pas aussi linéaires que nous l'avions anticipé.

(2) Au chapitre 3, nous avons utilisé le protocole de deuxième apprentissage pour explorer si altérer la reconsolidation d'un souvenir de localisation d'objets amène à une perte de mémoire cohérente avec la vision selon laquelle l'amnésie reflète un problème de stockage ou de rappel. Pour ce faire, nous avons infusé l'inhibiteur de transcription sulfasalazine (SSZ) dans le dHPC après avoir réactivé la mémoire à long terme liée à la localisation d'objets. Nous avons ensuite entraîné ces animaux dans une tâche différente de localisation d'objets. Nous avons constaté que l'infusion de l'inhibiteur des NMDARs avant ce second apprentissage n'a pas affecté l'acquisition de ce souvenir de la façon normalement observée chez des animaux nonentraînés. Ainsi, comme les résultats rapportés au chapitre 2, ces données suggèrent que de bloquer la reconsolidation amène à une perte de mémoire cohérente avec le concept que l'intervention a modifié les processus de stockage de la mémoire, et non pas ceux du rappel. Les analyses par Western blot n'ont montré aucune différence sur les niveaux d'expression des GluA2-AMPARs dans les neurones du dHPC, ce qui peut indiquer que les changements probables en conséquence de l'inhibition de la reconsolidation qui se produisent sont trop minimes pour être détectés par cette technique.

xi

(3) Au chapitre 4, nous explorons les marqueurs biochimiques du déclin des souvenirs à long terme liés à la localisation d'objets. Nous avons varié la durée entre l'acquisition du souvenir et le test, puis mesurons l'expression de GluA2-AMPARs dans le dHPC. Nous avons constaté que l'hypothétique diminution graduelle de l'expression de la mémoire au fur et à mesure que la durée de rétention augmente mène à une apparente perte de mémoire complète après sept jours. Toutefois, contrairement aux observations comportementales, nous avons découvert que l'expression des GluA2-AMPARs dans le dHPC augmente dans l'intervalle de rétention, à l'inverse de la corrélation positive attendue entre l'expression des GluA2-AMPARs et l'intensité de la mémoire montrée dans la littérature. En tenant compte de ces résultats et de ceux des chapitres 2 et 3, l'incohérence de l'expression des GluA2-AMPARs dans nos études suggère que la quantification par *Western blot* n'est peut-être pas une technique adéquate d'analyse pour le type de souvenirs étudiés dans nos expériences.

En conclusion, nos données indiquent que l'amnésie expérimentale observée après l'altération de la consolidation et de la reconsolidation révèle la perte réelle de l'origine de la mémoire et ainsi supporte l'idée que ces formes de pertes de mémoire sont expliquées davantage par un problème de stockage, et non pas par un problème de rappel. En s'appuyant sur les résultats inattendus de notre étude sur la relation entre la perte de mémoire lors du déclin naturel au fil du temps et l'expression des GluA2-AMPARs, nous demeurons prudents à l'égard des analyses biochimiques correspondantes dans nos études en consolidation et reconsolidation. Au chapitre 5, nous discutons de cette problématique en détails. En effet, comprendre comment les phénomènes comportementaux sont reliés aux phénomènes synaptiques et vice versa paraît essentiel à l'approfondissement de notre compréhension de la mémoire. Les résultats présentés dans cette dissertation démontrent l'importance de ce but pour le progrès dans ce domaine, et

xii

fourni un ensemble de paradigmes comportementaux fiables qui assurera de future efforts en recherche.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank, first and most importantly, my parents, for their patience, love, and support, and for walking along with me on this journey since day one. My father Peijun who has walked this road before and always told me, "Just go day by day." My mother Yujun who has held my education as her first priority throughout my life. Thanks for taking care of me from behind all this time. 辛苦您了.

Secondly, my partner, Jason McCarrell, for having dealt with me everyday for years and sharing my burden of trying to get a PhD. You have kept me fed, kept me warm, kept me sane, kept me from running off and abandoning everything, and have held my hand without complaint as I walked slowly but steadily to catch up to you in the real world. I literally could not have made it past the final goal posts without you.

Thirdly, my fellow graduate students, who understood my work—both my research and my labour—better than anyone else. The old guard: Julian Gitelman, Joëlle Lopez, Georgina Archbold, Peter Finnie, who helped shape my first few years and paved the way for me; the inbetweeners: Bruno Morales and Shih-Dar Chang; and the new crew: Matteo Bernabo, Josué Haubrich, Alexandra Barnabe, and Taylor Weeks, who have shaped my last and most crucial years. A special mention to Matteo and Josué: you guys brought new life into our lab and I looked forward to going to school everyday so I could hang out with you, chatting about neuroscience, politics, cultural differences, and the struggles of life in academia. I knew I could always turn to you two for help and humour and I would have crawled into a ditch long ago had you guys not distracted me with jokes and anecdotes. All of us in the Nader lab have had a

xiv

distinctly unique graduate school experience—we have stormed the beaches together and now are comrades for the rest of our lives, for better or worse!

To other lab friends in the STBIO BNS family, and to all the other grad student friends I have made throughout my time at McGill: thank you guys too. Misery loves company, as they say. (Kidding.)

Next, thank you to those who have helped me with my research. Undergraduates Raveena Ambani, Nadine Perera, Areej Jaffrani, Isabella Parks, Sabrine Mayada-Maaz, Sophie Papp, Amaryllis Mirlycourtois, Yun Lu; research assistants Jennifer Pors, Seunghyun Ko, Carmelo Milo; my thesis committee members Dr Jeff Mogil and Dr Wayne Sossin; Dr Virginia Migues, who spearheaded much of the work I present in this thesis; and Dr Jonathan Lee, who helped give us a recipe for sulfasalazine; graduate program coordinator Giovanna LoCascio, who calmly talked me down when I was panicking and magically healed all my problems; and Dr Debra Titone, who dealt gracefully with some late-game swerve balls. Most crucially, thanks to Karine Gamache and Dr Oliver Hardt, who have saved my butt, time and time again, acted as my teachers and counsellors, and made every step forward possible. It would take too long to list all the ways that you two have helped me, but look: we cobbled together a dissertation! Doesn't that say it all? Thank you, really, from the bottom of my heart.

Last but not least, thank you to my supervisor, Dr Karim Nader. A man who defied convention and defies description. You graciously allowed me into your lab that first summer in 2010, and catalyzed my growth as a person and researcher. You have been a larger than life presence throughout my time at McGill, providing guidance, encouragement, and let's face it, funding. I will never forget your kindness and patience. Thanks for making the world a much more colourful place; I would not be who I am today without you.

xv

Contribution of original work

The work presented in this dissertation focuses on the storage impairment of experimental amnesia, the possible storage impairment of natural forgetting, and examines how this impairment may in part be due to endocytosis of GluA2-containing AMPA receptors (GluA2-AMPARs) from the postsynaptic membrane. It comprises of three unpublished manuscripts.

In Chapters 2 and 3, we show that training in object location learning leads subsequent learning of the same task in a different context to be NMDAR-independent. NMDARindependent learning has been shown in contextual learning and water maze learning, but not yet a non-aversive, non-Pavlovian spatial task like object location learning. Moreover, we took advantage of this NMDAR-independent quality in a second learning protocol, which uniquely allows a positive prediction of whether memory loss is caused by a storage or retrieval impairment of the memory representation. To our knowledge, this protocol is the only kind that can behaviourally parse these two sources of amnesia. Using this protocol, we showed that memory impairment caused by ZIP infusions as well as reconsolidation blockade caused by sulfasalazine infusions lead to a storage loss of the memory.

Additionally, the reconsolidation blockade in Chapter 2 is the first instance in which reconsolidation mechanisms have been observed in object location learning. Historically, very few experiments have examined reconsolidation of non-Pavlovian learning; our work is one of a small handful that have shown the effect, and the first one that has shown it in object location learning. Lastly, the effects of the nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) pathway is a relatively new but growing research interest within the field of learning and memory. Our data contributes to the

xvi

emerging literature about how inhibiting this pathway can block transcription needed for reconsolidation.

Mechanisms of GluA2-AMPAR maintenance in the postsynaptic membrane are beginning to be understood: it has been shown that removal of GluA2-AMPARs cause decay of the long-term potentiation (LTP) signal (Dong et al., 2015) and disrupts long-term memory (LTM). Importantly, there is a correlation between surface GluA2-AMPAR expression and memory strength (Migues et al., 2010), and pharmacologically extending maintenance of GluA2-AMPAR in the postsynaptic membrane seems to attenuate forgetting (Migues et al., 2016). However, the exact relationship between the rate and amount of GluA2-AMPARs internalized, and memory loss, has not yet been shown. The sum of the biochemical data gathered across these three projects show that GluA2-AMPAR expression does not seem to correlate with behavioural changes related to memory loss. As this is overwhelmingly contrary to the literature, the data overall suggests that western blots are not sensitive enough to detect these putative molecular changes. As experiments directly measuring variations of GluA2-AMPAR expression with respect to object location memory loss has not yet been shown, our data highlights many of the issues to be considered in future research.

Contributions of authors

The work presented in Chapter 2 was completed by me and undergraduate student Sophia Papp. Dr Oliver Hardt helped design the experiments and helped with analysis for Experiments 1 and 3 (part 2.5.1. and 2.5.3). I performed all the surgeries, most of the training, all of the testing, and all of the scoring. I mixed the drugs used for infusions. Sophie helped with handling, training and infusions. Sacrifice, histology, and biochemistry was done by me. Analysis and writing was done by me under the supervision of Dr Karim Nader.

The work presented in Chapter 3 was completed by me and undergraduate Amaryllis Mirlycourtois. I designed the experiments and did all surgeries. Running the experiment (handling, training, infusions, testing) was done by Amaryllis and I. Drug mix was done by me. Sacrifice and histology was done by me; biochemistry was performed by Amaryllis and I. Scoring and analysis was also done by me and Amaryllis. Writing was done by me under the supervision of Dr Karim Nader.

The work presented in Chapter 4 was completed by me and undergraduate Yun Lu. I designed the experiments and performed all surgeries. Handling and training was done by Yun, with testing done by Yun and I. Sacrifice and histology was done by me; biochemistry was done by Yun and I. Yun did the scoring, and both Yun and I contributed to the analysis. Writing was done by me under the supervision of Dr Karim Nader.

Commonly used abbreviations

AMPAR	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor
GluA1-AMPAR	AMPAR containing GluA1 subunits
GluA2-AMPAR	AMPAR containing GluA2 subunits
CP-AMPAR	AMPAR that are impermeable to calcium (i.e. not GluA2)
D-AP5	NMDAR antagonist
dHPC	dorsal hippocampus
LTD	Long-term depression
LTM	Long-term memory
LTP	Long-term potentiation
NMDAR	<i>N</i> -methyl-D-aspartate receptor
NSF	N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor
РКМζ	Protein kinase M zeta
SSZ	sulfasalazine, inhibitor of nuclear factor κB transcription factors
TAT-GluA2 _{3Y}	GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis inhibitor
Veh	vehicle
ZIP	Zeta inhibitory peptide, PKMζ inhibitor
Scr-ZIP	Scrambled ZIP, inactive form of ZIP

List of figures

CHAPTER TWO: ZIP erasure of an object location memory leads to NMDAR-dependency of later object location learning

2.8.1. Acquisition of an object location memory for the first time is NMDAR-dependent54
2.8.2. First learning memory of object location lasts up to 7 days post-training
2.8.3. Acquisition of an object location memory after prior experience to the task is NMDAR-independent
2.8.4. ZIP-induced impairment of a first learning memory leads second learning to be NMDAR- dependent
2.8.5. First and second learning impairments do not affect GluA2-AMPAR expressions levels after second learning test
2.8.6. GluA2-AMPAR levels negatively correlates with novelty ratio at second learning probe test
2.8.7. Increasing GluA2-AMPAR expression in PSD of CA1 dHPC neurons is significantly correlated with decreasing novelty ratio score

CHAPTER THREE: Reconsolidation blockade leads to experience-driven changes in NMDAR-dependency in later spatial learning

3.8.1. Post-reactivation infusions of sulfasalazine block reconsolidation of object location	
memory	87

3.8.2. Reconsolidation blockade caused by post-reactivation infusions of sulfasalazine lead	S
subsequent object location learning to be NMDAR-dependent	88

3.8.4. GluA2-AMPAR expression levels do not correlate with novelty ratio scores90

CHAPTER FOUR: GluA2-containing AMPA receptor expression in CA1 hippocampus does not correlate with decreasing object location memory

4.8.1. Object location memory as indicated by novelty preference decreases as retention time
increases
4.8.2. Schematic representation of sampled locations within the dorsal hippocampus and punched
CA1 area for western blot analysis115
4.8.3. GluA2-AMPAR expression levels in CA1 PSD do not change linearly as a function of
training or retention time116
4.8.4. No correlation exists between individual novelty ratio versus GluA2-AMPAR levels in
trained rats117
4.8.5. Actin expression levels change as retention time increases
4.8.6. GluA2-AMPAR expression levels not standardized to loading control (actin) in CA1 PSD
do not change linearly as a function of training or retention time

Chapter 1 — Introduction

CHAPTER ONE

General introduction

1.1. How memories are lost

As humans, our life experience is shaped by our memories. This involves not only memories that are kept, but also memories that are lost. Since Hermann Ebbinghaus' seminal work in 1885 (Murre & Dros, 2015) characterizing a forgetting curve that illustrated how his own retention of nonsense syllables decreased over time, there has been a drive to understand how memory works, and how it fails.

The vast majority of past and current memory research explored how we encode, store, and recall memories. Mechanisms of acquisition, consolidation, maintenance, and retrieval have been extensively studied through both behaviour and biochemistry. In comparison, our knowledge of how memories are lost is lacking. Over the years, there have been various debates over how memories are lost—for instance, does forgetting occur passively or actively (R. L. Davis & Zhong, 2017), are memories lost through decay or interference (Hardt, Nader, & Nadel, 2013), is amnesia caused by a storage or retrieval impairment (L R Squire, 1982)? Memories can be lost pathologically or naturally, through diverse causes, in permanent or temporary ways; and because there are so many nuances to memory loss, there are many labels and hypothesized mechanisms.

In an extensive review, Davis and Zhong (2017) summarize a list of ways memory loss can occur. For example, forgetting can occur as neural correlates of memory (i.e. components of the memory trace, also sometimes called the engram) naturally decay. Evidence that supports this mechanism includes observations that long-term potentiation (LTP), a sustained increased of synaptic transmission strength that models how synaptic plasticity might underpin learning and memory (Bliss & Collingridge, 1993; Malenka, Nicoll, & A., 1999; Teyler & DiScenna, 1987), can decay over time (W. C. Abraham et al., 1993; Otani, Marshall, Tate, Goddard, & Abraham,

1989; Villarreal, Do, Haddad, & Derrick, 2002). Some have hypothesized that LTP in the hippocampus occurs due to a passive decrease of LTP maintenance processes (R. G. Morris, Davis, & Butcher, 1991; Villarreal et al., 2002). In this case, the memory is not being altered by extrinsic forces, but by a natural degradation of upkeep mechanisms. Alternatively, memory loss also can occur by means that counter LTP maintenance, such as reversing LTP (depotentiation) (Doyère, Srebro, & Laroche, 1997; Fujii, Saito, Miyakawa, Ito, & Kato, 1991; Martin, 1998) or by inducing long-term depression (LTD), the long-lasting reduction of synaptic transmission strength (W. Abraham & Goddard, 1983; Bear & Abraham, 1996; Xiao, Niu, & Wigström, 1996). At the molecular level, decay processes seem to occur as a function of time (Barnes, 1979; Wittenberg & Tsien, 2002), while processes like interference occur when other mechanisms impede the storage or retrieval of the target memory (Jarrard, 1975; Winocur, 1988) (Winocur, 1988; Jarrad & Leonard, 1975), essentially blocking the memory of interest from being accessed. While interference mechanisms are thought of as "active" because they involve brain activity occurring before or after the learning event, or from top-down cognitive control, such as with mental suppression, decay processes are also considered by some as an active process due to their well-regulated nature and the theory that our biological systems can dynamically remove neural correlates of memory based on the memory's relevance or recency (Hardt et al., 2013). Overall, many different mechanisms exist that can lead to loss of integrity of the memory trace, or to impair successful retrieval, both of which lead to forgetting at the behavioural level (R. L. Davis & Zhong, 2017).

Due to the emphasis on synaptic strengthening and maintenance in neurobiology literature, there already exists abundant research on one possible molecular mechanism of synaptic strength weakening, which may underlie certain types of memory loss—specifically,

removal of a subtype of α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs) from the postsynaptic membrane of excitatory neurons (Carroll, Beattie, von Zastrow, & Malenka, 2001; Collingridge, Isaac, & Wang, 2004; Lüscher et al., 1999). AMPARs, a type of glutamate receptor that have extensively been shown to modulate synaptic plasticity (for example Lee et al., 2000; but see Malinow & Malenka, 2002, and Huganir & Nicoll, 2013, for in-depth reviews), seem to play a crucially important role on memory retention due to the positive correlation of AMPAR in the postsynaptic density with synaptic strength (for example Hayashi et al., 2000; but see Kessels & Malinow, 2009, for a review). Much of the extant data focuses on how trafficking of AMPARs from the postsynaptic plasma membrane can lead to disrupted LTP or induction of LTD; in contrast, relatively little emphasis is placed on how AMPAR endocytosis is involved in long-term memory loss. This thesis therefore aims to show how postsynaptic AMPAR expression levels change as a memory is lost, and endeavours to demonstrate that these changes are representative of a storage impairment of the memory trace. Our work here shows how different types of memory loss—that is, experimentally-induced amnesia of consolidation (Chapters 2) and reconsolidation (Chapter 3)—are caused by a storage impairment of the memory, and how both these processes, along with active decay processes of forgetting (Chapter 4), are affected by GluA2-AMPAR internalization. This evidence for AMPAR endocytosis as a molecular correlate of memory loss can further our understanding of both natural and pathological forms of forgetting.

1.2. The nature of amnesia

1.2.1. History of recovery from amnesia experiments

The study of the mechanisms of memory loss has been difficult prior to the onset of molecular techniques, as researchers could only rely on behavioural output to make inferences on how the memory loss occurred. This understandably led to conflicting theories, as the end point of a forgetting experiment is always a performance deficit, regardless of where or how that deficit originated. One long-held debate about the nature of experimentally-induced amnesia therefore argued whether a trained memory is lost through a storage impairment, where the memory trace is no longer available, or a retrieval impairment, where the trace is rendered inaccessible (Gold & King, 1974; Hardt, Wang, & Nader, 2009; Nader & Hardt, 2009; Larry R. Squire, 1980).

As early as 1966, Endel Tulving suggested that forgetting, the loss of ability to express memory, can occur through either the unavailability (the memory representation is gone) or the inaccessibility of the trace (the memory representation is blocked from expression). In other words, a problem can occur with the retention (storage) or the recall (retrieval) of the memory (Tulving & Pearlstone, 1966). For many years, retrograde amnesia was thought to be necessarily caused by a storage impairment because the memory could not be recalled at later times, thus suggesting a permanent amnesia that damaged physical substrates of the memory (Larry R. Squire & Alvarez, 1995). In 1973, Miller and Springer developed an alternate explanation based on experiments that administered reminder cues after an amnesic treatment. Experiments had already shown that amnesic animals given a reminder cue in the form of a non-contingent treatment (e.g. in passive avoidance experiments, this could be a footshock in a different context), later seemingly recover the originally trained memory at a subsequent retention test (Koppenaal, Jagoda, & Cruce, 1967; Lewis, Misanin, & Miller, 1968; Quartermain, McEwen, & Azmitia, 1970). Because the reminder cue prompted the previously lost memory to return, these "recovery from amnesia" studies were taken as evidence that even with an amnesic treatment, the memory remained latent, and was merely inaccessible until a reminder was given. Miller and Springer therefore posited that these cases of experimental amnesia must be caused by a retrieval failure of the memory (Miller & Springer, 1973, 1974).

At the same time, Jim McGaugh's group showed that both storage and retrieval failure theories were possible explanations for experimental amnesia (Gold, Haycock, Macri, & McGaugh, 1973; Gold & King, 1974). As expected, their experiments revealed that animals trained in a passive avoidance task, later rendered amnesic, could then recover their memory following presentation of a non-contingent footshock (reminder cue). Naïve animals given the reminder unsurprisingly did not show any change in performance at a later test. However, Gold et al. (1973) separated the amnesic animals into two groups: those that performed at naïve levels, and those that performed at a level higher than naïve animals—at the same levels as animals that had been given very weak footshock training. They found that the fully amnesic animals were not affected by the reminder cue. But amnesic animals that showed weak memory at an initial retention test were capable of recovering their memory after being given a reminder cue. This led them to believe that the non-contingent footshock was not acting purely as a reminder, but possibly also as new learning. This learning could enhance a memory greatly weakened through amnesic treatments and bring performance back up to levels of control animals that had experienced strong training. Crucially, animals that were initially weakly trained, and had poor performance, also improved their performance level through the non-contingent footshock

reminder cue, in a manner similar to the animals that had partially forgotten the training (Gold et al., 1973).

Gold and King (1974) therefore theorized that the amnesic affect could not only be explained by a retrieval impairment, but also by a storage loss of the memory trace. The trained memory was impaired by an amnesic treatment to the extent that the animals could not perform well at an initial retention test, but because the memory was partially retained, it was able to be boosted to expressible levels after a reminder cue acting ostensibly as a weak training session. The authors state that this does not disprove all cases where a reminder cue helped overcome a retrieval deficit, but does provide additional interpretations of data. However, this showed that in studies of experimental amnesia using a recovery from amnesia paradigm, it is impossible to distinguish whether the amnesia was caused by a storage or retrieval failure, as both interpretations are possible (also see Nader, 2009; Hardt et al., 2009). Both storage and retrieval impairments lead to a similar performance loss at a retention test, resulting in ambiguous interpretations of how the trained memory is lost when only behavioural data available. As well, these experiments rely on negative data, that is, the absence of performance; thus it was not possible to make positive predictions about the cause of observed amnesic behaviour. This revealed not only a need to be cognizant of how amnesia could be produced, but a need for a behavioural paradigm that could positively differentiate between situations of storage and retrieval impairment.

1.2.2. The second learning phenomenon

Ideally, both behavioural and molecular evidence should be used to decipher the nature of amnesia. However, as stated, behavioural tests cannot easily distinguish between cases of storage impairment (leading to memory unavailability) and retrieval impairment (leading to memory

inaccessibility) because a lack of memory universally leads to decreased performance. To this end, Hardt et al. (2009) developed a second learning paradigm to positively dissociate the source of experimental amnesia.

The second learning paradigm takes advantage of the fact that there is a differential requirement for N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) activation depending on whether a hippocampal-dependent memory is learned for the first or second time. This effect was first noted by Bannerman and colleagues (1995) in rats trained in two different Morris water mazes, thus employing two different contexts to provide separate learning experiences of principally the same task. Rats infused with AP5, an NMDAR-antagonist, into the dorsal hippocampus (dHPC) prior to the first training experience were not able to successfully learn the task. This was expected, as NMDAR activation has been shown to be necessary for new spatial learning in the hippocampus (S. Davis, Butcher, & Morris, 1992; R. G. M. Morris, Anderson, Lynch, & Baudry, 1986; Nakazawa, McHugh, Wilson, & Tonegawa, 2004). But the researchers further showed that rats then trained in a second water maze setup were not affected by pre-training AP5 infusions. These rats were able to learn the task like control rats, showing that subsequent learning of a familiar task does not require NMDAR activation. Since then, NMDAR-independency of later learning has been observed in other experiments; in water maze learning (Saucier and Cain, 1995), contextual fear learning (Hardt et al., 2009; Sanders & Fanselow, 2003; Tayler et al., 2011; Wiltgen, Wood, & Levy, 2011), re-extinction of auditory fear (Langton & Richardson, 2010), and even relearning of auditory fear conditioning after forgetting (Chan, Baker, & Richardson, 2015; Li & Richardson, 2013).

Such findings suggest that giving prior exposure to a context or experience, whether through habituation or training, initiates plasticity mechanisms that facilitate future learning.

Because of this, NMDAR-independent learning may be a form of metaplasticity (Ryan G. Parsons, 2017), a phenomenon describing the plasticity of synaptic plasticity (Wickliffe C Abraham, 2008; Wickliffe C Abraham & Bear, 1996). The neural mechanisms involved in NMDAR-independent learning are not fully clear, although there seems to be a need to involve the hippocampus, as the exemplary protocol to induce NMDAR-independent learning has so far only been shown in hippocampus-dependent spatial memories (Tayler et al., 2011; Parsons, 2017), although similar effects have been seen with other memory phenomenon using auditory fear conditioning (extinction and relearning: Langton & Richardson, 2010; Li & Richardson, 2013, respectively). That the subsequent learning must build upon the same training experience as the initial learning (Wiltgen et al., 2011) perhaps indicates a shared or overlapping neural ensemble between the two experiences which allows the second learning to avoid NMDAR activation due to reliance on the first learning ensemble in some capacity. Evidence has indeed shown that different sets of training in the same context, given in close time proximity, do involve shared neural ensembles (Cai et al., 2016). Although the purpose of this thesis is not to explore the mechanisms of NMDAR-independent learning, this unique property of second learning acquisition is significant, as it allowed Hardt et al., (2009) to build a protocol that behaviourally dissociated between experimental amnesia caused by a storage deficit or a retrieval deficit.

In their study, rats were taught a contextual fear memory in one context, then given an amnesic treatment (infusions of anisomycin, a protein synthesis inhibitor) after training to block consolidation of this memory. Rats later experienced another set of fear conditioning sessions in a markedly different context. Infusions of AP5 were administered in the hippocampus prior to each of these "second learning" training sessions. Results showed that by impairing the initially-

learned memory with post-training anisomycin infusions, second learning acquisition became NMDAR-dependent. All other experimental groups showed adequate performance at the test for the second learning experience. Since NMDAR-dependent acquisition is a property of naïve learning, Hardt et al. concluded that the second learning experience had been acquired as if it was naïve learning. This suggested that anisomycin impairment of the first-learned memory erased the memory to a degree that the brain interpreted a familiar experience as new—inferring that the storage of the first learning trace had been lost to a large degree. Had the post-training amnesic treatment only impaired retrieval of the first-learned memory, the hypothesis would predict that subsequent learning would remain NMDAR-independent due to the physical persistence of the neural ensemble representing the first learning memory. Thus, the sensitivity of second learning to NMDAR impairment revealed whether the first learning memory was lost through a storage or retrieval impairment.

This protocol is a clear way to elucidate the nature of amnesia or forgetting through behavioural means. We were interested in finding out if erasing a consolidated memory, or blocking reconsolidation of a memory, could be characterized as a storage or retrieval impairment. This would allow clear disambiguation of the nature of these two forms of induced amnesia. By using the second learning protocol on a memory task, we could impair first learning memory (i.e. by erasing consolidation or blocking reconsolidation), and then evaluate the dependency of second learning acquisition on NMDARs, thus inferring how the intervention caused the memory loss.

1.2.3. Types of memory and memory loss

Memory can be lost in myriad ways, and three methods will be focused upon here. Not only erasing long-term memory (Chapter 2), and reconsolidation blockade (Chapter 3), but also

forgetting that occurs naturally, without intervention (Chapter 4). If all three situations cause a storage loss of the memory trace, and moreover, involve the loss of the same neural correlates, then this would imply some level of similarity in their neurobiological mechanisms. Because natural forgetting can be caused either by decay (neural correlates gradually being disintegrated), or interference (memories affecting recall or content of other memories) (Hardt et al., 2013), comparing analogous memory loss processes would allow indirect study of how forgetting occurs. Thus, experimental amnesia, which can be more strictly manipulated, can act as a proxy to study forgetting. Our first project, then, was to characterize the nature of amnesia of impairing a consolidated memory, which we believe is an appropriate parallel to forgetting mechanisms.

Secondly, we thought it was crucial to study amnesia caused by reconsolidate blockade. Reconsolidation describes the phenomenon of a consolidated, stable memory becoming temporarily labile after recall (Debiec, LeDoux, & Nader, 2002; Milekic & Alberini, 2002; Nader, Schafe, & Le Doux, 2000; Przybyslawski & Sara, 1997; Susan J. Sara, 2000). During the period of lability, the memory can be manipulated, for example to block a memory (Nader et al., 2000), block an emotional component of a memory (Schiller et al., 2009), or even strengthen a memory (Tronson, Wiseman, Olausson, & Taylor, 2006). But reconsolidation does not occur ubiquitously; some have theorized that memories are most likely to reconsolidate when a prediction error is experienced, i.e. the experience that reactivates the memory involves new learning (Exton-McGuinness, Lee, & Reichelt, 2015; Sevenster, Beckers, & Kindt, 2013, 2014). The incorporation of new data has been thought of as a form of memory updating needed to keep memory relevant (J. L. C. Lee, 2009), thus reconsolidation may be an adaptive memory process (J. L. C. Lee, Nader, & Schiller, 2017). Therefore, reconsolidation blockade—of spatial

memories especially—is a needed area of study in the greater framework of memory loss mechanisms.

If these instances of memory loss are caused by a retrieval impairment, then neural correlates of the memory are likely to be retained despite being temporarily obstructed from being expressed. But if they are caused by a storage impairment, then the neural correlates of the memory are likely to be lost, removed, or degraded by the intervention method or as a factor of time. Indeed, the accumulated literature on long-term memory impairment, reconsolidation blockade, and forgetting, suggest that the latter is what occurs. Specifically, all three situations have been observed to involve internalization of a subtype of glutamate receptor, GluA2-subunit containing α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (GluA2-AMPARs), from the postsynaptic membrane. Under mechanisms of Hebbian plasticity, it may be that GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis is a correlate of storage loss of the memory trace, and any method that induces AMPAR endocytosis must be causing a storage impairment. However, this seemingly evident concept has never been shown empirically. Additionally, it is unclear what degree of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis is required to cause an inability to behaviourally express the memory (i.e. a performance loss). Therefore, to investigate this, we explored changes in postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR expression in different types of experimental amnesia and forgetting. This would allow linkage of behavioural and molecular evidence to show how changes in this neural correlate can be classified as an impairment of storage or retrieval of the memory trace, and how these changes may correlate to memory loss and changes to memory strength.

All three chapters in this thesis are based on object location learning, a type of novelty preference task. The representation of object location memories critically requires the dorsal

hippocampus (Assini, Duzzioni, & Takahashi, 2009; Abdelkader Ennaceur, Neave, & Aggleton, 1997), and is a non-Pavlovian learning task. As mentioned above, most studies that involve NMDAR-independent learning use contextual fear conditioning. However, non-Pavlovian, hippocampus-based learning also plays an important role in everyday memory function. The hippocampus in particular has been implicated in not only spatial memory representation, but in episodic memories (Tulving & Markowitsch, 1998). Although episodic memories and spatial memories have shown to be independently coded in the hippocampus (Leutgeb et al., 2005), studying object location learning can increase understanding of how non-associative, hippocampus-dependent memories are lost. More importantly, to study forgetting (Project 3: Chapter 4), we required a memory task that would show a reliably steady degradation of memory strength over time, which makes object location memory an ideal behavioural task to use.

We expected that behavioural results would confirm that these treatments cause a storage impairment of the memory trace. And by correlating behavioural results with molecular data, we aimed to show how GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis is related with these three types of memory loss.

1.3. Spotlight on a specific type of AMPA receptor

To explore how AMPARs contribute to memory loss, it is important to understand their role in synaptic plasticity. Fast excitatory synaptic transmission in the mature mammalian central nervous system is mainly mediated by AMPARs (Traynelis et al., 2010). They are heterotetramers made up of subunits GluA1 to GluA4 (Hollmann & Heinemann, 1994; Wisden & Seeburg, 1993); trafficking and phosphorylation of GluA1 and GluA2 subtypes especially play significant, but different, roles in processes of synaptic plasticity (Huganir & Nicoll, 2013;

Newpher & Ehlers, 2009; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). A full review of these functions are beyond the scope of this thesis, but in short, GluA1-containing AMPARs (GluA1-AMPARs) are inserted into the postsynaptic membrane after LTP stimulation, triggering a cascade of events that leads to eventual replacement of GluA1-AMPARs with GluA2-containing AMPARs (GluA2-AMPARs), which seem to stabilize LTP expression in the synapse. In the section below we summarize the function of AMPARs and especially GluA2-AMPARs in learning and memory. If these roles in the maintenance of increased synaptic strength also applies to maintenance of long-term memory, investigating GluA2-AMPAR removal from the postsynaptic membrane will reveal how these processes are disrupted and eventually lost—leading to memory impairment.

1.3.1. The role of GluA2-AMPARs in synaptic plasticity

In rat hippocampal pyramidal neurons, the majority of AMPAR are arranged into heteromers of GluA1/GluA2, with GluA2/GluA3 heteromers being the second most plentiful type of AMPAR (W. Lu et al., 2009; Wenthold, Petralia, Blahos J, & Niedzielski, 1996). GluA2 subunits have unique properties that differentiate them from other AMPAR subunits. Most noticeably, AMPAR that contain GluA2 are not permeable to calcium. This is due to a posttranscriptional modification of the Q/R editing site located in the ion channel pore region of the AMPAR (Araki, Lin, & Huganir, 2010; Seeburg, Higuchi, & Sprengel, 1998). Here, the usual amino acid glutamine (Q) is replaced with arginine (R), flipping the site from having no charge to having a positive charge, which prevents calcium from entering the ion pore (Burnashev, Villarroel, & Sakmann, 1996). This structural change can regulate trafficking of GluA2-AMPARs into the plasma membrane by allowing binding to proteins that promote GluA2-AMPAR insertion (Araki et al., 2010).
In addition to the changed codon at the Q/R site, AMPAR subunits notably differ at their intracellular cytoplasmic tail, though otherwise have largely similar composition (Malinow & Malenka, 2002). GluA1 and GluA4 subunits have longer tails, and GluA2 and GluA3 subunits have shorter tails (Malinow & Malenka, 2002). Trafficking of AMPARs to membranes is dependent on the interaction of these tails with other intracellular proteins, as well as posttranslational modifications at the cytoplasmic carboxyl-terminus through processes such as phosphorylation and ubiquitination (Huganir & Nicoll, 2013; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007; Anggono & Huganir, 2012). For example, phosphorylation of the amino acid serine 880 in GluA2 subunits by protein kinase C leads to a chain of events that ultimately removes GluA2-AMPARs from the postsynaptic membrane (Chung, Steinberg, Huganir, & Linden, 2003; Matsuda, Launey, Mikawa, & Hirai, 2000; Santos, Carvalho, Caldeira, & Duarte, 2009), which is thought to be a possible mechanism of hippocampal and cerebellar LTD (Chung et al., 2003; C.-H. Kim & Lisman, 2001; Matsuda et al., 2000; Perez et al., 2001).

In terms of function, the long tail of the GluA1 subunit restricts delivery of GluA1-AMPAR to the synapse when there is a lack of activity (Sheng & Lee, 2001). Thus activitydependent insertion of long-tailed AMPARs is hypothesized to contribute to synaptic strengthening during LTP. On the other hand, the short tails of GluA2 subunits mediate constitutive delivery to synapses (Sheng & Lee, 2001), which can occur in the absence of activity (Kessels & Malinow, 2009; Shi, Hayashi, Esteban, & Malinow, 2001). The accumulated evidence suggests that LTP induction triggers insertion of GluA1-AMPARs into the plasma membrane, which are then replaced with GluA2-AMPARs over time (Plant et al., 2006; Sheng & Lee, 2001; Shi et al., 2001). Plant et al. (2006) showed that activity-dependent upregulation of calcium-permeable AMPARs (CP-AMPARs—that is, AMPAR that do not contain GluA2

subunits) into the synaptic surface are gradually exchanged with GluA2-AMPARs within 25 minutes following LTP induction, without resulting in loss of synaptic strength. This activityindependent delivery is one reason why GluA2-AMPARs may provide stabilization of the LTP or LTD signal (Meng, Zhang, & Jia, 2003), despite regular molecular turnover (Kessels & Malinow, 2009). Indeed, this stabilization via exchange of CP-AMPARs with GluA2-AMPARs may be a molecular model of memory consolidation (Kessels & Malinow, 2009). In general, calcium-permeable AMPARs (GluA1-AMPARs) are associated with LTP induction and strengthening of the synaptic signal, whereas GluA2-AMPARs are associated with maintenance of this signal (Man, 2011).

1.3.2. The role of GluA2-AMPARs in long-term memory maintenance

A well-established theory of how synaptic GluA2-AMPARs are trafficked to and maintained in the postsynaptic membrane has emerged over the years. The carboxyl-terminus tail of GluA2-AMPARs can bind to *N*-ethylmaleimide sensitive factor (NSF), a chaperone protein that is heavily involved in trafficking mechanisms and membrane fusion events (Malinow & Malenka, 2002; Sheng & Lee, 2001; Whiteheart, Schraw, & Matveeva, 2001). Studies have shown that disrupting the interaction of GluA2-AMPARs with NSF leads to a rapid decrease of synaptic GluA2-AMPARs (C.-H. Kim & Lisman, 2001; Lüscher et al., 1999; Noel et al., 1999; Shi et al., 2001; I. Song et al., 1998) and therefore weakening of synaptic strength (Nishimune et al., 1998), similar to how LTD is also caused by GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis (Sang Hyoung Lee, Liu, Wang, & Sheng, 2002; Man et al., 2000). This downregulation was not seen in mice with GluA2-AMPARs knocked out (Shi et al., 2001). NSF may accomplish this by impeding interactions between GluA2-AMPARs and the protein PICK1 (protein interacting with C kinase 1), which has been implicated in GluA2-AMPAR removal from the synapse (Hanley, Khatri,

Hanson, & Ziff, 2002), creating an LTD-like decrease in basal synaptic transmission (Sacktor, 2011). By preventing GluA2/PICK1 binding, NSF interactions can maintain GluA2-AMPARs in the postsynaptic membrane (Sacktor, 2011).

Another protein that is crucially involved in the persistence of GluA2-AMPARs at the postsynaptic membrane is atypical protein kinase C isoform M ζ (PKMζ), which is widely hypothesized to be a molecular correlate of long-term memory (Migues et al., 2010; Sacktor, 2011; Serrano et al., 2008). PKMζ has been shown to bind with NSF in order to traffic GluA2-AMPARs to the postsynaptic density (Migues et al., 2010) and is uniquely suited to maintain the NSF-GluA2 complex in the membrane (Sacktor, 2011; Yao et al., 2008). During LTP induction, several substrates act on PKMζ to release the translational block from its regulatory domain. The resulting open catalytic domain of PKMζ becomes constitutively active and autophosphorylates, allowing perpetual synthesis of more PKMζ. This makes PKMζ ideally suited to maintaining changes induced by LTP (Kwapis & Helmstetter, 2014). Together, it is clear that sustaining GluA2-AMPARs in the postsynaptic membrane is necessary for memory maintenance.

1.4. GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis is part of a neural mechanism of many forms of memory loss

If pharmacologically-induced amnesia of a consolidated memory is a result of a storage impairment of the memory as some research has shown (Hardt et al., 2009), then we would expect postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR internalization to be a manifestation of this storage loss. This would hold true when a memory was erased, or was prevented from reconsolidating, or forgotten. In this section, I highlight the role of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis across various forms of memory deficits, and what questions about these processes are yet to be answered.

1.4.1. Endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs disrupts long-term memory

Following the discovery of PKM ζ , it became increasingly possible to study impairment of long-term memory (LTM) through pharmacological interventions with drugs like the pseudosubtrate, zeta inhibitory peptide, that regulates the activity of PKM ζ (ZIP), which acts as a protein kinase C inhibitor. Blocking PKMζ activity with application of ZIP functionally erases LTM, an effect that has been seen across different types of memory and in different species (Kwapis & Helmstetter, 2014). In the hippocampus, the increased amounts of synaptic AMPAR resulting from LTP return to baseline levels after infusions of ZIP (Ling et al., 2002; Pastalkova et al., 2006; Serrano, Yao, & Sacktor, 2005). This strongly suggests that the decay of LTP and loss of LTM are associated with endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs from the postsynaptic density (PSD). Other studies have corroborated this theory by showing that ZIP-mediated deficits of LTP maintenance are prevented if there is a prior application of TAT-GluA2_{3Y}, a synthetic protein that mimics the GluA2 subunit C-terminal tail (Migues et al., 2010). GluA2_{3Y} has been shown to prevent AMPAR endocytosis induced with insulin stimulation and LTD in hippocampal slices (Ahmadian et al., 2004); it is thought to inhibit the endocytic pathway that usually would remove GluA2-AMPARs by blocking binding to BRAG2, a protein that is involved in trafficking GluA2-AMPARs out of the membrane (Sacktor, 2011). At the behavioural level, GluA2_{3Y} can prevent ZIP-induced amnesia of an amygdala-dependent fear conditioning task, as well as a hippocampus-dependent object location task (Migues et al., 2010).

Migues et al. (2010) showed the rescue effects of blocking GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis in vitro and in vivo in the basal lateral amygdala (BLA). Bath application of ZIP to BLA slices was able to reverse an induced LTP signal, but if GluA2_{3Y} was perfused intracellularly, the LTP reversal was prevented. In addition, infusing GluA2_{3Y} into the basolateral amygdala one hour

prior to post-training ZIP infusions can attenuate the behavioural impairment in conditioned fear memory usually induced by ZIP. Western blot quantification of GluA2-AMPARs in subcellular fractions of BLA neurons revealed that the amount of postsynaptic GluA2-AMPARs was linearly correlated with the strength of memory (Migues et al., 2010). This suggested that GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis from the PSD is directly related to a decrease of fear expression (Migues et al., 2010; Hardt et al., 2013). Interestingly, the data points for this correlation also showed a relatively large decrease of GluA2-AMPARs correlated to freezing no longer being expressed. This prompts the question: what proportion of surface GluA2-AMPARs are internalized to lead to erasure of memory expression?

To answer this question, we impaired a dHPC-dependent long-term spatial memory object location memory—with infusions of ZIP, and correlated performance at test with expression of GluA2-AMPARs in the PSD (Project 1: Chapter 2). The object location task has a clear index of measurement to define when the animal shows memory or not. Thus, we expected to see that a memory erased with ZIP infusions will show a lower amount of GluA2-AMPAR expression in the PSD of dHPC CA1 neurons compared to when the memory is intact. However, as stated previously, also of interest is determining the relative percentage of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis that leads to experimental amnesia, and relating this value with how much endocytosis is observed in other forms of amnesia. To this end, we also explored endocytosis of GluA2-AMPAR after reconsolidation blockade of an object location memory.

1.4.2. Post-retrieval AMPAR endocytosis causes long-term memory destabilization

It is now accepted that many types of memories, upon retrieval, destabilize and then need to restabilize over subsequent hours (S.-H. Wang, de Oliveira Alvares, & Nader, 2009; Winters, Tucci, & DaCosta-Furtado, 2009). This restabilization process—known as reconsolidationrequires protein synthesis (Debiec et al., 2002; Inda, Delgado-García, & Carrión., 2005; Nader et al., 2000; see Dudai & Eisenberg, 2004, or Alberini, 2005, for a review) . During a period of time after retrieval, memories are labile and susceptible to manipulation (Nader et al., 2000), whether impairment (for example, Lee, Di Ciano, Thomas, & Everitt, 2005), enhancement (for example, Fukushima et al., 2014), or inserting new information (for example, Jarome, Ferrara, Kwapis, & Helmstette, 2015). Infusions of protein synthesis inhibitors, such as anisomycin, can block reconsolidation and cause amnesia (Nader, 2003; Nader et al., 2000). This suggests that protein synthesis is needed to sufficiently reform the memory, otherwise the entire process is arrested.

Many studies have shown evidence of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis after retrieval of a long-term memory (Bhattacharya et al., 2017; Cazakoff & Howland, 2011; Hong et al., 2013; Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011). This GluA2-AMPAR internalization is likely to be the mechanism of retrieval-induced memory destabilization. Rao-Ruiz and colleagues quantified GluA2-AMPAR expression in synaptic membrane fractions in dHPC CA1 cells to assess post-retrieval mechanisms. They showed that 1 hour after retrieval, GluA2-AMPAR expression levels in the synaptic membrane fraction decreased, but then increased again 7 hours post-retrieval. Notably, within this period, memory expression was not affected, likely due to the replacement of GluA2-AMPARs with GluA1-AMPARs, allowing for consistent synaptic strength. Indeed, this timeframe approximately matched the approximate 6-hour time window purportedly needed for reconsolidation of a fear memory in rats (Nader et al., 2000). Additionally, they showed that blocking retrieval-induced endocytosis with infusions of GluA2_{3Y} 1 hour before retrieval led to an enhancement of fear expression at test, lending support to the theory that GluA2-AMPAR expression in the PSD is linked to LTM. However, they do not explicitly link behavioural results

with molecular data, and thus the amount of GluA2-AMPAR internalized in relation to fear expression destabilization (i.e. reconsolidation blockade) remains unknown.

To examine this, and to directly compare any observed changes of GluA2-AMPAR expression with what was observed with LTM impairment, we used an object location task and probed neurons in the dHPC (Project 2: Chapter 3). We blocked reconsolidation with infusions of sulfasalazine, an inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B transcription factors (NF-κB) (Wahl, Liptay, Adler, & Schmid, 1998), which has previously been shown to selectively impair reconsolidation but not consolidation of contextual fear memory (J. L. C. Lee & Hynds, 2013). Because retrieval leads to a downregulation of GluA2-AMPARs, a memory that is prevented from reconsolidating was expected to show less surface GluA2-AMPAR expression in dHPC CA1 neurons compared to control animals with unimpaired memory. Additionally, we were interested in comparing the percentage of GluA2-AMPARs internalized to the amount internalized due to ZIP-induced LTM blockade. If the performance output for these two situations of experimental amnesia are comparable, and if GluA2-AMPAR expression is linearly correlated to strength of memory expression (i.e. performance), then it is plausible to hypothesize that they both would involve similar amounts of GluA2-AMPAR internalization.

Even if we detect similar changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression through both types of experimental amnesia, these results require context to frame how much GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis is needed for a memory to be functionally lost. For example, does experimental amnesia, either through LTM erasure, reconsolidation blockade, or both, cause GluA2-AMPAR expression levels to return to pre-training levels seen in naïve rats? If not, what is the threshold of GluA2-AMPAR expression levels needed for a memory to no longer be expressible? Or are all changes in postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR levels directly translatable to behavioural output? To

answer these questions, we thought a third experiment was required, where GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis is measured as an object location memory is forgotten.

1.4.3. Endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs contributes to forgetting

There is much support for the role of GluA2-AMPARs in LTP and LTM maintenance, as we have already outlined. However, many types of memories, such as object location memories, do not seem to last forever. Object location memories have been observed to last up to 32 days after a strong training protocol (Hardt et al., 2010). Without any interventions, expression of object location memory gradually weakens as time passes (i.e. is forgotten), likely through an innate decay process involving removal of synaptic GluA2-AMPARs (Migues et al., 2016). As with LTM impairment and reconsolidation blockade, this would correspond to forgetting being caused by a storage loss of the memory. Indeed, a strong line of evidence for the necessary role of GluA2-AMPARs in forgetting was found in experiments where memories are extended for longer than their typical lifespan. Migues et al. (2016) taught rats an object location task over 7 days, then tested their memory 3, 7, 10, 12 or 14 days after training. Without intervention, a gradual loss of the object location memory was observed: the rats that experienced the fewest days of retention time (3 days) had the strongest memory, as indicated by their performance at the test session. Rats that experienced a midrange retention time (7 days) had worse (but still statistically significant) performance in comparison. Performance of rats after 10, 12, and 14 days of retention was not significantly different from rats with no memory. Plotting this behaviour over time displayed a negative exponential slope that eventually reaches a behavioural asymptote, echoing the pattern seen in Ebbinghaus' famous forgetting curve (Murre & Dros, 2015), where a lot of training was forgotten soon after training completed, but as time increased, less and less information was additionally forgotten. Daily infusions of $GluA2_{3Y}$ after training

proved to prevent this forgetting, allowing memory expression to be seen even 14 days after training. The $GluA2_{3Y}$ treatment thus lead the memory to persist longer than it would normally last without intervention (Migues et al., 2016).

The literature therefore strongly supports GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis as a possible mechanism of forgetting. Taken into consideration with previous data showing GluA2-AMPAR expression in the PSD is linearly correlated to memory strength (Migues et al., 2010), it should be possible to observe a gradual decrease in GluA2-AMPAR over time that corresponds to LTM weakening/forgetting. It is unclear whether this endogenous GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis occurs at the same rate as experimental amnesia—in other words, does forgetting involve a similar correlation between decreasing GluA2-AMPAR expression and memory strength as seen with cases of experimental amnesia? This might indicate a rate of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis that is consistent across multiple forms of memory loss.

To determine the rate of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis as a memory is forgotten, we taught separate groups of rats the same object location memory, then tested them after varying days of retention (Project 3: Chapter 4), expecting memory to weaken as retention time increases, as seen in Migues et al., 2016. We also probed for levels of GluA2-AMPAR in the PSD found at each of these time points. If the decrease of memory strength as a function of time is paralleled by decreasing GluA2-AMPARs in the PSD, we would expect to see a positive correlation between test performance and GluA2-AMPAR expression levels. This would further support the relationship between GluA2-AMPAR expression and memory strength. This data may also be able to interpret changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression seen in the previous experiments on LTM impairment and reconsolidation blockade. For example, at what time point does the performance deficit from LTM impairment or reconsolidation blockade match up to the

performance deficit of a forgotten memory? At this point, are GluA2-AMPAR expression levels similar across these three situations? If not, this would reveal if the amount of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosed via experimental amnesia is more or less than when the memory has just been forgotten. Furthermore, if groups show similar behaviour but different levels of GluA2-AMPAR, this would possibly indicate that the degree of correlation between GluA2-AMPARs and memory differs depending on how memory loss is induced (i.e. pharmacologically versus endogenously).

1.4.4. GluA2-AMPAR expression levels may increase due to additional learning

Lastly, we wish to note a potentially interesting area of analysis of GluA2-AMPAR expression while using the second learning paradigm. Current research suggests that NMDARindependent learning occurs only when recently activated hippocampal neurons are recruited for second learning (Tayler et al., 2011). Thus, there exists a degree of overlap in the neurons of a first- and second-learned spatial memory, perhaps due to the similarity of the contexts of the two learning experiences. There indeed have been studies that indicate similar contexts will activate overlapping neuronal populations, while very distinct contexts will instead activate different populations (Vazdarjanova & Guzowski, 2004). Similarly, shared memory traces have been observed when pre-exposure to a context is given close in time to a later training session in that context (Cai et al., 2016). It is unknown how the degree of overlapping neural ensembles translates into GluA2-AMPAR expression change, but the second learning paradigm allows a unique method to investigate this.

Because two different training experiences are given, the protocol produces four experiment groups based on the amnesic treatment given after first learning (ZIP/scrambled-ZIP,

or sulfasalazine/vehicle) and whether an NMDAR-antagonist given prior to second learning (AP5/vehicle): drug-AP5, drug-veh, veh-AP5, and veh-veh. Thus, these combinations might allow comparisons of GluA2-AMPAR expression associated with neuronal representation of two similar memories to when there is a single memory, or indeed, no memory. If the amnesic treatment impairs the storage of the memory, then we can expect less GluA2-AMPAR expression in the drug-AP5 group compared to the veh-veh group, in which animals will retain memories both first and second learning. Additionally, these levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression across conditions can then be compared to when the same object location memory is forgotten naturally (Project 3: Chapter 4). This can provide new insights to how the amount of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosed from the PSD of dHPC neurons is correlated to not only how memory is lost, but how many memories are lost.

1.5. Summary: GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis as a biological correlate of experimental amnesia and active decay

In conclusion, amnesia can be caused by a storage or retrieval impairment of the memory trace. Maintenance of GluA2-AMPARs in the PSD, through interactions with molecules like PKMζ, has been shown to provide stability to LTP and LTM, whereas internalization of GluA2-AMPARs from the synaptic surface has been correlated destabilization of these processes, leading to forgetting. Some studies have suggested that there is a positive relationship between GluA2-AMPAR expression and LTM strength (Migues et al., 2010), thus, a decrease of GluA2-AMPARs from the synapse must correlate to weakening and eventual loss of the memory. However, it remains unknown what percentage of internalized GluA2-AMPARs are necessary to lead a quantifiable behavioural deficit. Additionally, molecular data about GluA2-AMPAR

endocytosis and behavioural data showing the nature of amnesia have not been properly reconciled.

The research described in this thesis therefore aimed to find the relative percentage of surface GluA2-AMPAR endocytosed when a memory was lost through various means. We taught object location memory to rats and induced LTM erasure with infusions of ZIP (Chapter 2) or blocked reconsolidation with infusions of sulfasalazine (Chapter 3), or allowed forgetting to naturally occur (Chapter 4), then evaluated GluA2-AMPAR expression in the dHPC CA1 with western blot assays in each of these cases. We aimed to use the second learning paradigm to verify that amnesia involving GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis can be thought of as causing a storage impairment of the memory trace, and compare these changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression with the rate seen as a memory is forgotten. If similarities exist in the correlation of GluA2-AMPAR levels and memory expression across all three projects, this would perhaps provide evidence of a generalized pattern of how much GluA2-AMPAR internalization can be expected when memory is lost, regardless of the cause. This would increase our understanding of how GluA2-AMPAR expression levels change across different situations of memory deficits, with possible application to pathological memory impairment (e.g. Alzheimer's disease). Thus, on the whole, we aimed to build a holistic profile of GluA2-AMPARs' role in memory loss using both molecular and behavioural data.

In the next three chapters, we outline the results from our experiments. We indeed show that blocking LTM or reconsolidation impairs the storage of an object location memory trace (Chapters 2 and 3, respectively), and that an object location memory is gradually forgotten over time (Chapter 4). However, how GluA2-AMPAR expression levels change with these

impairments is less clear, making it difficult to make comparisons across the three projects. The possible reasons for these conflicting results are extensively discussed in Chapter 5.

Chapter 2 — Erasure of a consolidated memory

CHAPTER TWO

ZIP erasure of an object location memory leads to NMDAR-dependency of later object location learning

J Jane Zhang, Sophia Papp, Karim Nader

2.1. Preface

To study experimental amnesia of a consolidated memory, the first project for this dissertation examined the effects of PKM ζ , a kinase that in the recent decades has been shown to be necessary for LTM maintenance (Sacktor, 2011). PKM ζ can be inhibited with infusions of zeta-inhibitory peptide (ZIP). PKM ζ has been shown to maintain GluA2-containing α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (GluA2-AMPAR) at the postsynaptic membrane, which allows persistence of the memory (Migues et al., 2010; Sacktor, 2011; Serrano et al., 2008). Thus, blocking PKM ζ is hypothesized to result in GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis from the postsynaptic membrane. Thus, we hypothesized that ZIP infusions would impair storage of a memory. We had two main research questions: 1) Does ZIP-induced amnesia cause a storage or retrieval impairment of the memory? 2) If there is indeed a storage loss of the memory, would it correlate with endocytosis of GluA2-AMPAR, and if so, by how much?

To answer the first question, we employed a second learning protocol where we taught rats two different experiences of an object location task, first demonstrated by Hardt et al., 2009. We impaired the first-learned memory with bilateral infusions of ZIP into the dorsal hippocampus (dHPC), then evaluated the dependence of acquisition in a second learning experience on *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs). Second learning of certain hippocampus-dependent spatial tasks has been shown to not require NMDAR activation (e.g. Bannerman et al., 1995; Hardt et al., 2009; Tayler et al., 2011; Wiltgen et al., 2011), thus if ZIP infusions erase storage of a first-learned LTM, then any subsequent learning would require NMDAR activation as if it was being learned naïvely. Indeed, this is what we observed. These data also provide evidence that the object location task can produce NMDAR-independent learning.

To see how postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR expression correlated with this putative storage loss of the first learned memory, we performed western blot assays on subcellular fractions of the postsynaptic density (PSD) of CA1 area neurons in the dHPC, the brain region where object location memory is thought to be represented (Assini et al., 2009). If GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis correlates with storage impairment, then rats infused bilaterally with ZIP in the dorsal hippocampus (dHPC) would have lower levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression compared to other treatment groups. If second learning is not successfully acquired after this impairment, these levels should remain low in comparison to groups that did acquire the additional learning.

However, GluA2-AMPAR expression in the PSD did not correlate with the memory loss seen in behavioural results as we had hypothesized. Interestingly, we observed a negative linear correlation between memory expression at second learning test and relative GluA2-AMPAR expression, such that increased GluA2-AMPARs were seen with lower preference for the novel object location. Furthermore, this pattern was only seen in ZIP-infused rats. Thus, the molecular data, while not able to confirm that GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis correlated with ZIP-induced storage impairment of a memory, did show an intriguing nuance of the role GluA2-AMPAR plays in storage impairment. These data suggest that the relationship between GluA2-AMPAR internalization from the postsynaptic membrane and memory loss is more complex than initially hypothesized.

2.2. Abstract

Blocking PKM ζ , a kinase critical for maintaining long-term memory, with infusions of the peptide ZIP has been shown to impair long-term memory. Behavioural studies historically have had difficulty in differentiating if such experimentally-induced amnesia is caused by a storage impairment (the memory is no longer available due to loss of neural correlates) or a retrieval impairment (the memory is available, but not accessible). To test this, we employed a protocol that takes advantage of the indifference of object location learning to N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) activation after prior experience with the task. We showed that a ZIPinduced impairment of a memory leads a subsequently learned task to require NMDARs for acquisition, thus suggesting that the initial memory trace experienced damage to its storage. Western blot analysis revealed that this storage loss of the memory trace did not produce a correlated decrease of postsynaptic GluA2-containing α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (GluA2-AMPARs). Rather, ZIP-infused animals were observed to have less surface GluA2-AMPAR expression after they showed strong memory at test. This indicates a more nuanced relationship between GluA2-AMPARs and memory loss than has previously been reported.

2.3. Introduction

Mechanisms of memory maintenance are beginning to be understood. In contrast, there is less knowledge on how memories are lost. Disrupting the mechanisms and molecular substrates that are implicated in long-term memory (LTM) storage can result in forgetting, but the rates at which these substrates change in relation to memory loss, and if these patterns of change are similar across different situations of forgetting are unknown. There are many types of forgetting (Davis & Zhong, 2017), and although functionally, the end result is the same, the causes of forgetting might vary. One way to characterize how molecules necessary for memory maintenance are affected by different conditions of memory loss is to examine cases of experimental amnesia.

α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs) are glutamate receptors that are thought to mediate fast synaptic transmission in the neuron. They have been shown to have an integral role in learning and memory mechanisms and long-term potentiation (LTP). In particular, GluA2-containing AMPARs (GluA2-AMPARs) seem to be a key player in memory maintenance. Compared to the other AMPAR subunits (GluA1-GluA4), GluA2-AMPARs are calcium-impermeable, and display unique properties compared to calciumpermeable AMPARs (CP-AMPARs) (Hollmann, Hartley, & Heinemann, 1991; Malinow & Malenka, 2002). Unlike activity-dependent GluA1-containing AMPARs insertion into the postsynaptic density, GluA2/GluA3 AMPARs can be inserted independent of activity (Y. Hayashi et al., 2000; Isaac, Ashby, & McBain, 2007; Shi et al., 2001), and loss of GluA2-AMPARs from the synaptic fraction leads to destabilization of a memory (Hong et al., 2013). Indeed, many studies have shown that endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs from the synaptic surface underlies LTP disruption (Dong et al., 2015) and induction of long-term depression (LTD) (C.-H. Kim & Lisman, 2001; Luthi et al., 1999; Steinberg, Huganir, & Linden, 2004).

Studies have shown that the chaperone protein *N*-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor (NSF) binds with and traffics GluA2-AMPARs to the postsynaptic membrane (Nishimune et al., 1998; Noel et al., 1999; I. Song et al., 1998). Disruption of the GluA2-NSF complex allows endocytosis of surface GluA2-AMPARs, which results in LTP decay (Dong et al., 2015) or longterm depression (Luthi et al., 1999; Steinberg et al., 2004). Blocking this disruption with infusions of synthetic peptide $GluA2_{3Y}$ can rescue LTP decay in the amygdala and hippocampus (Dong et al., 2015; Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011; Sacktor et al., 2011). Blocking GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis can also extend the lifetime of an object location memory (Migues et al., 2016). Because of this putative role in memory maintenance and memory loss, it follows that there might exist a quantitative relationship between amount of GluA2-AMPAR expression in the postsynaptic density (PSD) and memory, such that upregulation of GluA2-AMPARs are correlated with a retained memory and downregulation of GluA2-AMPARs are correlated with a lost memory. However, it is unclear how levels of GluA2-AMPARs change when a memory is lost. Therefore, we aim to characterize levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression associated with the loss of an object location memory trace.

One method to experimentally produce LTM erasure is to block PKMζ, a constitutivelyactive protein kinase that is thought to uniquely mediate LTM maintenance (Migues et al., 2010; Serrano et al., 2008; Shema, Sacktor, & Dudai, 2007). PKMζ interacts with the GluA2-NSF complex to maintain high levels of GluA2-AMPARs in the postsynaptic membrane inserted after LTP induction (Sacktor, 2011). Inhibiting activity of PKMζ with application of zeta-inhibitory peptide (ZIP) has been shown to block LTM across multiple different paradigms and species

(Kwapis & Helmstetter, 2014). Thus, we can induce amnesia through infusions of ZIP and compare how GluA2-AMPAR expression in the PSD of neurons recruited in the memory changes in comparison to GluA2-AMPAR levels of a retained memory.

Observation of postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis also allows us to address a theoretical question about the nature of amnesia. One model to conceptualize memory loss attributes amnesia to either of two general mechanisms: a storage impairment, where a memory trace is rendered unavailable, or a retrieval impairment, when a memory is inaccessible (Nader & Hardt, 2009). Historically it has been difficult to deduce the source of amnesia through only behavioural testing (Gold & King, 1974). With the onset of increasingly advanced quantification and imaging techniques, it is possible to measure changes in neural correlates of a memory trace in order to deduce its cause. However, behavioural and molecular data have not yet been reconciled to show the cause of experimental amnesia, and it remains unclear how GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis fits within that framework.

We are able to behaviourally differentiate experimental amnesia caused by storage or retrieval impairment by taking advantage of the fact that experience with a specific task changes how the brain forms new memories of similar experiences. Bannerman et al. (1995) showed that *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) were required when rats acquired a spatial memory in the Morris water maze task, but not when rats were taught another spatial memory task in a different water maze. Acquisition of this second-learned memory was not affected by NMDAR-blockade, suggesting that unlike naïve learning, second learning acquisition mechanisms were NMDAR-independent. NMDAR-independent learning has also been shown for contextual fear learning (Crestani et al., 2018; Hardt et al., 2011; Tayler et al., 2011; Wiltgen et al., 2011). This opposing reliance on NMDARs allows inference of the nature of amnesia of a first-learned

memory by evaluating if acquisition of the second-learned memory is affected by NMDARimpairment. If the storage of the first learning memory is impaired, a subsequently-learned memory will be acquired as if it is the first time the animal encountered such training, and thus rely on NMDAR activation. Alternatively, if retrieval of the first learning memory is impaired but storage of the memory trace is largely unaltered, subsequent learning should not be treated as naïve learning, and thus not require NMDAR-mediated acquisition. This paradigm therefore allows formation of a positive prediction about the nature of the amnesic intervention given to the first learning memory.

Additionally, the second learning (L2) protocol allows investigating multiple situations of memory loss within the same experiment. By having first learning (L1) memory retained or erased, then having the animal learn second learning or not, four situations will result in which GluA2-AMPAR expression can be measured: L1-L2, no L1-L2, L1-no L2, and no L1-no L2. This allows, for example, comparison of GluA2-AMPAR expression after erasure of first learning but impaired second learning, with erasure of first learning and successful second learning. In sum, changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression in the PSD will be corroborated with behavioural results to allow us to identify how ZIP-induced amnesia affects the memory on a molecular level.

Our behavioral results showed that ZIP-induced impairment of a first learning memory renders the second learning NMDAR-dependent, strongly suggesting that ZIP causes amnesia through storage impairment. Correlating molecular results with behaviour, however, was inconclusive, as we found different interpretations might apply to the data.

2.4. Methods

2.4.1. Animal subjects

Male Long Evans rats (received at the weight of 275g-325g; Charles River) were housed in pairs in rectangular polyethylene cages with a PVC tube for environmental enrichment. Rats had *ad libitum* access to food and water. Lights in the colony were turned on at 7 a.m. and turned off at 7 p.m. daily. Behavioural studies were always performed between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m. All procedures were approved by the McGill University Animal Care and Use Committee, and complied with the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines.

2.4.2. Surgeries

Rats were anaesthetized with a solution of Ketamine (50 mg/ml), Xylazine (3 mg/ml), and Dexdomitor (0.175 mg/mL), injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) at a volume of 1 ml/kg. Bilateral cannulations in the dorsal hippocampus were then performed with coordinates based on the rat atlas (Paxinos and Watson). 22-gauge steel cannula were implanted using a Kopf stereotaxic frame (coordinates from bregma: A/P -3.6 mm, M/L +/- 3.1 mm, D/V -2.4 mm, 10° away from midline). Dental cement was adhered to the skull to stabilize the cannula. After surgeries, rats were administered an analgesic (Carprofen 5 mg/ml, subcutaneous at 1 ml/kg) and then anesthesia was reversed with Antisedan (0.5 mg/ml, i.p. at 0.66ml/kg). A week of recovery time was given, with regular handling throughout, before the experiment began.

2.4.3. Apparatus

Two open field contexts were set up in separate rooms.

Open Field A was set up in a windowless room (context room A; area 15.85 m², 3.98 m \times 3.98 m \times 2.65 m) with dim lighting. The floor level of the open field was illuminated with, on average, 13 lux. The open field was a circular area made with clear Plexiglas walls, with a total

area of 3600 cm². The height of the walls measured 60 cm. A strip of black paper covered the lower 15 cm of each Plexiglas panel in order to minimize distraction of rats peering through the Plexiglas. One Plexiglas panel was labeled with a black and white striped pattern to act as a disambiguating cue. Three objects were set up at northwest (NW), north (N), and northeast (NE) locations, with north arbitrarily assigned to the corner of the room opposite to the door. NE and NW objects were identical, N objects were of the same height and texture but different colour and shape. Object combinations were counterbalanced between rats. Bedding was made up of a 1:1 dried corn and woodchips mix. Flooring was made of a wooden pegboard into which objects could be screwed in and out and fastened securely. A camera hung 50 cm above the context. Behavioural testing occurred with the door closed, and the experimenter outside of the room.

Open Field B was set up to be in a distinctly different context compared to Open Field A to facilitate second learning as a separate experience. It was placed in a cubicle-sized, windowless room (context room B; 2.13 m^2 , $2.13 \text{ m} \times 1 \text{ m} \times 2.65 \text{ m}$), lit brightly. The floor level of the open field was illuminated with, on average, 201 lux. The open field was a square area made with thin plywood walls, with a total area of 3600 cm^2 ($60 \text{ cm} \times 60 \text{ cm} \times 60 \text{ cm}$). The bedding was made of woodchips. A black and white striped disambiguating cue was taped at the top of one of the walls. Two identical objects were located at N and S locations within the open field, and were of similar height but different size and shape to the objects from Open Field A. Objects were counterbalanced across rats, such that all object combinations across both open fields were experienced by comparable numbers of rats. A camera hung 80 cm above the context. Behavioural testing occurred with room curtains pulled closed and the experimenter outside of the room.

2.4.4. Drug Infusions

PKMζ inhibitor ZIP and inactive, scrambled ZIP (Eurogentec) were each mixed with TRIS-buffered saline (pH 7.0) at 10 nmol/µl and infused bilaterally into the dHPC (1.0 µl/hemisphere at 0.25 µl/min) with a microinfusion pump. The NMDAR-antagonist D-AP5 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) was mixed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) at 5µg/µl and infused bilaterally into the dHPC (1.0 µl/hemisphere at 0.25 µl/min). Injector tips remained in the cannula for 60 seconds after infusions completed in order to ensure complete diffusion of the drug. Placements were checked at the time of tissue sample collection for western blots.

2.4.5. Behavioural procedure

2.4.5.1. First learning

Rats were brought to the context room (context B in experiment 1; A in all other experiments) and left to rest for 20 minutes before training. As habituation could be construed as a learning experience, no habituation sessions were given; rats proceeded directly to first learning (L1). L1 training sessions consisted of daily 10-minute free exploration trials across seven days in Open Field A or twice daily for 2 days in Open Field B. Rats were lowered into the open field at a different corner (Open Field B) or quadrant (Open Field A) of the open field each day (SE, SW, NW, NE), with their noses pointed away from the centre of the field to allow the rat to self-orient towards the objects.

After each training session, rats were removed from the open field and returned to their home cage. They were allowed to rest for 20 minutes following the conclusion of training of all rats before being returned to the colony. To ensure that rats experienced equal amounts of rest time across experimental days, the order of training was alternated daily (i.e. rats were trained in backwards order every other day). Rats received either bilateral AP5 or vehicle infusions prior to

each training session (Experiment 1), no infusions prior to training (Experiment 2 and 3), or ZIP or scrambled ZIP infusions 24 hours after completion of all training sessions (Experiment 4).

Following the conclusion of first learning training (Experiments 1, 2, 3) or following ZIP/Scr-ZIP infusions (Experiment 4), rats either proceeded with a first learning test 48 hours later (Experiment 1) or 2, 5, or 7 days (Experiment 2) later, or received a second learning protocol (L2) 48 hours (Experiment 3) or 24 hours (Experiment 4) later.

For a test session performed in Open Field A, the middle object in the open field was moved across the floor. The other two objects remained in the same position. Rats were placed in the centre of the open field, facing away from all three objects and allowed to explore for 3 minutes.

For at a test session in Open Field B, one of the objects was moved to a corner of the open field. The other object remained in the same position. Rats were placed in a corner of the open field that was equidistant from both objects, facing the walls and allowed to explore for 3 minutes.

2.4.5.2. Second learning

Second learning training (L2) occurred in experiments 3 and 4 only. Rats were brought to context room B and left to rest for 20 minutes before training. Same as above, rats were lowered into the open field at a different quadrant of the open field each day (SE, SW, NW, NE), with their noses pointed away from the centre of the field to allow the rat to self-orient towards the objects.

L2 consisted of 10-min exploration sessions in Open Field B twice daily for 2 days. Bilateral infusions of AP5 or vehicle were administered immediately prior to each training session. After training, rats were returned to their home cage. Twenty minutes after completion

of training of all rats, rats were brought back to the colony room. Four infusions and training sessions in total occurred across two days, with each morning and afternoon session separated by a minimum of 4 hours during which rats rested in the colony.

Forty-eight hours after the final session, rats were tested for second learning memory in Open Field B, where one of the objects was moved to a corner of the open field. The other object remained in the same position. Rats were placed in a corner of the open field that was equidistant from both objects, facing the walls and allowed to explore for 3 minutes, after which rats were returned to their home cage. After all rats were tested, rats were returned to the colony room.

2.4.6. Sacrifice

Twenty-four hours after testing, rats were sacrificed for western blot analysis. Rats were anaesthetized with isoflurane then decapitated. Brains were removed and flash frozen over dry ice, then preserved in a -80°C freezer.

2.4.7. Behavioural scoring

Behavioral videos were scored manually. Exploratory behaviour was diagnosed when the rat showed directed interest in the object, e.g. smelling from at most 3 cm away from the object, touching, climbing into the object. Rats climbing on top of the object was considered exploratory activity, but while there, usage of the object as a platform to explore the walls of the context was not included in measuring object exploration. Scoring began immediately prior to the first instance of directed interest towards the object, and continued for 30 seconds.

Novel object location preference (novelty ratio) for first learning (in Open Field A) was calculated with the following formula:

 $\frac{\text{time exploring new location})}{\text{time exploring new location} + (\frac{\text{time spent exploring old location 1 + old location 2}}{2})}$

Novelty ratio for second learning (in Open Field B) was calculated with the following formula:

time exploring new location total time exploring

Open Field B had two objects, therefore time spent exploring each object location had an equal weight of 50% of the total time exploring (equation denominator). However, because Open Field A had 3 objects, the time spent with the object at the new location would be underweighted against the other two objects (33% versus 66%). To account for this, the total time spent exploring the two objects at familiar locations was averaged, thus exploration of the two familiar locations was treated as exploration of one object. In this way, time spent at the new location and the familiar locations would be weighed equally, allowing use of the same ratio scale in equations involving both two or three open field objects.

For both novelty ratio calculations, a value of 0.5 indicates equal preference for both objects or no preference for either object, while a value significantly higher than 0.5 indicates a significant preference for the new object location. Because rats prefer novelty over familiarity (Berlyne & Slater, 1957; A. Ennaceur & Delacour, 1988), this behavior suggests that they took notable interest in the new object location, suggesting that they retained the memory of the previous object locations. Therefore, a high novelty ratio implies a strong memory, and a no preference ratio of 0.5 implies weak or impaired memory. A low novelty ratio indicates preference for the old object location, and thus insufficient performance for the trained memory. To determine significant preference for the object at the new location in Experiments 1 to 3, t-tests were run comparing group novelty ratio means to an estimated mean of 0.5. For Experiment 4, a one-way ANOVA was used to probe for group differences across four treatment groups.

Furthermore, western blot data of Experiment 4 was analyzed with behavioural data using a oneway ANOVA and Pearson's correlation. Analyses were completed with SPSS and JMP software. *2.4.8. Biochemistry*

2.4.8.1. Subcellular fractionation for postsynaptic density

The dorsal hippocampus CA1 region was dissected from frozen brains with a 1 mm neuro punch (Fine Science Tools), and homogenized in cold Tris-HCl buffer (30 mM, pH 7.4) containing 4 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA and a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Complete, Roche). The hippocampus homogenates were then centrifuged at 4°C at 500 g for 10 min to remove nuclei and other debris. The supernatants were removed and centrifuged at 100,000 g at 4°C for 60 min. Resulting pellets were resuspended in a solution of the homogenization buffer and 0.5% Triton X-100 and incubated on ice for 20 min, then layered over 1 M sucrose. This was centrifuged again at 100,000 g for 60 min, allowing detergent-soluble membrane components and extra-synaptic receptors to remain in the Triton-soluble fraction. The remaining Tritoninsoluble materials were pulled down into the sucrose layer, where proteins of the postsynaptic densities also lay. This final pellet was resuspended in homogenization buffer and stored at -80°C. Total protein concentration was determined with the BCA protein assay kit (Pierce).

2.4.8.2. Western blots

Western blots were performed using 8% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes overnight. Membranes were washed with 2% BSA in TBS-Tween for 1 hour at room temperature, then incubated with polyclonal antibodies to GluA2 (1 mg/ml, Millipore; dilution 1/2000) and monoclonal β-actin (2 mg/ml, Sigma; 1/10,000) for 20 hours at 4°C. Membranes were washed with TBS-Tween and incubated in rabbit horseradish antibody (GluA2, NR2B; GE Healthcare UK; 1/10,000) or mouse horseradish

antibody (actin; GE Healthcare UK; 1/10,000) at room temperature for 1 hour. Detection of bands was completed with Pierce ECL2 western blotting substrate (ThermoScientific). Membrane blots were scanned with a Storm Laser Scanner (Molecular Dynamics) and analyzed with ImageQuant software (ABI).

2.5. Results

2.5.1. Experiment 1: First learning of an object location task requires NMDARs for acquisition

To confirm the requirement of NMDARs in acquisition of a novel object location memory, rats were infused with either AP5, an NMDAR antagonist, or its vehicle, phosphate buffered saline (Veh), in the dHPC immediately prior to 4 training sessions in Open Field B across 2 days. To ensure that the rats would be naïve during the spatial task and thus experience a first learning of spatial locations, they were not habituated before training (Figure 1A).

Mean group novelty ratio scores were compared against a hypothesized mean of 0.5 (no preference) to determine preference for the new object location, which indicated the strength of memory expression. Because mean novelty ratios often varied from between 0.5 to 1.0, significant group differences groups may not be detected despite groups differing on their relation to the 0.5 ratio, therefore differences between groups were irrelevant for our analyses of whether memory was expressed or not. At the probe test, AP5-infused rats expressed no novelty preference for either object (NR=0.52 \pm 0.12, *t*<1; data presented as mean novelty ratio \pm s.e.m.), while Veh-infused rats showed significantly more preference to the novel object location (mean NR =0.76 \pm 0.09, *t*₍₈₎=2.77, *P*=0.024) (Figure 1B). We conclude that learning of an object location task is sensitive to AP5-impairment, and thus is dependent on NMDAR activation.

2.5.2. Experiment 2: First learning object location memory lasts longer than a week

Before proceeding with a second learning protocol, we wanted to verify that the first learning memory would be retained throughout the duration of an added second learning protocol. Therefore, we tested for novelty preference of learning in Open Field A after varying retention times in different groups of rats (Figure 2A). Separate groups of rats were trained with first learning, and then tested in Open Field A 2, 5, or 7 days following the final training session. The memory was found to persist even 7 days post-training (Figure 2B). This suggests that under regular conditions, second learning in Open Field B in our protocol within a week from the first learning will indeed be acquired on the background of an available and accessible memory for the first-learning of object locations in Open Field A.

2.5.3. Experiment 3: Second learning of an object location task does not require NMDARs for acquisition

To confirm that acquisition of a second learning memory does not require NMDAR activation, rats were given 7 daily sessions of 10-min training in Open Field A, followed the next day with 2 days of training with AP5 or Veh infusions in Open Field B as in Experiment 2. After completion of second learning training in Open Field B, rats were given 2 days of rest before the 3-min probe test in Open Field B (Figure 3A).

At test, both groups showed significant preference for the new object location in open field 2 (Veh-infused rats: NR=0.75 \pm 0.10, $t_{(5)}$ =2.61, P=0.047; AP5-infused rats: NR=0.77 \pm 0.09, $t_{(5)}$ =3.22, P=0.023), showing that AP5 affected performance at second learning test. We conclude that NMDAR activation is not needed for acquisition of second learning of object location memory (Figure 3B).

2.5.4. Experiment 4: ZIP impairment of first learning memory renders second learning NMDARdependent

To test for the nature of amnesia induced by disruption of the first learning, rats were infused with the PKMζ inhibitor ZIP or the inactive form, scrambled ZIP (Scr), 24 hours after first training in Open Field A. One day later, rats were given a second learning protocol as in Experiment 3, with AP5 or Veh infusions preceding four object location training sessions. 48 hours after second learning training, rats were returned to Open Field B to test their second learning memory (Figure 4A). This created a total of four experimental groups, ZIP-AP5, ZIP-Veh, Scr-AP5, and Scr-Veh, of which the ZIP-AP5 group was predicted to have impaired performance at second learning test (Table 1).

Table 1. Behavioural hypotheses of the four experimental groups based on ZIP or scrambled ZIP

 (Scr) infusions following first learning training, and AP5 or vehicle (Veh) infusions prior to second learning training.

		Infusions after first learning	
		ZIP	Scr
	AP5	Impaired first learning	Non-impaired first learning
		memory; second learning	memory; second learning
Infusions prior to		acquisition is AP5-sensitive.	acquisition is AP5-
		Second learning test	insensitive. Second learning
second learning		performance is poor.	test performance is good.
	Veh	Impaired first learning	Non-impaired first learning
		memory; second learning	memory; second learning
		acquisition is unaffected by	acquisition is unaffected by
		Veh. Second learning test	Veh. Second learning test
		performance is good.	performance is good.

As predicted, rats from the ZIP-AP5 group showed no preference for the object at the new location at second learning test (NR=.51 \pm .06, *t*<1), indicating they had no second learning memory (Figure 4B). All other groups did show significant novel location preference (ZIP-Veh NR=.85 \pm .14, *t*₍₃₎=2.41, *P*=.048; Scr-Veh NR=.69 \pm .09, *t*₍₅₎=2.09, *P*=.046; Scr-AP5 NR=.72 \pm .09, *t*₍₆₎=2.33, *P*=.029), indicating rats had acquired and retained the second learning memory. A one-way ANOVA showed no significant difference between group means; however, as stated above, the comparison of interest is the difference from 0.5 ratio, and significant group differences in novelty ratio are not required to determine whether the memory exists or not within separate treatment groups. There was no significant difference in time spent exploring across all four groups, suggesting no treatment effects on motility or motivation to explore.

These results suggest that both Scr-AP5 and Scr-Veh rats had unimpaired first learning and therefore NMDAR-independent second learning, indicated by significant preference for the new object location at the second learning probe test (high novelty ratio). ZIP-Veh animals also showed unimpaired second learning memory through significant object location preference at the second learning probe test. However, ZIP-AP5 rats displayed no object location preference at test. This indicates that ZIP treatment impaired storage of the first learning memory trace in a way that rendered second learning acquisition NMDAR-dependent. Thus, ZIP-AP5 rats acquired the second learning experience as if it was a naïve learning experience.

2.5.5. GluA2-AMPAR expression level is negatively correlated with novelty ratio score following ZIP-induced impairment

Because ZIP-AP5 animals had, on average, weaker memory of the second learning experience than other groups, this might also have been reflected in a lower level of GluA2-AMPAR expression compared to the other groups. To verify this, we probed for GluA2-AMPAR

expression in PSD fractions of dHPC CA1 neurons in rats from Experiment 4 (Figure 5A). We isolated the PSD of neurons in the CA1 hippocampus 24 hours after second learning test and probed for levels of GluA2-AMPARs, standardized to β -actin as loading control. As there was no hypothesized mean from which to compare group means, group means were compared to each other. Levene's test for the homogeneity of variance was significant ($F_{(3,20)}=3.21$, P=.450), therefore we used a non-parametric test to determine differences between groups. A Kruskal-Wallis test found no significant difference in β -actin expression levels across the 4 experimental groups ($\chi^2_{(3)}=5.25$, P=.154). When average GluA2-AMPAR levels of each group was set relative to the Scr-Veh group, we also found no significant difference in GluA2-AMPAR levels across groups ($\chi^2_{(3)}=4.87$, P=.182; Figure 5B).

Due to variation of behaviour within groups, we thought it was possible to see a correlation of GluA2-AMPAR expression in relation to performance (novelty ratio score) at an individual level. Therefore, we correlated the novelty ratio score and relative GluA2-AMPAR expression of all samples (Figure 6). If GluA2-AMPAR expression is associated with memory expression at test, we would anticipate low levels of GluA2-AMPARs to be correlated to low performance at test (i.e. novelty ratio score close to 0.5), and high levels of GluA2-AMPARs to strong memory performance. Contrary to our hypothesis, we found a significant *negative* correlation of GluA2-AMPAR expression to novelty ratio score ($r_{(22)}$ =-.62 ± .06, P=.001), indicating that the less GluA2-AMPARs were found in the PSD, the higher the novelty ratio score of the animal. We did not see any significant correlation between GluA2-AMPAR expression and amount of time spent exploring ($r_{(22)}$ =-.19 ± 1.33, P=.384).

To further understand this correlation, we separated these results by group. In Scr-AP5 and Scr-Veh rats, the correlation between GluA2-AMPAR expression and novelty ratio was nonsignificant. However, it was significant for ZIP-AP5 ($r_{(4)}$ =-.90 ± .04, P=.016) and ZIP-Veh rats ($r_{(2)}$ =-.97 ± .04, P=.026) (Figure 7). The data suggested that ZIP infusions after first learning memory led to a negative correlation of GluA2-AMPARs and memory expression at second learning test, which contradicted our original hypothesis.

Overall, the data showed that infusing ZIP into the dHPC after animals had acquired object location memory causes a memory storage impairment, leading to second learning being NMDAR-dependent. Furthermore, a correlation between memory expression during second learning test and GluA2-AMPAR expression in the CA1 dHPC was seen in ZIP-infused animals.

2.6. Discussion

Much progress has been made to understand how memories are retained, especially since the discovery that the protein kinase PKMζ seems to be uniquely critical for maintaining LTP and long-term memories (Sacktor, 2011). A PKMζ-mediated mechanism is hypothesized to retain GluA2-containing AMPARs (GluA2-AMPARs) at the post-synaptic density (PSD) of neurons recruited during memory formation (Migues et al., 2010; Migues et al., 2014; Migues et al., 2016). Removal of GluA2-AMPARs has been associated with the decay of long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term memory (LTM) (Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011, Dong et al., 2013). Here, we aimed to quantify the percentage of GluA2-AMPARs expression in the PSD of CA1 neurons is associated with maintenance of an object location memory, compared to how much is internalized when the memory is erased.

Utilizing a second learning paradigm, we showed behavioural evidence that ZIP-induced erasure of a first learning object location memory renders subsequent learning of the location of different objects in a different context dependent on NMDARs. This supports the view that ZIP impairs the storage of memory representations related to the first learning of object locations. Indeed, recent work shows that retrieving a conditioned taste aversion memory after ZIP infusions interrupts the amnesic effects of ZIP, but effects can once again be induced after the memory has reconsolidated, suggesting that maintenance processes involving ZIP are mutually exclusive from retrieval processes (Levitan et al., 2016). This supports the effects of ZIP in impairing memory maintenance only. Our behavioural data is in line with existing literature on the effects of ZIP impairment, which have extensively shown that ZIP disrupts LTM in the hippocampus (see Sacktor and Fenton, 2011, for a list). The other experimental groups did not show AP5-sensitivity at second learning test (Figure 4B), indicated by their preference for the object in a new location within the open field. These results add to the growing literature of NMDAR-independent learning (Bannerman et al., 1995; Crestani et al., 2018; Hardt et al., 2011; Tayler et al., 2011; Wiltgen et al., 2011). The process of initial learning experience affecting future learning may be an example of metaplasticity, which is the plasticity of synaptic plasticity (Abraham and Bear, 1996). NMDAR-independent object location learning is one example of affecting future synaptic plasticity through behavioural methods (see Parsons, 2017, for a brief review). Metaplasticity may provide a means to interpret the observed molecular data, as contrary to expectations, our findings suggested that the memory impairment induced by ZIP did not correlate with a decrease of postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR expression.

We originally hypothesized that the biochemical analyses would complement the behavioural results. Therefore, the relative expression of postsynaptic GluA2-AMPARs quantified from the ZIP-AP5 group would be less than levels found in the groups ZIP-Veh, Scr-AP5, and Scr-Veh. We anticipated that the Scr-Veh group, which experienced no impairment for either first or second learning memory, would show the highest relative GluA2-AMPAR

expression, and the levels seen in Scr-AP5 and Scr-Veh groups would lie in between these two points. However, our electrophoretic analysis found no such differences between groups, preventing us from drawing conclusions about the relationship of GluA2-AMPAR expression and memory performance during the test probing for memory of the second learning.

The lack of group differences in average GluA2-AMPAR expression levels may reflect lack of differences in memory expression at test (i.e. novelty ratio), or that the GluA2-AMPAR signalling in the dHPC was too small to be adequately detected with western blots. However, even if no significant group differences were found, we hypothesized that the GluA2-AMPAR expression of the ZIP-AP5 group would be clearly lower than those of the other three treatment groups. Instead, the Scr-AP5 showed the lowest expression of the four groups, suggesting that the relationship between GluA2-AMPAR and novelty ratio score was different than expected. Indeed, when we specifically correlated individual behavioural scores and GluA2-AMPAR expression, surprisingly, we found a negative correlation: the data suggest that larger amounts GluA2-AMPAR expression are associated with low novelty ratio (NR) scores, which reflect a tendency to explore the object at the old, familiar location. This pattern in ZIP-infused rats is counterintuitive, as we would expect low NR (no object location memory) to correlate with lower GluA2-AMPAR levels compared to animals with high NR, or, based on our above data, no difference in GluA2-AMPAR expression between low and high NR animals. One explanation for this data could be that for ZIP-AP5 rats, the test session acted as a new learning trial, which was more salient because this group had previous learning erased by ZIP infusions. It might be that in ZIP-treated animals, a significant amount of memory in the hippocampus was erased, thus lowering background noise, thereby allowing subsequent learning-whether in the form of the
second learning training sessions (ZIP-Veh group) or the second learning test session (ZIP-AP5 group)—to be detected by western blot.

Why impairing the storage of an initially learned object location memory leads to upregulated GluA2-AMPARs when rats preferentially explore an old object location (ZIP-Veh group) remains unclear, but may reflect a lack of specificity in hippocampal place fields. Place fields, specific environmental locations to which place cells in the hippocampus preferentially respond (O'Keefe & Dostrovsky, 1971), underlie object location association learning (Eacott & Norman, 2004; Komorowski, Manns, & Eichenbaum, 2009; Manns & Eichenbaum, 2009). Larger place fields are associated with decreased specificity of spatial representation (Royer, Sirota, Patel, & Buzsáki, 2010) and more hippocampal cells are likely to be recruited for larger place fields (Fenton et al., 2008). There is evidence that infusing ZIP while place fields are being expressed will decrease place field specificity (Barry et al., 2012). Thus, rats that did not show memory expression at test and preferred exploring the old object location might have less specific place fields, which might recruit more neurons and thereby will involve more GluA2-AMPAR expression compared to rats who did prefer the novel object location. However, this would not apply to ZIP-AP5 rats, as NMDAR antagonism in the hippocampus can disrupt place field stability and expansion (Ekstrom, Meltzer, McNaughton, & Barnes, 2001; Kentros et al., 1998).

Alternatively, the lower GluA2-AMPAR levels seen in Scr-Veh and Scr-AP5 rats expressing normal novelty preference may be indicative of a more efficient learning mechanism, employed during the second training experience. This could suggest that the first learning experience primed future learning in a metaplastic-like manner, despite ZIP treatment, in a similar way to how reminder cues can boost weak memories that were incompletely erased.

These post-amnesia cues can enhance weak performance levels to match performance of nonamnesic animals because they essentially act as a new learning session (Gold & King, 1973). In this interpretation, ZIP-Veh rats showing higher GluA2-AMPAR expression after preference for the old object location would reflect coarseness of the memory representation. But it would not explain why high levels GluA2-AMPAR expression in ZIP-AP5 rats correlated with old location preference, as in this group, only the test session could induce a learning experience, and there was no post-test recall experience to examine resultant novelty preference, if any.

Considering multiple but not fully comprehensive explanations for our data, it might be informative in future studies to use techniques outside of western blots to analyse changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression based on object location memory loss. The behavioural results showed that NMDAR-independent second learning resulted from a storage impairment of the first learning memory, and as the literature strongly supports the role of GluA2-AMPAR internalization in LTM impairment, a more sensitive technique may reveal a more accurate characterization of how GluA2-AMPAR expression changes due to the second learning paradigm. Labeling hippocampal cells recruited for first and second learning can shed light on how neural ensembles change and overlap with increasing or decreasing memory expression, as well as if ZIP infusions leave any residual memory substrates from the first learning experience that can affect second learning efficiency.

2.7. Conclusion

The behavioural findings resulting from the second learning paradigm have allowed a positive prediction of the nature of ZIP-induced long-term memory impairment. Although the literature suggests that this storage loss would be reflected in molecular data of postsynaptic

GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis at the dorsal hippocampus CA1, the data did not support this hypothesis. Making conclusions from the data presented is complex and opens many more avenues of study, but at the same time should be seen with a skeptical eye, as our data seem to indicate inherent experimental limits in quantifying the relationship between object location memory loss and GluA2-AMPAR expression as we have here. Future research will help untangle the exact nature of the correlation. Nonetheless, our behavioral data strongly support the view that PKM ζ inhibition leads to storage impairment of a memory trace, and that unimpaired first learning object location memory leads to NMDAR-independency of subsequent learning of the same task in a different context.

2.8. Figures



Figure 1. Acquisition of an object location memory for the first time is NMDAR-dependent. *A*) Experimental design. Rats explored an open field for 10 min/day across 2 days, with infusions of AP5 or vehicle (PBS) prior to each session. Forty-eight hours later rats were given a 3-min test session where novel object location recognition was assessed. *B*) Infusions of AP5 blocked first learning. At test, performance of AP5-infused rats was shown to have no location preference compared with vehicle controls, who did show preference for the novel object location. *n*=9 and 7 for Veh and AP5 groups, respectively. Data are expressed as the mean \pm s.e.m. **P*<0.05 indicates significance from 0.5, no preference (dotted line).



Figure 2. First learning memory of object location lasts up to 7 days post-training. *A*) Experimental design. Rats were tested for 10 min/day across 7 days in Open Field A. Rats then remained in their colony for different durations of time (2, 5, 7 days) before given a 3-minute probe test. B) Rats tested for novel object preference after 2 (NR= 0.8 ± 0.09 , $t_{(5)}=3.24$, P=0.230), 5 (NR= 0.77 ± 0.09 , $t_{(5)}=2.61$, P=0.470), or 7 (NR= 0.67 ± 0.06 , $t_{(8)}=3.08$, P=0.015) days of retention post-training all showed consistent novel object location recognition even as retention time increased. Data are expressed as the mean \pm s.e.m. *P<0.05 indicates significance from 0.5, no preference (dotted line).



Figure 3. Acquisition of an object location memory after prior experience to the task is NMDAR-independent. *A*) Experimental design. Rats explored Open Field A for 10 min/day across 7 days. One day later, rats explored a different open field for 10 min/day across 2 days, with infusions of AP5 or vehicle (PBS) prior to each session. Forty-eight hours later rats were given a 3-min test session where novel object location recognition was assessed. B) Infusions of AP5 did not affect second learning. At the second learning test, performance of both AP5- and vehicle-infused rats indicated significant preference to the novel object location. Data are expressed as the mean \pm s.e.m. n=6 per group. **P*<0.05 indicates significance from 0.5, no preference (dotted line).



Figure 4. ZIP-induced impairment of a first learning memory leads second learning to be NMDAR-dependent. *A*) Experimental design for second learning of an object location task after first learning memory erasure. Rats explored Open Field A for 10 min/day across 7 days. Twenty-four hours after the last training sessions, rats were infused with AP5 or vehicle (PBS). One day post-infusions, rats were given the second learning protocol, consisting of exploration in Open Field B for 10 min/day across 2 days, with infusions of AP5 or Veh (PBS) prior to each session. Forty-eight hours later rats were given a 3-min test session where novel object location recognition was assessed. *B*) ZIP blocks first learning and renders the second learning AP5sensitive. Scr-AP5, Scr-Veh, and ZIP-Veh groups showed significant preference for the new object location at second learning test. ZIP-AP5 rats did not show a preference, spending time with new and old locations equally. *n*=4-8 per group. Data are expressed as the mean \pm s.e.m. **P*<0.05 indicates significance from 0.5, no preference (dotted line).



Figure 5. First and second learning impairments do not affect GluA2-AMPAR expressions levels after second learning test. *A*) Schematic representation of locations within the dorsal hippocampus, including injector tracts (thick black line), injection points (black dot) and punched CA1 area (dotted circle) for western blot analysis. Values on right side indicate anterior-posterior position relative to bregma (Paxinos and Watson). *B*) *Top:* Representative western blot bands of GluA2-AMPAR expression volume of each experimental group. *Bottom:* Relative amount of GluA2 in PSD fractions of CA1 dHPC neurons, standardized to β -actin, in relation to Scr-Veh group (set at 100%). Animals were infused with ZIP or its inactive form, scrambled ZIP (Scr), 24 hours after first learning training, and AP5 or Veh prior to second learning training, resulting in four groups: Scr-AP5 (*n*=8), Scr-Veh (*n*=6), ZIP-AP5 (*n*=6) and ZIP-Veh (*n*=4). No significant difference between groups were observed. Data are expressed as the mean ± s.e.m.





Figure 6. GluA2-AMPAR levels negatively correlates with novelty ratio at second learning probe test. Data shows that increasing GluA2-AMPAR expression is significantly correlated with decreasing memory performance as shown by novelty ratio score (r=-0.62 ± 0.06, N=24, P=0.001). Novelty ratio of 0.5, no preference, is indicated by the dotted line.



Figure 7. Increasing GluA2-AMPAR expression in PSD of CA1 dHPC neurons is significantly correlated with decreasing novelty ratio score. Data is filtered from Figure 6 to graphically isolate two groups, ZIP-AP5 (*A*) and ZIP-Veh (*B*). Linear regression lines are shown for each group: ZIP-AP5 ($r_{(4)}$ =-.89 ± .04, *P*=.016) and ZIP-Veh ($r_{(2)}$ =-.97 ± .04, *P*=.026). Novelty ratio of 0.5, no preference, is indicated by the dotted line.

Chapter 3 — Reconsolidation blockade

CHAPTER THREE

Reconsolidation blockade leads to experience-driven changes in NMDAR-dependency in later spatial learning

J Jane Zhang, Amaryllis Mirlycourtois, Karim Nader

3.1. Preface

After investigating the nature of long-term memory erasure, we examined if storage impairment occurred in a different type of memory loss: reconsolidation impairment. This second example of storage-mediated memory loss may allow more reliable comparisons of changes to neural correlates that are seen in both consolidation and reconsolidation blockade. Like in Project 1 (Chapter 2), we performed both a behavioural test to verify the nature of the amnesia and then western blots of the dorsal hippocampus (dHPC) to probe for changes in postsynaptic GluA2-containing α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (GluA2-AMPAR) expression. We hoped that the observed changes to GluA2-AMPAR expression from this data set would allow stronger interpretation of the molecular data from Project 1. Amnesia caused by reconsolidation blockade provided a good choice for our next avenue of study for multiple reasons: (1) reconsolidation, the process of how a recalled memory slowly restabilizes over time, may be a mechanism through which our memories update and stay relevant (see Lee et al., 2017 for review) and is therefore an important memory phenomenon to study, (2) reconsolidation has not yet been shown to occur in object location memories, and (3) extant literature observed that GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis occurs after retrieval of a memory, and are reinserted as the memory reconsolidates (Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011; Hong et al., 2013). What remains unclear is how the decrease of GluA2-AMPARs correlates to memory destabilization. To examine this, we measured GluA2-AMPAR expression changes in the CA1 dHPC as a correlate of amnesia caused by reconsolidation blockade of an object location memory.

Here, we also used the second learning protocol (Hardt et al., 2009) to allow positive predictions about the nature of the induced amnesia. To block reconsolidation, infusions of sulfasalazine (SSZ), a selective transcription inhibitor which blocks the nuclear factor κ B (NF-

 κ B) transcription pathway (see Shrum & Meffert, 2008, for a review), were infused bilaterally in the rat dHPC. SSZ infusions in the dHPC have been shown to block reconsolidation of hippocampus-dependent contextual fear memories (Lee & Hynds, 2013), and was therefore a good candidate to also block reconsolidation of object location learning. Behavioural results indicated that indeed, like ZIP-induced amnesia, the memory loss caused by blocking reconsolidation with SSZ also can be classified as a storage impairment of the memory. Through this, it was also confirmed that object location memories can reconsolidate, and SSZ impairment is an effective method to block this reconsolidation. Molecular analyses, however, showed no difference between average group expression of GluA2-AMPAR across treatment groups. If GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis did occur after memory retrieval, as the literature suggests, animals infused with SSZ after reactivation and then did not acquire a subsequent learning experience should have shown less GluA2-AMPAR expression relative to the other groups. That we saw no differences between groups led us to believe that western blots were not sensitive enough to detect changes of GluA2-AMPAR expression caused by reconsolidation blockade of an object location memory. Framed against the data from Project 1 (Chapter 2), this suggests that there might exist innate difficulties in reliably quantifying changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression correlated with increasing or decreasing object location memory strength.

3.2. Abstract

Reconsolidation processes in non-associative, spatial memories are not well understood. It has not yet been shown that hippocampus-dependent object location memories can undergo reconsolidation. Additionally, although blockade of reconsolidation processes can lead to amnesia of the reactivated memory, it remains unclear whether this memory loss reflects a storage impairment (the memory is not available due to loss of neural correlates) or a retrieval impairment (the memory is available, but inaccessible), and how expression of a correlate of memory destabilization, GluA2-containing α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (GluA2-AMPARs), change as a result of this amnesia. Here, we show that (1) blocking activation of the nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) pathway, which regulates transcription of plasticity-associated genes, after memory reactivation, leads to impaired reconsolidation of object location memory in a novelty recognition task. Furthermore, we demonstrated that (2) this intervention causes a storage impairment of the reactivated memory trace. We used a second learning protocol to predict the nature of amnesia based on whether a familiar learning experience requires N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) activation. Reconsolidation blockade object location memory led subsequent object location training to rely on NMDAR activation for acquisition, which usually is a NMDAR-independent process. This indicated that the initial memory was lost in a way that subsequent learning was acquired as if it is new learning, suggesting a storage loss of the first-learned memory. Changes in postsynaptic expression of a neural correlate of memory destabilization, GluA2-AMPARs, were assayed with western blots to corroborate this storage impairment, but (3) no differences were detected across treatment groups, which may suggest that amnesia-driven changes in GluA2-AMPARs were too

minimal to be detected. Taken together, our data show that blocking NF-κB-regulated gene transcription can impede reconsolidation by impairing storage of the memory, but this impairment did not correlate with changes in postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR expression.

3.3. Introduction

The work of Nader et al. (2000) revived interest in the neuroscientific study of the effects retrieval exerts on memory. In this seminal paper, it was demonstrated that consolidated memories, contrary to predictions of the dominant memory models, do not remain in a stable state permanently. Rather, retrieval prompts memories to become labile and pervious to manipulation for a brief time window until they return again to a stable state. This two-part process (S. H. Lee et al., 2008; S.-H. Wang et al., 2009; Winters et al., 2009) of (1) memory destabilization following retrieval, and (2) subsequent memory restabilization, or reconsolidation, has been observed in many species and research paradigms (Haubrich & Nader, 2018; Kwapis & Helmstetter, 2014).

Yet, few studies have shown reconsolidation of non-Pavlovian hippocampus-dependent tasks, such as location recognition paradigms, or similar paradigms that give rise to episodic-like memories. Because these memories of events in space-time are thought to be require the hippocampus (see Burgess et al., 2002 for a review), understanding how spatial memories reconsolidate is crucial to understand what happens to memories when similar contexts are repeatedly encountered in daily life. Reconsolidation blockade of a hippocampus-dependent spatial memory has been shown in only a small number of studies (R. G. M. Morris et al., 2006; Przybyslawski & Sara, 1997; Suzuki et al., 2004); furthermore, these studies employ maze tasks, motivated either appetitively by food reward (Przybyslawski & Sara, 1997), or aversively by water (Suzuki et al., 2004; Morris et al., 2006). However, many memories in daily life are not strictly associative or motivated by reward or punishment. Thus, it is relevant to study reconsolidation of object location learning, notable in that it is reinforcement-free (Assini et al., 2009), and is driven by an animal's own exploration and novelty preference (Berlyne & Slater, 1957), providing an excellent model for most of our everyday memories of events.

Another missing aspect of the reconsolidation literature is how to conceptualize the amnesic effect of reconsolidation blockade. Based on behavioural data alone, it is difficult to separate whether the amnesic treatment causes a storage impairment, rendering the memory trace unavailable, or a retrieval impairment, rendering the memory trace inaccessible (Gold et al., 1974; Hardt et al., 2009; Nader, 2009). Although it seems logical to assume that preventing neural correlates of memory from reconsolidating defines a loss of memory storage, this has yet to be confirmed through a paradigm that clearly dissociates it from retrieval impairment. Our lab previously established a protocol that allows a positive prediction for the nature of the experimentally induced amnesia (Hardt et al., 2009). The protocol takes advantage of a second learning phenomenon first observed by Bannerman et al., (1995). They showed that while a naively acquired spatial memory requires N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) activation, a later learning experience of the same task in a different context does not. NMDAR-independent second learning has since been seen in other hippocampus-dependent tasks, although again there is a bias towards studies on contextual fear conditioning (Crestani et al., 2018; Hardt et al., 2009; Sanders & Fanselow, 2003; Tayler et al., 2011; Wiltgen et al., 2011) or water maze (Bannerman et al., 1995; Saucier & Cain, 1995). Hardt et al. (2009) posited that by impairing the storage of the first-learned memory, the sensitivity of a second-learned memory to NMDAR-antagonism can be evaluated as an indicator of the first learning amnesia. If second learning is NMDARdependent, this suggests that the initial memory was erased, causing the second learning experienced to be acquired as if it is the first time the animal has been exposed to the task.

Therefore, by employing this protocol after reconsolidation blockade of the first-learned memory, the nature of the reconsolidation impairment can be determined.

If reconsolidation blockade indeed causes a storage impairment of memory, it is likely due to loss of neural correlates of the memory. Internalization of GluA2-subunit containing aamino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (GluA2-AMPARs) from the postsynaptic membrane has a critical role in long-term memory (LTM) retrieval and thus reconsolidation. Blocking GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis has been shown to block reconsolidation processes (Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011; Hong et al., 2013; Bhattacharya et al., 2017). For example, Rao-Ruiz et al. (2011) showed that reactivation of a contextual fear memory induces GluA2-AMPAR downregulation in dorsal hippocampus (dHPC) neurons within 1 hour after retrieval, corresponding to a period of memory lability. Seven hours post-retrieval, after the memory reconsolidated, reinserted GluA2-AMPARs were found in the synaptic membrane. Infusions of TAT-GluA2_{3Y}, a synthetic protein that blocks GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis, inhibited this initial post-retrieval GluA2-AMPAR downregulation, showing the necessity of these receptors in the destabilization process. This destabilization impairment via blockade of retrieval-induced GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis has also been replicated with fear memory in the lateral amygdala (Hong et al., 2013). However, the proportion of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosed from the synaptic surface after reconsolidation blockade of a memory remains unclear. As blocking reconsolidation, for example with protein synthesis inhibitors, permanently impairs the memory (Nader et al., 2000), GluA2-AMPAR expression levels likely will not return to pre-retrieval levels seen in an unimpaired memory. Evaluating the degree of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis can thus provide neurobiological evidence for the storage impairment nature of reconsolidation blockade.

The pharmacological interventions of the previously mentioned studies include intraperitoneal injections of NMDAR-antagonist MK-801 (Przybyslawski and Sara, 1997), or general protein synthesis inhibitor anisomycin (Suzuki et al., 2004; Morris et al., 2006). Here, we target inhibition of transcription factors from the nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) family using sulfasalazine (SSZ), which has been shown to block reconsolidation of contextual fear memory (Lee & Hynds, 2013; Lubin & Sweatt, 2007), auditory fear memory (Si et al., 2012), and inhibitory avoidance (Boccia et al., 2007) in rodents. NF- κ B transcription factors are commonly known for regulating inflammatory and immune response, however, increasing evidence has linked the NF-kB signalling pathway with long-term potentiation and long-term memory in vertebrates (see Shrum & Meffert, 2008, for a review). NF-KB latently exists in mammalian neurons, bound to its inhibitor (IkB). Activity, for example, with NMDAR activation, can induce phosphorylation of IkB by its kinase complex (IKK) (DiDonato, Hayakawa, Rothwarf, Zandi, & Karin, 1997; Mercurio et al., 1997). This leads to $I\kappa B$ degradation, which frees NF- κB to be translocated in the nucleus, where it regulates expression of plasticity-related genes (Grilli & Memo, 1999; Verma, Stevenson, Schwarz, Van Antwerp, & Miyamoto, 1995; Yeh, Lin, & Gean, 2004). SSZ application inhibits IKK, thus can block the NF-κB activation pathway after stimulation (Wahl et al., 1998). Because this overall process regulates gene transcription activity needed for synaptic changes (Ahn et al., 2008; Ghosh & Karin, 2002; Kaltschmidt et al., 2006), SSZ infusions provides a nuanced way to block reconsolidation.

Therefore, three aims of these experiments are: (1) to show object location memories can reconsolidate, (2) to show that reconsolidation blockade is caused by a storage impairment of the memory, and (3) to assay changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression levels in the dorsal hippocampus CA1 region caused by reconsolidation blockade of the memory, with or without

subsequent learning. Behavioural results confirmed that first learning memory impairment caused by infusions of a transcription inhibitor, SSZ, does indeed reverse the usual NMDARindependency of second learning acquisition. This suggests that reconsolidation blockade impaired storage of the first learning memory. However, we found no significant changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression levels that correlated with memory loss.

3.4. *Methods*

3.4.1. Animal subjects

Male Long Evans rats (received at weight 275g-325g; Charles River) were housed in pairs in rectangular polyethylene cages with a PVC tube for environmental enrichment. Rats had *ad libitum* access to food and water. Lights in the colony were turned on at 7 a.m. and turned off at 7 p.m. daily. Behavioural studies were always performed between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m. All procedures were approved by the McGill University Animal Care and Use Committee and complied with the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines.

3.4.2. Surgeries

Rats were anaesthetized with a solution of Ketamine (50 mg/ml), Xylazine (3 mg/ml), and Dexdomitor (0.175 mg/mL), injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) at a volume of 1 ml/kg. Bilateral cannulations in the dorsal hippocampus were then performed with coordinates based on the rat atlas (Paxinos and Watson). 22-gauge steel cannula were implanted using a Kopf stereotaxic frame (coordinates from bregma: A/P -3.6 mm, M/L +/- 3.1 mm, D/V -2.4 mm, 10° away from midline). Dental cement was adhered to the skull to stabilize the cannula. After surgeries, rats were administered an analgesic (Carprofen 5 mg/ml, subcutaneous at 1 ml/kg) and then

anesthesia was reversed with Antisedan (0.5 mg/ml, i.p. at 0.66ml/kg). A week of recovery time was given, with regular handling throughout, before the experiment began.

3.4.3. Apparatus

Two open field contexts were set up in separate rooms.

Open Field A was set up in context room A (area 15.85 m^2 , $3.98 \text{ m} \times 3.98 \text{ m} \times 2.65 \text{ m}$), a windowless room with dim lighting. The floor level of the open field was illuminated with, on average, 13 lux. The open field was a circular area made with clear Plexiglas walls, with a total area 3600 cm^2 , with walls of height 60 cm. A strip of black paper covered the lower 15 cm of each Plexiglas panel in order to minimize distraction of rats peering through the Plexiglas. One Plexiglas panel was labeled with a black and white striped pattern to act as a disambiguating cue. Three objects were set up at northwest (NW), north (N), and northeast (NE) locations, with north arbitrarily assigned at the corner of the room opposite to the door. NE and NW objects were identical, and N objects used were counterbalanced between rats. Bedding was made up of a 1:1 dried corn and woodchips mix. Flooring was made of a wooden pegboard into which objects could be screwed in, out, and fastened. A camera hung 50 cm above the context. Behavioural testing occurred with the door closed and the experimenter outside of the room.

Open Field B was set up in a distinctly different context compared to Open Field A in order to facilitate second learning as a separate experience. It was placed in context room B (2.13 m², 2.13 m × 1 m × 2.65 m), a windowless room lit brightly. The floor level of the open field was illuminated with, on average, 201 lux. The open field was a square area made with thin plywood walls, with a total area of 3600 cm² (60 cm × 60 cm × 60 cm). The bedding was made of woodchips. A disambiguating black and white striped cue was taped at the top of one of the

walls. Two identical objects were located at N and S locations within the open field, and were of similar height but differing colour and shape to the objects from Open Field A. A camera hung 80 cm above the context. Behavioural testing occurred with room curtains pulled closed and the experimenter outside of the room.

3.4.4. Drug Infusions

Transcription inhibitor sulfasalazine (Sigma) was mixed in saline with 10 mM HEPES buffer (pH 7.6) plus 20% DMSO at 2 μ g/ μ l, and infused bilaterally into the dHPC (1.0 μ l/hemisphere at 0.25 μ l/min). The NMDAR-antagonist D-AP5 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) was mixed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) at 5 μ g/ μ l and infused bilaterally into the dHPC (1.0 μ l/hemisphere at 0.25 μ l/min). Injector tips remained in the cannula for 60 seconds after infusions completed in order to ensure complete diffusion of the drug. Placements were checked at the time of tissue sample collection for western blots.

3.4.5. Behavioural procedure

3.4.5.1. First learning in Open Field A

Rats were brought to context room A to rest for 20 minutes before training. First training sessions consisted of daily 10-minute free exploration trials across seven days. As habituation could be construed as a learning experience, no habituation sessions were given prior to training. Rats were lowered into the open field at a different corner of the open field each day (SE, SW, NW, NE), with their noses pointed away from the centre of the field, allowing the rat to orient themselves towards the objects and remove bias for any one object. After each session of training, rats were removed from the open field and returned to their home cage. They were allowed to rest for 20 minutes following the conclusion of training of all rats before being returned to the colony.

3.4.5.2. Reactivation in Open Field A

Twenty-four hours after the last first training session, rats were returned to context room A for a reactivation session. All objects were removed from the open field, but other qualities of the context were unchanged. Rats were placed individually in the middle of the open field, facing away from the previous positions of the objects, and given 10 min of exploration time. Immediately after reactivation, rats were removed from the open field and in a different room given bilateral dorsal hippocampal infusions of sulfasalazine (SSZ), an inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B transcription factor (NF- κ B), or vehicle (Veh; saline/HEPES/DMSO). Rats were returned to their home cage and allowed to rest at least 20 min before being brought back to the colony room.

Next, rats were tested in either Open Field A 24 hours after reactivation (Experiment 1), or underwent subsequent training in Open Field B (Experiment 2). For a test session performed in Open Field A, objects were returned to the floor, with the middle object in the open field moved across the floor from its original position. The other two objects remained in the same position. Rats were placed in the centre of the open field, facing away from all three objects and allowed to explore for 3 minutes. After completion of the test, rats were returned to their cages, then returned to the colony room after all rats finished testing.

3.4.5.3. Second learning in Open Field B

The day following reactivation (Experiment 2), rats were brought to the hallway outside context room B to rest for 20 minutes before training began. Second learning training comprised of bilateral infusions of AP5, an NMDAR-antagonist, or vehicle (Veh; PBS) into the dorsal hippocampus, followed immediately by a 10-min exploration session in Open Field B. For each

session, rats were delivered into the open field while facing the corner of the rectangular field. The origin corner alternated each training session (SE, SW, NW, NE). After completion, rats were returned to their home cage. Following completion of all rats' training, animals were given 20 minutes of rest before being returned to their colony room. Four infusion and training sessions in total occurred across two days, with each morning and afternoon session separated by a minimum of 4 hours during which rats rested in the colony.

Forty-height hours after the final second learning session, rats were returned to context room B for a probe test. One of the objects was moved to a corner of the open field. The other object remained in the same position. Rats were placed in a corner of the open field that was equidistant from both objects, facing the walls and allowed to explore for 3 minutes. Rats were then returned to their cages, left to rest, then returned to the colony room 20 minutes after completion of test sessions for all rats.

3.4.6. Sacrifice

Twenty-four hours after testing, rats were sacrificed. Rats were anaesthetized with isoflurane then decapitated. Brains were removed and flash frozen over dry ice, then preserved at -80°C.

3.4.7. Behavioural scoring

Behavioral videos were scored manually. Exploratory behaviour was diagnosed when the rat showed directed interest in the object, e.g. smelling from at most 3 cm away from the object, touching, climbing into the object. Rats climbing on top of the object was considered exploratory activity, but while there, usage of the object as a platform to explore the walls of the context was not included as object exploration. Scoring began immediately prior to the first instance of directed interest towards the object, and continued for 30 seconds.

Novel object location preference (novelty ratio) for first learning (in Open Field A) was calculated with the following formula:

time exploring new location		
time exploring new location + (time spent exploring old location 1 + old location	. 2
	2	

Novelty ratio for second learning (in Open Field B) was calculated with the following formula:

time exploring new location total time exploring

Open Field B had two objects, therefore time spent exploring each object location had an equal weight of 50% of the total time exploring (equation denominator). However, because Open Field A had 3 objects, the time spent with the object at the new location would be underweighted against the other two objects (33% versus 66%). To account for this, the total time spent exploring the two objects at familiar locations was averaged, thus exploration of the two familiar locations was treated as exploration of one object. In this way, time spent at the new location and the familiar locations would be weighed equally, allowing use of the same ratio scale in equations involving two or three open field objects.

For both novelty ratio calculations, a value of 0.5 indicates equal preference for both objects or no preference for either object, while a value significantly higher than 0.5 indicates a significant preference for the new object location. Because rats prefer novelty over familiarity (Berlyne & Slater, 1957; Ennaceur & Delacour, 1988), this behavior suggests that they took notable interest in the new object location, suggesting that they retained the memory of the previous object locations. Therefore, a high novelty ratio implies a strong memory, and a no preference ratio of 0.5 implies weak or impaired memory. A low novelty ratio indicates preference for the old object location, and thus insufficient performance for the trained memory. In Experiment 1, a t-test was used to determine significant preference for the object at the new location, comparing group novelty ratio means to an estimated mean of 0.5. In Experiment 2, a one-way ANOVA was used to probe for group differences across four treatment groups. In Experiment 3, western blot and behavioural data was analyzed with a one-way ANOVA and Pearson's correlation. Analyses were completed with SPSS and JMP software.

3.4.8. Biochemistry

3.4.8.1. Subcellular fractionation for postsynaptic density

The dorsal hippocampus CA1 region was dissected from frozen brains with a 1 mm neuro punch (Fine Science Tools), and homogenized in cold Tris-HCl buffer (30 mM, pH 7.4) containing 4 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA and a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Complete, Roche). The hippocampus homogenates were then centrifuged at 4°C at 500 g for 10 min to remove nuclei and other debris. The supernatants were removed and centrifuged at 100,000 g at 4°C for 60 min. Resulting pellets were resuspended in a solution of the homogenization buffer and 0.5% Triton X-100 and incubated on ice for 20 min, then layered over 1 M sucrose. This was centrifuged again at 100,000 g for 60 min, allowing detergent-soluble membrane components and extra-synaptic receptors to remain in the Triton-soluble fraction. The remaining Triton-insoluble materials were pulled down into the sucrose layer, where proteins of the postsynaptic densities also lay. This final pellet was resuspended in homogenization buffer and stored at - 80°C. Total protein concentration was determined with the BCA protein assay kit (Pierce). 3.4.8.2. Western blots

Western blots were performed using 8% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes overnight. Membranes were washed with 2% BSA in TBS-Tween for 1 hour at room temperature, then incubated with polyclonal antibodies to GluA2 (1 mg/ml, Millipore; dilution 1/2000) and monoclonal β-actin (2 mg/ml,

Sigma; 1/10,000) for 20 hours at 4°C. Membranes were washed with TBS-Tween and incubated in rabbit horseradish antibody (GluA2, NR2B; GE Healthcare UK; 1/10,000) or mouse horseradish antibody (actin; GE Healthcare UK; 1/10,000) at room temperature for 1 hour. Detection of bands was completed with Pierce ECL2 western blotting substrate (ThermoScientific). Membrane blots were scanned with a Storm Laser Scanner (Molecular Dynamics) and analyzed with ImageQuant software (ABI).

3.5. Results

3.5.1. Experiment 1: Post-reactivation infusion of sulfasalazine blocks reconsolidation of object location memory

We first tested if blocking transcription via sulfasalazine infusions impaired reconsolidation of an object location memory. Rats were given 7 days of first learning training in Open Field A with no previous habituation. Twenty-four hours after first learning training, rats were given a reactivation session immediately followed by bilateral infusions of sulfasalazine (SSZ) or vehicle (Veh) into the dHPC. After one day of rest, rats were returned to the open field for a 3-minute probe test (Figure 1A).

Animals that received the post-reactivation sulfasalazine treatment showed no significant preference for the new location at the probe test (NR=.47 \pm .97, *t*<1; data presented as mean novelty ratio \pm s.e.m.), whereas control rats did (NR=.64 \pm .057, *t*₍₇₎=2.37, *P*=.05) (Figure 1B). Because rats are naturally attracted to novelty, significant preference for the new object location at the test session would indicate training memory of the original object locations is intact. A novelty score of 0.5 indicates that the animal is spending equal amounts of time exploring the new and old object locations during test, suggesting the training memory of the old object

locations can no longer be expressed. This memory impairment did not occur when rats did not receive a reactivation session, or when they received no SSZ infusions (Figure 1C). Therefore, SSZ-infused rats showed impaired memory at test, while Veh-infused rats did not, showing that sulfasalazine blocked reconsolidation of the object location memory. The overall time spent exploring objects was not significantly different between groups, indicating no treatment effects on motility or motivation to explore.

3.5.2. Experiment 2: Reconsolidation blockade of first learning memory leads to subsequent learning to become NMDAR-dependent

We wanted explore how blocking reconsolidation of a first-learned object location memory would affect the acquisition of a subsequently learned object location memory. Research has shown that unlike first learning acquisition processes, second learning acquisition of hippocampal-based tasks is independent of NMDARs (Bannerman, Sanders, Tayler, Hardt, Wiltgen). Thus, the sensitivity of a second learning acquisition to an NMDAR-antagonist can act as an indicator of the state of the first learning memory. Interventions that lead to a storage impairment would erase the first learning memory and subsequent learning would be acquired as if it were naïve learning (i.e. in an NMDAR-dependent manner). Retrieval impairment of the first learning memory, because the memory trace is not erased, will not affect the NMDARindependent nature of second learning memory acquisition.

Rats were given first learning training in Open Field A, followed 24 hours later by a reactivation session and infusions of SSZ or Veh into the dHPC (as in 3.1). Twenty-four hours after infusions, rats were given two days of second learning training with infusions of AP5, an

NMDAR antagonist, or vehicle (Veh; PBS) in Open Field B (Figure 2A). Forty-eight hours after second learning training, rats were given a probe test in Open Field B for 3 minutes.

At the second learning test, all groups showed a significant preference to the novel object location (i.e. novelty ratio significantly greater than 0.5), except the SSZ-AP5 group (NR=.65 \pm .082, t<1) (Figure 2B). We reasoned that the Veh-Veh group (NR=.73 \pm .089, t=2.56, *P*=.043) had normal acquisition of both first and second learning, as vehicle infusions did not impede learning. Similarly, the Veh-AP5 group (NR=.7 \pm .066, t=3.02, *P*=.014) was expected to have intact first learning, and thus would be unaffected by AP5 infusions at second learning. In the SSZ-Veh group (NR=.74 \pm .083, t=2.95, *P*=.018), only second learning should have been acquired adequately, as first learning was impaired by sulfasalazine. For SSZ-AP5 rats, blocking reconsolidation of a first learning memory with sulfasalazine resulted in second learning acquisition sensitivity to AP5, i.e. susceptibility to NMDAR-blockade. Thus, it seemed that second learning required NMDAR activation for acquisition in a first-learning-like manner. We concluded that this could occur only if reconsolidation blockade of first learning erased the memory. Therefore, the behavioural evidence shows that SSZ-induced reconsolidation blockade indeed causes a storage impairment of the memory.

We observed no significant differences on average novelty ratio between all groups $(F_{(3,28)}=0.208, P=.89)$, but this does not affect individual group comparisons with a 0.5 novelty ratio. As memory expression is solely evaluated with individual group mean difference from 0.5, significant group differences in novelty ratio scores are not necessary to determine whether the memory exists or not, and would only supplement the existing behavioural t-test data. There was no difference in total exploration time between all groups ($F_{(3,28)}=0.573$, P=.638), again suggesting no treatment effects on motility or exploratory motivation. However, it is worth

noting that these groups have a low N, and patterns may be more evident with increased numbers per group.

3.5.3. Experiment 3: GluA2-AMPAR levels remain unchanged by sulfasalazine-induced reconsolidation blockade of first learning memory, with or without NMDAR blockade of second learning memory acquisition

As described in section 3.2 above, rats were given first learning training followed 24 hours later by a reactivation session and infusions of SSZ or Veh into the dHPC. A day later, rats were given two days of second learning training with infusions of AP5, an NMDAR antagonist, or vehicle (Veh; PBS). Forty-eight hours after second learning training, rats were given a probe test to assess second learning. Twenty-four hours after testing, rats were sacrificed and their brains frozen. CA1 dHPC near the cannulation area was dissected for postsynaptic density (PSD) fractions for western blot analysis (Figure 3A). β -actin was used as a loading control and we found no significant difference in β -actin levels between groups ($F_{(3,28)}=1.155$, P=.344, data not shown).

As there was no hypothesized value from which to compare, we examined group differences in protein expression. Probing for GluA2-AMPAR expression in the PSD of CA1 neurons showed that there was no difference in GluA2-AMPAR levels across group. Although the SSZ-AP5 group numerically had the lowest amount of GluA2, there was no significant difference from the other experimental groups ($F_{(3,28)}$ =0.195, P=.899, Figure 3B). To further examine if there was a relationship between GluA2-AMPAR levels and performance at test, we correlated individual novelty ratio score with level of GluA2-AMPAR expression, but found no significant correlation between performance at probe test and amount of GluA2-AMPAR

expression ($F_{(1,30)}=0.53$, P=.471, Figure 4). Additionally, no correlation was seen between GluA2-AMPAR levels and time spent exploring ($F_{(1,30)}=3.16$, P=.086, data not shown).

3.6. Discussion

We aimed to show reconsolidation blockade of an object location memory, and describe the nature of the resulting amnesia. Using a second learning protocol, we predicted that blocking the reconsolidation of the memory for the first learning would disrupt its storage. As a consequence, second learning would require NMDAR activation because its acquisition would follow the mechanisms of a new learning experience, which requires NMDARs. We also aimed to detect changes in the expression of GluA2-AMPARs in the PSD of CA1 hippocampal neurons correlated with first and second learning conditions, and link a hypothesized loss of GluA2-AMPARs to the storage impairment of the memory trace.

We showed that object location memories can undergo reconsolidation, like many other types of memories (Haubrich & Nader, 2016, Kwapis & Helmstetter, 2013). Moreover, we confirmed that object location learning can induce NMDAR-independency in future acquisition sessions. Behavioural data showed that reconsolidation of object location memory can be impaired with post-reactivation infusions of NF-κB transcription factor inhibitor sulfasalazine (SSZ). This confirms previous literature about the inhibitory effect of SSZ infusions on transcription (Lee & Hynds, 2012; Boccia et al., 2007; Merlo, Freudenthal, Maldonado, & Romano, 2005; Si et al., 2012), which propose that the family of NF-κB transcription factors are activated by retrieval and are required for memory reconsolidation (Boersma & Meffert, 2008). Additionally, we showed that blocking reconsolidation with infusions of SSZ led to second learning sensitivity to NMDAR-impairment (SSZ-AP5 group). NMDAR-dependency is a property of naïve learning of hippocampus-based spatial learning, but not of subsequent learning (Bannerman et al., 1995). As only the group that was infused with SSZ after first learning reactivation, and AP5 prior to second learning sessions, showed impaired memory expression at the second learning test, this suggested that reconsolidation blockade erased the storage of first-learned memory and induced second learning acquisition as if it was naïve learning. This result was consistent with the storage impairment hypothesis of experimental amnesia.

We initially hypothesized that reactivation of the memory would induce endocytosis of surface GluA2-AMPARs in dHPC neurons, and thus rats with first learning memory impaired via reconsolidation blockade would have less postsynaptic GluA2-AMPARs relative to rats with retained memory. If SSZ indeed impaired memory storage, SSZ-infused rats subsequently infused with NMDAR-antagonist AP5 prior to second learning (SSZ-AP5 group) sessions should not acquire the second learning training, and therefore we anticipated they would show lower levels of relative surface GluA2-AMPAR expression compared to all other groups (SSZ-Veh, Veh-Veh, Veh-AP5). Additionally, the second learning protocol gave the opportunity to decipher how GluA2-AMPAR expression levels compared between the Veh-Veh group and the Veh-AP5 group: do two learning experiences of the same task increase GluA2-AMPAR expression compared to one learning experience? Would GluA2-AMPAR levels in Veh-AP5 and SSZ-Veh groups lie in between levels seen in SSZ-AP5 (no memories) and Veh-Veh (both memories retained) groups? Through data from these four experimental groups, we anticipated a correlation between memory expression at second learning test and a decrease in surface GluA2-AMPAR expression.

Other studies have shown a correlation between GluA2-AMPARs and performance (Hara et al., 2012; Migues et al., 2010). Migues et al. (2010) showed a positive correlation between

GluA2-AMPAR expression in the PSD with strength of fear memory output in the amygdala. Western blots probing for GluA2-AMPAR levels in a PSD fraction did not reveal any significant differences between groups, despite differences in memory performance between the SSZ-AP5 group and other treatment groups. However, that the SSZ-AP5 group showed lower GluA2-AMPAR expression compared to the other treatment groups is notable, as it follows the hypothesized molecular pattern across groups. The lack of group differences may reflect the same non-significant group differences in novelty ratio—that is, the changes in behaviour between groups may not reach significance, but nevertheless conveys useful information about memory presence. Similarly, lower GluA2-AMPAR expression in the SSZ-AP5 group may in fact indicate a correlation between less GluA2 and lower memory expression. However, further biochemical analysis showed no correlation of GluA2-AMPAR expression to memory performance, so this conclusion could not be drawn. Rather, this non-significance could indicate three alternative interpretations: either the nature of the amnesic effect is not a storage impairment (i.e. the memory trace does not undergo any constitutive changes across experimental conditions), or GluA2-AMPARs are not a neural correlate of object location memory loss under these experimental conditions, or, third, any changes to GluA2-AMPAR expression were not detectable through western blotting.

Framing reconsolidation blockade as a retrieval impairment contradicts our behavioural data. Concluding that surface GluA2-AMPAR levels do not lower after reconsolidation blockade conflicts with previous work that has so far strongly supported the role of GluA2-AMPAR internalization in destabilization of LTP (Yao et al., 2008; Hardt et al., 2014) and LTM (Migues et al., 2010; Hardt et al., 2010). Previous work has also indicated that GluA2-AMPARs are needed for retaining object location memories (Migues et al., 2016). Yet, our data show a slight

trend of decreasing GluA2-AMPAR expression across conditions (see Figure 3B), but group differences were non-significant. It is possible that the test session itself acted as a new learning session, thus possibly promoting the upregulating GluA2-AMPAR expression in all groups— although this posits that a single test session increases GluA2-AMPARs in the SSZ-AP5 group to levels of the Veh-Veh group, which may be unlikely.

Alternatively, perhaps the amount of GluA2-AMPARs internalized was negligible compared to other background trafficking of GluA2-AMPARs in CA1 neurons and thus the dHPC signal induced from the task was too small to be detected. Research has shown that in hippocampal pyramidal neurons, nearly all AMPARs in the synaptic surface contain GluA2, largely in the form of GluA1/A2 heteromers (W. Lu et al., 2009; Wenthold et al., 1996). Exploration of a novel environment has been shown to induce expression of immediate early gene Arc in approximately 32% of neurons in the CA1 (Vazdarjanova et al., 2006), thus an exploratory memory trace may be encoded by even fewer cells. Indeed, the amount of neurons activated in mice CA1 hippocampus after a 10-minute exploration of a novel context has been shown to be less than 15% of total neurons—although later exposure to a second context recruits around 50% (Cai et al., 2016). Therefore, the amount of internalized GluA2-AMPARs associated with amnesia of an object location learning memory might be minimal compared to GluA2-AMPARs in non-recruited cells, making the ratio of signal to noise too small to detect. Indeed, other studies have also shown difficulty in detecting activity-mediated GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis at the PSD (Ehlers, 2000; D.-T. Lin & Huganir, 2007; Tao-Cheng et al., 2011).

To best reconcile both our data and the literature, we conclude that any internalization of surface GluA2-AMPARs is likely unable to be detected with western blot assay. Our data would thus encourage amplifying the signal caused by the object location learning, for example via

increasing noradrenergic activity, which has been shown to improve signal and decrease noise in hippocampal cells through the locus ceoruleus (Susan J. Sara, 1985; Segal & Bloom, 1976). With a more robust hippocampal signal, detection of changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression in the CA1 may indeed reveal the changes involved in differences in observed memory expression. However, because these methods ostensibly moderate memory strength, this might affect the probability the memory will reconsolidate. Thus, more research is needed to characterize the neural changes involved in the reconsolidation of object location memories.

3.7. Conclusion

Using a second learning protocol, we were able to form a positive prediction about the nature of amnesia caused by reconsolidation blockade. Impairing transcription after reactivation of an object location memory impaired the storage of a memory trace. This prompted a subsequently learned object location memory task to be acquired in an NMDAR-dependent manner (SSZ-AP5 group). Because NMDAR-dependency is a feature of naïve learning acquisition, we conclude that blocking reconsolidation through sulfasalazine infusions erased the first learning memory. The data also showed NMDAR-independent object location learning (Veh-Veh group), and supported existing literature on the effect of SSZ in blocking transcription factors. Further research is needed to conclude the percentage of GluA2-AMPAR internalization that occurs within these situations.

Inhibiting reconsolidation is one of many methods through which to experimentally impair memory. Relating the neurobiological mechanisms of different situations of memory loss, as well as learning about memory phenomenon like NMDAR-independent learning, can allow future application to mechanisms of natural forgetting or dysfunctional forgetting. This

knowledge can contribute to better clinical treatment for memory-based anxiety disorders like

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.
3.8. Figures



Figure 1. Post-reactivation infusions of sulfasalazine block reconsolidation of object location memory. *A*) First learning reconsolidation blockade experimental design. Rats explored Open Field A for 10 min/day across 7 days, then 24 hours after the last session experienced a 10-min reactivation session in a modified version of Open Field A with post-reactivation infusions of SSZ or Veh. A 3-min test session occurred 24 hours following infusion where object location memory was assessed by moving one object to a novel location in Open field A. *B*) Sulfasalazine infusions post-reactivation blocks reconsolidation of object location memory. Vehicle-infused group (*n*=9) showed significantly higher average novelty ratio than SSZ group (*n*=8), which showed no novel location preference at test. *C*) Reconsolidation blockade of object location memory by SSZ is reactivation-dependent. Rats either received sulfasalazine infusion (NR=.78 ± .04, $t_{(3)}$ =6.22, *P*=.008), or vehicle infusion (NR=.8 ± .019, $t_{(2)}$ =15.5, *P*=.004) without prior reactivation session, or rats received no infusions at all (NR=.69 ± .02, $t_{(3)}$ =9.33, *P*=.003) but were subjected to a reactivation session. All groups showed significant preference for novel location at test, indicating no memory impairment. Data are expressed as the mean ± s.e.m. **P*<0.05 indicates significance from 0.5, no preference ratio (dotted line).



Figure 2. Reconsolidation blockade caused by post-reactivation infusions of sulfasalazine leads subsequent object location learning to be NMDAR-dependent. *A*) Second learning reconsolidation blockade experimental design. Rats explored Open Field A for 10 min/day across 7 days, then 24 hours later experienced a 10-min reactivation session with post-reactivation infusions of SSZ or Veh in a modified version of Open Field A. One day later, rats explored Open Field B for 4 sessions of 10-min across 2 days, with pre-training infusions of AP5 or Veh. Four groups (SSZ-AP5, SSZ-Veh, Veh-AP5, Veh-Veh) were tested on object location second learning memory 48 hours following training in Open Field B where one object was moved to a novel location. *B*) Reconsolidation blockade of first learning memory leads to subsequent learning to become NMDAR-dependent. Rats were infused with either SSZ or Veh after first learning reactivation, and AP5 or Veh prior to second learning training (*n*=6, 9, 10, 7 for SSZ-AP5, SSZ-Veh, Veh-AP5, Veh-Veh groups respectively). At the second learning probe test, all groups except SSZ-AP5 showed significant preference to the new object location. Data are expressed as the mean \pm s.e.m. **P*<0.05 indicates significance from 0.5, no preference ratio (dotted line).



Figure 3. GluA2-AMPAR expression does not correlate with memory expression at second learning test. *A*) Schematic representation of locations within the dorsal hippocampus, including injector tracts (thick black line), injection points (black dot) and punched CA1 area (dotted circle) for western blot analysis. Values on right side indicate anterior-posterior position relative to bregma (Paxinos and Watson). *B*) *Top:* Representative western blot bands of GluA2-AMPAR expression volume of each experimental group. *Bottom*: Relative amount of GluA2-AMPAR expression in PSD fractions of CA1 dHPC neurons remain unchanged by SSZ-induced reconsolidation blockade with or without NMDAR blockade of the second learning memory. Animals were infused with SSZ or Veh immediately post first learning reactivation, and AP5 or Veh prior to second learning training, resulting in four groups: SSZ-AP5 (*n*=6), SSZ-Veh (*n*=9), Veh-AP5 (*n*=10) and Veh-Veh (*n*=7). No significant difference between groups were observed. GluA2 levels are standardized to β -actin and expressed as relative percentage values of the Veh-Veh group ± s.e.m.



Figure 4. GluA2-AMPAR expression levels do not correlate with novelty ratio scores. No significant correlation found between relative GluA2 expression values to novelty ratio score, across all four experimental groups ($r_{(30)}$ =-1.13). Novelty ratio of 0.5, no preference, is denoted by the dotted line.

CHAPTER FOUR

GluA2-containing AMPA receptor expression in CA1 hippocampus does not correlate with decreasing object location memory

J Jane Zhang, Yun Lu, Karim Nader

4.1. Preface

After two studies on experimentally-induced amnesia, we stepped away from the second learning protocol to investigate the nature of forgetting, in order to give perspective to data from the previous two projects to memory loss that occurs naturally, without experimental intervention. Our aim was to characterize the rate of forgetting as retention time increased through evaluation at an object location novelty preference test, and obtain snapshots of postsynaptic GluA2-containing α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (GluA2-AMPAR) expression representative of specific time points as the object location memory is forgotten. Previous literature has shown that an object location memory can be gradually lost over time, but this forgetting can be prevented by blocking endocytosis of GluA2-AMPAR. This suggests that presence of surface GluA2-AMPAR is correlated with memory persistence, and their internalization is correlated with decay of a long-term object location memory.

Currently, the rate of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis as forgetting occurs is not yet known. We therefore aimed to characterize changes to behavioural and molecular correlates of forgetting. Do GluA2-AMPAR expression levels continue to decrease as retention time increases, even after memory is no longer behaviourally expressed? Do levels eventually return to the levels seen in naïve animals (i.e. before learning took place)? Answers to these questions can add context to observations from the previous two projects on experimental amnesia. For instance, does the percentage of GluA2-AMPAR expression level change caused by ZIP- or sulfasalazine-induced impairment also match the changes seen after a memory is forgotten? This would suggest that changes from ZIP or sulfasalazine imitate the effects of a certain number of days of forgetting.

Rats were given the same object location learning training seen in Projects 1 and 2. After training, they remained in the colony for varying retention times before being tested on novel location preference. As retention time increased, performance decreased, showing that the memory was forgotten around 5-7 days post-training. Afterwards, memory expression stayed constant as retention time increased up to 30 days, showing that the expression had reached a floor in terms of behavioural output.

If postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR expression in the dHPC is a correlate of object location memory, then we would expect to see a decrease of GluA2-AMPAR over time, to match the decrease in performance. However, western blot analyses of dHPC neurons did not show a positive correlation between average group novelty preference score and relative GluA2-AMPAR expression. We observed a non-linear relationship between GluA2-AMPAR expression and behaviour at test. GluA2-AMPAR expression was seen to increase steadily up to 7 days after training, which opposes the weakening of memory expression. Analyses of the loading control β actin indicated that there were changes of actin expression across conditions, suggesting that there are innate issues with using actin as a loading control to standardize GluA2-AMPAR expression changes from this task. This implied that western blots may be problematic when examining neural changes induced by learning and forgetting, which parsimoniously explains why the expected internalization of GluA2-AMPAR could not be consistently detected in previous projects. The non-linear pattern of GluA2-AMPAR expression observed made it difficult to answer many of our original questions about GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis patterns. In Chapter 5, the Discussion, we go over several interpretations of these data.

4.2. Abstract

Rats forget hippocampus-dependent long-term object location memory over time, reflected in reduced preference for location novelty during test. Whether neural correlates of memory reflect this forgetting has not yet been examined. Endocytosis of GluA2-containing α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (GluA2-AMPARs) has been shown to correlate with destabilization of memory and synaptic strength, and maintaining these receptors in the postsynaptic membrane can extend the duration of object location memory beyond its natural retention. Using western blots, we examined how post-synaptic expression of GluA2-AMPAR changes in the dorsal hippocampus CA1 region as a result of increasing time between training and test. Behavioural results indicated that memory is forgotten gradually over 5 days after training, but this decline was not accompanied by a parallel decrease in expressed GluA2-AMPARs. We also found evidence that β -actin may not provide a suitable loading control for these experimental paradigms of learning and memory loss.

4.3. Introduction

Although in recent years forgetting processes have attracted increased attention, mechanisms of forgetting remain relatively poorly understood. However, one possible mechanism of forgetting is emerging, involving the endocytosis of GluA2-subunit containing αamino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (GluA2-AMPARs) from the postsynaptic density (PSD) over time.

AMPARs mediate fast excitatory synaptic transmission in the mammalian central nervous system, and the trafficking of AMPARs to and from the synapse contributes critically to synaptic plasticity and modulation of synaptic strength (Malinow & Malenka, 2001). Short-term high-frequency stimulation leads to a prolonged increase in the synaptic potentiation (LTP), which has been shown to involve insertion of AMPARs into the postsynaptic density (PSD) (Y. Hayashi et al., 2000; W.-Y. Lu et al., 2001; Park, Penick, Edwards, Kauer, & Ehlers, 2004; Insuk Song & Huganir, 2002). Conversely, repetitive low-frequency stimulation can lead to a reduction of synaptic strength (long-term depression, LTD), which has been associated with the removal of GluA2-AMPARs from the PSD in the hippocampus and the cerebellum (Luthi et al., 1999; Steinberg et al., 2004). As LTP is widely accepted to be a possible cellular model underlying learning and memory processes (for example, in the amygdala, Maren, 1999; or the hippocampus, Bliss & Collingridge, 1993), regulation of AMPAR trafficking therefore must underlie changes in learning and memory (Santos et al., 2009). If maintaining synaptic strength underpins LTP and memory, forgetting mechanisms may likely involve counteracting processes, such as the synaptic weakening occurring in LTD (Tsumoto, 1993).

AMPARs are heterotetramers composed of four different subunit types, GluA1 to GluA4, and, although rare, homotetramers have also been observed (Lu et al., 2009, Wenthold et al.,

1996). Evidence of the role of GluA2-AMPARs in long-term memory has been provided by studies on the role PKMζ, a kinase that has been shown to be involved in long-term memory (LTM) maintenance (Migues et al., 2010; Serrano et al., 2008; Shema et al., 2007). Studies have shown that PKMζ is likely to maintain LTM by stabilizing GluA2-AMPARs in the PSD (Migues et al., 2014; Sacktor, 2011). Blocking PKMζ with pseudosubstrate zeta inhibitory peptide (ZIP) results in removal of GluA2-AMPARs from the postsynaptic membrane of neurons, which has been shown to induce amnesia in amygdala (Serrano et al., 2008), insular cortex (Shema et al., 2007), and hippocampus-dependent memories (Serrano et al., 2008; Migues et al., 2014; Hales, Ocampo, Broadbent, & Clark, 2016), among others. Furthermore, studies have found that blocking the activity-dependent endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs with the peptide TAT-GluA2_{3Y} prevents the amnesic effects of ZIP (Migues et al., 2010). These findings suggest that PKMζ maintains long-term memories by promoting GluA2-AMPAR expression at the PSD.

Further supporting the critical role of GluA2-AMPARs in memory persistence, daily infusions of GluA2_{3Y} into the dorsal hippocampus (dHPC) have been shown to extend the longevity of object location memory (Migues et al., 2016). Migues and colleagues showed in rats that long-term memory, assessed in an object location novelty preference task, gradually and progressively declined between 7 and 10 days after training, similar to the pattern of forgetting first quantified by Ebbinghaus in 1885 (Murre & Dros, 2015). Migues et al.'s data show that memory strength from an object location recognition task decreases over time until memory is no longer expressed, and suggest that this forgetting reflects active decay of the memory, rather than interference mechanisms. Additionally, postsynaptic GluA2-AMPARs has been shown to have a positive correlation with memory strength—increased memory expression of a contextual fear conditioning task was associated with higher GluA2-AMPAR expression (Migues et al., 2010).

Thus, the available findings strongly suggest that the presence of GluA2-AMPARs at the synapse is positively correlated with memory duration and strength, but the rate of PSD GluA2-AMPAR expression change correlated with forgetting has not yet been determined.

We therefore aimed to quantify levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression as an object location memory is lost over time. To date, the exact nature of how much GluA2-AMPARs must be internalized from the postsynaptic membrane in order to induce memory loss at the behavioural level is unclear. By quantifying the rate of GluA2-AMPAR expression change during natural forgetting, we can observe, for example, if there is a gradual decrease of GluA2-AMPARs correlated with forgetting, if there are sharp drops of GluA2-AMPAR levels at certain time points, and at what point, if at all, expression drops to levels comparable to those seen in naïve animals. The change in GluA2-AMPAR expression can be examined even after object location memory is no longer expressed. For instance, if memory is no longer expressed, but receptor expression levels are higher than those of naïve animals, indicating some lingering substrates of the memory, this could suggest that a threshold of GluA2-AMPARs needs to be reached for a memory can be behaviourally expressed. Thus, to show a clear correlation between loss of GluA2-AMPARs and a decrease in memory strength, we measured declining performance of an object location task in relation to increasing retention time between training and test, and quantified GluA2-AMPAR expression levels in dorsal hippocampus CA1 neurons at these cumulative time points. If endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs from the synaptic surface is indeed associated with memory loss, we expect to see a decrease of postsynaptic GluA2-AMPARs over time that correlates to forgetting of the object location memory. As this decrease would reflect memory decline that may be caused by a decay-like mechanism of forgetting

(Migues et al., 2016), amounts of GluA2-AMPAR internalization over time may also follow a decay pattern.

Our behavioural results replicate the forgetting curve previously described by Migues et al., (2016), but the biochemical data suggest that the relationship between surface GluA2-AMPAR expression and memory may not resemble a positive linear correlation.

4.4. *Methods*

4.4.1. Animal subjects

Male Long Evans rats (received at weight 275g-325g; Charles River) were housed in pairs in rectangular polyethylene cages with a PVC tube for environmental enrichment. Rats had *ad libitum* access to food and water. Lights in the colony were turned on at 7 a.m. and turned off at 7 p.m. daily. Behavioural studies were always performed between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m. All procedures were approved by the McGill University Animal Care and Use Committee, and complied with the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines.

4.4.2. Apparatus

An open field was set up in a windowless room (context room A; area 15.85 m², 3.98 m \times 3.98 m \times 2.65 m) with dim lighting. The floor level of the open field was illuminated with, on average, 13 lux. The open field was a circular area made with clear Plexiglas walls, with a total area of 3600 cm², and walls measuring 60 cm in height. A strip of black paper covered the lower 15 cm of each Plexiglas panel in order to minimize distraction of rats peering through the Plexiglas. One Plexiglas panel was labeled with a black and white striped pattern to act as a cue. Three objects were set up at northwest (NW), north (N), and northeast (NE) locations (see Figure 1A), with north arbitrarily assigned at the corner of the room opposite to the door. NE and NW

objects were identical, N objects were of the same height and texture but different colour and shape. Combination of objects were counterbalanced between rats. Bedding was made up of a 1:1 dried corn and woodchips mix. Flooring was a wooden pegboard into which objects can be screwed in and out. A camera hung 50 cm above the context. Behavioural testing occurred with the door closed with the experimenter outside of the room.

At the test session, the middle object in the open field was moved across the floor (see Figure 1A). The other two objects remained in the same position. Rats were placed in the open field facing the corner of the open field that was equidistant from all three objects to allow for rats to self-orient towards the objects.

4.4.3. Behavioural procedure

Rats were brought to a quiet hallway outside the context room to rest for 20 minutes before training. Training sessions consisted of daily 10-minute free exploration trials across seven days. Rats were lowered into the open field at a different corner of the open field each day (SE, SW, NW, NE), with their noses pointed away from the centre of the field. After each training session, rats were removed from the open field and returned to their home cage. Twentyminutes following completion of training for all rats, animals were returned to the colony room. After various durations of retention, rats were brought back to the context room for a test session. At test, the middle object was moved across the open field, with the other two objects remaining in the same position. Rats were placed in the centre of the open field, facing away from all three objects, and given 3 minutes of exploration time. After completion, rats were returned to their home cage. Following completion of testing of all rats, animals were returned to the colony. One group of rats (NT) were not given training but were kept in the experiment for the same amount of time as the rats given training and one day of retention time.

4.4.4. Sacrifice

For all groups, 24 hours after testing, rats were sacrificed for western blot analysis. Rats were anaesthetized with isoflurane then decapitated. Brains were removed and flash frozen over dry ice, then preserved in a -80°C freezer.

4.4.5. Behavioural scoring

Behavioral videos were scored manually. Exploratory behaviour was counted as the rat showing directed interest in the object, e.g. smelling from at most 3 cm away from the object, touching, climbing into the object. Rats climbing on top of the object was counted, but while there, usage of the object as a platform to explore the walls of the context was not counted. Scoring began immediately prior to the first instance of directed interest towards the object, and continued for 30 seconds.

Novel object location preference (novelty ratio) was calculated with the formula:

 $\frac{time\ exploring\ new\ location\ (s)}{total\ time\ exploring\ (s)}$

With three objects in the open field, this equation was defined as:

$$\frac{time \ exploring \ new \ location}{time \ exploring \ new \ location + (\frac{time \ spent \ exploring \ old \ location \ 1 + old \ location \ 2}{2})}{time \ exploring \ new \ location + (\frac{time \ spent \ exploring \ old \ location \ 1 + old \ location \ 2}{2})}{2}$$

The typical novelty ratio formula takes consideration of two objects, and therefore time spent exploring each object location has an equal weight of 50% of the total time exploring (equation denominator). However, here, the open field had 3 objects, and the time spent with the object at the new location would be underweighted against the other two objects (33% versus 66%). To account for this, the total time spent exploring the two objects at familiar locations was averaged, thus exploration of the two familiar locations was treated as exploration of one object. In this way, time spent at the new location and the familiar locations would be weighed equally.

A score of 0.5 represents equal preference for both object locations or no preference for either object. Due to the natural preference of rats for novelty over familiarity (Berlyne & Slater, 1957; Ennaceur & Delacour, 1988), a novelty ratio significantly higher than 0.5 indicates their attention to a change in the open field at the test session compared to the training sessions, which infers a retained training memory. A novelty ratio of 0.5 indicates animals show no preference for objects at the new location, and therefore have no memory from training. A low novelty ratio indicates preference for the old object location, and thus insufficient performance for the trained memory.

Behavioural data was analysed with t-tests to compare group mean novelty ratio to an estimated ratio of 0.5, no preference. Means were also compared across groups with a one-way ANOVA. Differences in GluA2-AMPAR expression across groups were also analyzed with one-way ANOVA. GluA2-AMPAR level and novelty ratio correlation was analyzed with Pearson's correlation.

4.4.6. Biochemistry

4.4.6.1. Subcellular fractionation for postsynaptic density

The dorsal hippocampus CA1 region was dissected from frozen brains with a 1 mm neuro punch (Fine Science Tools), and homogenized in cold Tris-HCl buffer (30 mM, pH 7.4) containing 4 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA and a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Complete, Roche). The hippocampus homogenates were then centrifuged at 4°C at 500 g for 10 min to remove nuclei and other debris. The supernatants were removed and centrifuged at 100,000 g at 4°C for 60 min. Resulting pellets were resuspended in a solution of the homogenization buffer and 0.5% Triton X-100 and incubated on ice for 20 min, then layered over 1 M sucrose. This was centrifuged again at 100,000 g for 60 min, allowing detergent-soluble membrane components

and extra-synaptic receptors to remain in the Triton-soluble fraction. The remaining Tritoninsoluble materials were pulled down into the sucrose layer, where proteins of the postsynaptic densities also lay. This final pellet was resuspended in homogenization buffer and stored at -80°C. Total protein concentration was determined with the BCA protein assay kit (Pierce) 4.4.6.2. Western blots

Western blots were performed using 8% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes overnight. Membranes were washed with 2% BSA in TBS-Tween for 1 hour at room temperature, then incubated with polyclonal antibodies to GluA2 (1 mg/ml, Millipore; dilution 1/2000) and monoclonal β-actin (2 mg/ml, Sigma; 1/10,000) for 20 hours at 4°C. Membranes were washed with TBS-Tween and incubated in rabbit horseradish antibody (GluA2, NR2B; GE Healthcare UK; 1/10,000) or mouse horseradish antibody (actin; GE Healthcare UK; 1/10,000) at room temperature for 1 hour. Detection of bands was completed with Pierce ECL2 western blotting substrate (ThermoScientific). Membrane blots were scanned with a Storm Laser Scanner (Molecular Dynamics) and analyzed with ImageQuant software (ABI).

4.5. Results

4.5.1. Object location memory declines over time

To assess when a noticeable decrease in memory expression would be observed, as well as when the animals will have forgotten the memory, we trained different groups of rats on an object location memory task (Figure 1A) followed by varying retention delays. Each group of rats was given differing lengths of retention time between the end of training and test session (R=1d, 3.5d, 5d, 7d, 14d, 30d). Analysis of memory expression at test revealed that groups given 1 day of retention time (NR=.69 ± .069, $t_{(12)}$ =2.68, *P*=.02; data presented as mean novelty ratio ± s.e.m.) or 3.5 days of retention time (NR=.7 ± .078, $t_{(6)}$ =2.54, *P*=.044) had an average novelty ratio that was significantly higher than 0.5, a no-preference value (Figure 1B). Animals that experienced retention of 5 days or longer showed no significant preference for the new or old object location (mean novelty ratio for 5d group=.58 ± .084; 7d=.47 ± .055; 14d=.55 ± .067; 30d=.59 ± .067; *t*>1 for all). No groups showed a significant preference for the old location.

A one-way ANOVA showed no significant differences between the 5 groups. However, a downwards trend can be seen across increasing retention time (Figure 1B). Across groups R=1d to R=7d, novelty ratio decreased progressively. Groups R=7d, 14d, and 30d, all had novelty ratios around 0.5, which suggests that the trained location memory had been forgotten. Additionally, we saw no differences of total time spent exploring between groups, indicating no group differences in motility or motivated exploratory activity directed towards the objects. *4.5.2. GluA2-AMPAR expression at CA1 PSD does not decrease uniformly over time*

To assess if an increase in GluA2-AMPAR expression in the CA1 PSD correlated with acquisition of an object location memory, we quantified the amount of surface GluA2-AMPAR expression in PSD fractions of rats that experienced spatial training and compared them to yoked rats that were not trained. The trained rats were given 1 day of retention time after object location training before returning to the open field for a 3-minute probe test to verify they had acquired the object location memory. Twenty-four hours after test, all rats were sacrificed and their brains frozen over dry ice. The CA1 HC (Figure 2) was sampled then analyzed for GluA2-AMPAR and β -actin expression.

We hypothesized that the expression of GluA2-AMPAR would correlate with performance and expected rats showing learning, indicated by significant novelty ratio scores, would have higher levels of relative GluA2-AMPARs compared to rats that had no training. However, this was not what was observed. GluA2-AMPAR levels in the dHPC CA1 did not significantly change following object location learning in trained rats (R=1d) compared to untrained rats (no-training, NT; $t_{(19)}$ <1; Figure 3A). Therefore, despite the R=1d rats showing significant preference for the novel object location at test (see Figure 1), CA1 neurons did not show higher GluA2-AMPAR expression. Although these results were unexpected, we were still interested in determining the effect of increasing retention time on GluA2 expression. We therefore also probed for GluA2-AMPAR expression across the different groups of rats with varying retention delays (R=3.5, 5d, 7d, 14d, 30d) (Figure 3B). A one-way ANOVA revealed there is a significant difference between groups ($F_{(6, 50)}$ =5.76, P=.0001). Post-hoc Bonferroni analyses showed that the R=7d group factored in all the group pairs that showed significant differences in GluA2-AMPAR expression: NT and 7d (P=0.002), 1d and 7d (P<.001), 5d and 7d (P < .001), and 30d and 7d (P = .011). Nevertheless, we were more concerned about the trend of GluA2-AMPAR expression change in relation to increasing retention time, and how these changes correlated with memory performance (i.e. novelty ratio score). Though behavioural performance of trained rats decreased as retention time lengthened, there appeared to be a trend of GluA2-AMPAR expression increasing as retention time increased. However, this pattern was disturbed by the R=5d and R=30d groups, which showed the lowest and highest relative levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression, respectively. Additionally, a cumulative increase was not observed between consecutive groups (i.e. R=1d group GluA2-AMPAR expression was not less than that of R=3.5d, R=3.5d was not less than from R=5d, and so on), which would have indicated increasing retention time as a main contributor to changes of GluA2-AMPAR expression.

Therefore, on the whole, a direct correlation between retention time and expression of GluA2 in the PSD of dHPC CA1 neurons could not be drawn.

Focusing only on the groups given training, a one-way ANOVA nevertheless showed that there was a significant effect of retention time ($F_{(5, 44)}$ =5.873, P<.001). By removing the notraining group from the analyses, the differences lie between the 1d and 7d groups (P=.001), 5d and 7d (P<.001), and 30d and 7d (P=.014). Again it is the group given 7d of retention that contributed to all the pairwise group differences observed. Thus, it is possible that western blot analyses for this group skewed the results of all group analyses. Indeed, after removing the data of the R=7d group from the analysis, an ANOVA showed no significant difference between groups ($F_{(5,43)}$ =2.41, P=.520).

4.5.3. GluA2-AMPAR expression at PSD does not correlate with object location memory

To better evaluate the contribution of individual differences, we correlated the relative GluA2-AMPAR levels of samples to the respective novelty ratio. Behavioural results showed no linear increase or decrease of GluA2-AMPAR expression based on retention time. Focusing only on the groups that showed significant novelty preference at test, R=1d and 3d, it seemed that GluA2 increased as novelty preference decreased. However, this pattern was not continued with R=5d. We were interested in seeing if there was a correlation between the GluA2-AMPAR levels and the corresponding average novelty ratio score and found no significant correlation between GluA2-AMPARs and novelty ratio (Figure 4). When looking at individual groups, there was no correlation between GluA2 and novelty ratio for most groups, except R=3.5d ($r_{(48)}$ =0.16 ± 0.01, P=0.267).

4.5.4. Actin expression increases with new object location learning

We considered the possibility that the seemingly random pattern of GluA2-AMPAR expression across groups reflected confounds with our biochemical methods. In particular, we wanted to verify that β -actin was indeed appropriate as a loading control for western blots in these learning-based experiments. Although the structural protein β -actin is commonly used as loading control in western blots probing for GluA2-AMPAR expression, this experiment was unique in that it measured changes due only to learning and forgetting. A few studies have purported that actin is not suitable as a loading control for western analysis (Dittmer & Dittmer, 2006). Ideally, the protein chosen as loading control stays at consistent levels across experimental conditions. But actin growth has been correlated with new learning (Fukazawa et al., 2003; Lamprecht, 2014; B. Lin et al., 2005), and thus actin levels might significantly increase after training, disqualifying its appropriateness as a baseline reference for standardization of the protein of interest. However, remaining cognizant of the levels of actin in each assay should nevertheless allow for valid analyses, as long as conclusions are appended with this additional corollary.

The data from the yoked no-training (NT) and trained rats given one day of retention before testing (R=1d) did indeed show that actin levels in the CA1 dHPC increased due to the object location training (Figure 5A). Trained rats had 57% more actin in the PSD of hippocampal CA1 (dHPC CA1) compared to rats with no training. An independent samples t-test indicated that the difference was not significant ($t_{(19)}$ =1.903, P=.074). However, when comparing levels across all groups, actin expression increased up to 5d days after training finished, before decreasing at R=7d. Post-hoc Bonferroni analyses showed significant differences between the R=5d group and all other trained groups (P=.001), save R=14d; and R=14d and all other trained

groups (P=.001), save R=5d (Figure 5B). Thus, it was possible that the inconsistency of β -actin levels across experimental conditions has biased our analysis.

To investigate this further, we reanalyzed GluA2-AMPAR expression levels that were not previously standardized to actin (i.e. using the direct volume output values of the western bands). A pattern similar to previously standardized results (Figure 3B) was observed (Figure 6). However, compared to the standardized analyses, the R=5d group had much higher levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression. Without the previous anomaly of a lowered R=5d group average, these data showed more strongly that GluA2-AMPAR expression increased despite decreased memory expression, up to R=7d. The overall trend suggested that GluA2-AMPAR expression increased up to R=7d, after which GluA2-AMPAR expression dropped. Post-hoc Bonferroni analyses revealed significant group differences between the no-training group and R=3.5d, 5d, 7d, and 14d. R=1d GluA2-AMPAR expression was also significantly different from R=3.5, 5, 7 and 14d averages. Additionally, a significant difference was seen between R=5d and 30d. Lastly, there did not seem to be a positive linear correlation between GluA2-AMPAR and actin levels, which contributed to the difficulty in making a firm conclusion about GluA2-AMPAR expression changes as a result of increasing retention time.

4.6. Discussion

We explored how dHPC-based object location memory performance diminishes as retention time after training increases, and how levels of GluA2-AMPARs in the PSD of dHPC CA1 neurons change as time after training increases. We expected that increased retention time would lead to increased forgetting, which could be observed by measuring novel object preference at test, as well as the relative amount of postsynaptic GluA2-AMPARs endocytosed.

Our behavioural results showed that unsurprisingly, rats from the R=1d retention group showed the highest novelty preference at test compared to other groups. As retention time increased, average novelty ratio per group decreased, up to 7 days post-training. Both R=1d and 3.5d had novelty ratio scores significantly different from 0.5. The scores from the R=5d group was lower, and after 7 days of retention time (R=7d), scores were not significantly different from 0.5, indicating no novelty preference, suggesting that at this point the memory is functionally lost. This held for 14d and 30d as well, as the behaviour reached a floor. We therefore concluded that the object location memory lasted up to 5d. This behaviour is consistent with previous data (Migues et al., 2016; Hardt et al., 2010). The data confirmed that object location memory will gradually weaken over time if there is no intervention in between training and test. Whether this memory loss is caused by a decay of the memory trace, or interference due to new learning cannot be determined from behavioural data. Yet, based on the work by Migues et al. (2016), who showed that in this task it is unlikely that memory interference contributes to forgetting, our data suggest that this memory loss may likely be driven by an active decay process (Migues et al., 2016; Hardt et al., 2013). However, patterns observed in our molecular data did not lend themselves easily to interpretation, nor did they match previous literature about GluA2-AMPAR. Based on GluA2-AMPAR expression data that was not standardized to loading control, surface GluA2-AMPAR levels across consecutive groups seemed to rise to a peak at R=5d, and then decrease again afterwards (Figure 6). As novelty preference is an indicator of memory strength, the pattern of GluA2-AMPAR expression increasing as memory is forgotten goes against the existing understanding of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis. As research has shown a positive, linear correlation exists between amount of postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR in amygdala neurons and conditioned fear memory strength (Migues et al., 2010), our observations were unexpected.

Another surprising observation was that no change in GluA2-AMPAR expression levels was noticed between the R=1d trained group and the no-training group. If GluA2-AMPARs are a neural correlate of LTM maintenance and memory strength, then we would expect to see an increase of GluA2-AMPARs after new learning. One interpretation of this data would suggest that GluA2-AMPARs do not begin to accumulate in the postsynaptic membrane until after 24 hours post-training, at a time point later than when we sacrificed the animal. Typically, after LTP induction, GluA1-AMPARs inserted into the PSD are gradually exchanged with GluA2-AMPARs over a timeline of minutes to hours without causing a change in synaptic strength (Shi et al., 2001; Plant et al., 2006; McCormack et al., 2006). Thus, perhaps for 24 hours posttraining, memory of the object location training is mediated primarily by GluA1-containing receptors. However, this contradicts current literature. The insertion of GluA1-AMPARs and their gradual replacement with GluA2-AMPARs is thought to help stabilize LTP at the synapse, and thus is part of the process of memory consolidation (Hong et al., 2013; Joels & Lamprecht, 2010; Shi et al., 2001). Because cellular consolidation of spatial memories has been shown to usually occur over a few hours (see McGaugh, 2000, for review), it therefore seemed unlikely this process could stretch out past one day. Additionally, the data showed no significant increase of GluA2-AMPAR expression even with 3.5 days of retention.

Rather, the results may reflect the test session acting as an additional training session, which would have induced a new learning experience. This new learning may have upregulated GluA2-AMPARs after the test completed and that memory was consolidated. However, all rats experienced the same test session, so any upregulation as a result of new learning is likely to be consistent across all groups. Alternatively, if there are different amounts of GluA2-AMPAR upregulated depending on retention time given, this would suggest that the amount of retention

time affects mechanisms of future learning (i.e. the test session), such that less GluA2-AMPAR increase is seen when the animals are tested closer to training, and more GluA2-AMPARs are seen when tested as retention time increases up to 5 to 7 days. But this interpretation makes it difficult to reconcile the downregulated GluA2-AMPARs observed in R=14d and 30d groups. On the whole, our findings are conflicting and no linear correlation could be detected between postsynaptic GluA2-AMPAR expression in the CA1 and memory expression as indexed by novelty ratio scores. This does not mean that a correlation does not exist, but rather, may indicate that western blots are not a sensitive enough method by which to quantify real GluA2-AMPAR changes in object location memory. The changes detected here might therefore be artifacts compounded from confounding variables, but not specifically due to changes in memory strength.

Immunoblots have been previously used to assess glutamate receptor expression in the rat hippocampus CA1 (for example, Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011; Heynen, Quinlan, Bae, & Bear, 2000), but these studies induce a strong, acute behavioural or electrophysiological response (contextual freezing or high frequency stimulation, respectively). A possible issue with a non-aversive, non-associative task like object location learning is that the hippocampal signal of the memory representation could be too small to be accurately detected against the background noise of all hippocampus function. In other words, the number of neurons recruited in an object location memory might be too small, thus rendering it impossible to detect any significant changes of their signal. GluA2-AMPAR are present in all excitatory synapses in the hippocampus (Lu et al., 2009), and the task likely only recruits a small fraction of dHPC neurons. Although the percentage of neurons recruited to a non-goal oriented exploratory task like object location learning is not well-known, studies have shown that increasing the activity of cAMP response

element binding protein (CREB) in CA1 neurons before a contextual fear memory, a process which may underlie hippocampal memory formation, results in recruitment of around 25% of neurons (Restivo, Tafi, Ammassari-Teule, & Marie, 2009; Rogerson et al., 2014). Presumably, a less emotionally salient memory like object location would result in even fewer neurons and/or synapses being recruited. In comparison, the amount of lateral amygdala neurons that can encode an extremely salient tone-shock presentation exceeds 70%—although some evidence shows that only 10-30% may be needed for a single memory to be expressed (Han et al., 2007; Rumpel, LeDoux, Zador, & Malinow, 2005). Thus, even after acquisition of a spatial memory, the number of recruited neurons may be small compared to all available and active CA1 neurons encoding for daily spatial information, thereby making detection of changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression extremely difficult.

Finally, our interpretations may not be reliable due to the inconsistency of our loading control, actin, across experimental groups. Taking into consideration that the pattern of the biochemical data neither matches the pattern of behavioural data, opposing the literature on GluA2-AMPARs, the most parsimonious interpretation seems to be that the methods used to detect biochemical changes relating to this type of memory were not sensitive enough for our intended analysis. Therefore, the questions of the rate of GluA2-AMPAR expression changes, and what levels are needed for memory expression and/or memory loss, at present cannot be definitively answered. Other techniques might allow more tuned quantification of GluA2-AMPAR in the PSD, such as labelling endocytosed GluA2-AMPARs using a biotinylation assay (Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011). However, this would not solve the innate signal-noise resolution issue of object location memories in the dHPC. If GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis is to be properly studied in these types of memory, one would first need to find a way to increase signal or decrease noise.

Future research should involve either amplifying the neuronal signal representing the object location memory, or reducing noise of hippocampal neurons irrelevant to the target behaviour. For example, noradrenaline application to hippocampal cells (i.e., as a result of connections from the locus ceoruleus, or the hippocampal-ventral tegmental area loop) may be capable of accomplishing this (Otmakhova, Duzel, Deutch, & Lisman, 2013; Susan J. Sara, 1985).

4.7. Conclusion

In this study we showed behavioural evidence for the rate of forgetting an object location memory over time. However, we were not able to substantiate the behavioural data with biochemical data, and therefore cannot make firm conclusions about whether the forgetting occurred due to decay of the memory trace through loss of GluA2-AMPARs from the PSD. Over the month of retention time, there seemed to be very little change in GluA2-AMPAR expression in the PSD of hippocampal CA1 neurons compared to control animals, with the exception of rats that were tested 7 days after training. Based on our understanding of how plentiful GluA2-AMPARs are in the hippocampus, the possible low signal in object location memories, and the sensitivity of our biochemical assay, we concluded that western blots may not provide the ideal tool to quantify CA1 GluA2-AMPAR expression levels.

Understanding the regulation and function of GluA2-AMPARs in synapses is increasingly imperative as research interest builds in forgetting mechanisms and memory dysfunction. Downregulation of GluA2-AMPARs in human hippocampus neurons has been implicated with increased glutamate-mediated vulnerability to Alzheimer's pathology (Carter et al., 2004), and cortical neurons in Alzheimer's patients revealed up to 40% less GluA2-AMPAR in the PSD compared to controls (Gong, Lippa, Zhu, Lin, & Rosso, 2009). Upregulation of

GluA2-AMPAR has also been proposed to offset mild cognitive impairment that results from patients with subcortical ischemic vascular dementia (Mohamed et al., 2011). Therefore, characterizing how GluA2-AMPAR levels are related to memory retention and associated memory strength may help creating possible therapies to prevent memory dysfunctions. In addition to preventing endocytosis, work can also be done to pharmacologically increase GluA2-AMPAR levels, which may be used in clinical treatments to boost memory longevity.

4.8. Figures



Figure 1. Object location memory as indicated by novelty preference decreases as retention time increases. A) Experimental design. Rats explored Open Field A for 10 min/day across 7 days, then were left undisturbed in their colony room for 1, 3.5, 5, 7, 14, and 30 days. A 3-min test session occurred after retention where object location memory was assessed by moving one object to a novel location in Open field A. B) Object location memory as indicated by novelty preference ratio decreased with increasing retention time. *n*=8 per group, except R=1d group (*n*=7). **P*<0.05 indicates significance from 0.5, no preference, denoted by the dotted line. Data presented as means \pm s.e.m.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of sampled locations within the dorsal hippocampus and punched CA1 area (dotted circle) for western blot analysis. Values on right side indicate anterior-posterior position relative to bregma (Paxinos and Watson, 2013).



Figure 3. GluA2-AMPAR expression levels in CA1 PSD do not change linearly as a function of training or retention time. *A*) No significant difference was observed between surface GluA2-AMPAR expression of the no-training group and R=1d group. GluA2-AMPAR levels are expressed as relative percentages values of the no-training group (set at 100%). Raw GluA2-AMPAR expression values were standardized to group actin expression. *n*=7 for no-training group, *n*=14 for retention=1d. *B*) *Top:* Representative western blot bands of GluA2-AMPAR expression volume of each experimental group. *Bottom:* GluA2-AMPAR expression levels in CA1 PSD do not decrease with time. A significant difference between groups was found for R=7d and no-training (NT), 1d, 3,5d, 5d, and 30d. All values are presented as percentages of average GluA2-AMPAR expression in the R=1d group compared with the no-training group (set at 100%). Output GluA2-AMPAR expression values were standardized to β -actin as loading control. *n*=6-8 rats per group. Two outliers in the R=14d group were removed due to darkness of the bands. **P*<.05 for all groups besides R=3.5d and R=14d. Data are expressed as the mean ± s.e.m.



Figure 4. No correlation observed between individual novelty ratio versus GluA2-AMPAR levels in trained rats ($r_{(48)}$ =0.16). All GluA2-AMPAR percentage levels are standardized to the no-training (NT) group, as in Figure 4. NT rats are excluded. *n*=6-8 rats per group, except R=1d, *n*=13. Novelty ratio of 0.5, no preference, is denoted by the dotted line.



Figure 5. Actin expression levels change as retention time increases. *A*) Actin levels in CA1 PSD increases after object location training. Average amount of actin are shown as a percentage of no-training controls (set as 100%). *n*=7 for no-training (NT), *n*=13 for retention=1d. *B*) Actin levels in CA1 PSD increases after object location training up to 5d. Average amount of actin is shown as a percentage of no-training controls (set as 100%). *n*=7-8 rats per group except R=1d. ***P*<.001 for all groups except R=14d. ##*P*<.001 for all groups except R=5d. Data are expressed as the mean \pm s.e.m.



Figure 6. GluA2-AMPAR expression levels not standardized to loading control (actin) in CA1 PSD do not change linearly as a function of training or retention time. Average amount of GluA2-AMPAR expression is shown as a percentage of no-training controls (set as 100%). *significance from R=3d and R=5d: P<0.001; from R=7d: P=0.002; from R=14d: P=0.006. #significance from R=3d and R=5d: P<0.001; from R=7d: P=0.001; and from R=14d: P=0.003. **P=0.001 between R=5d and R=30d. Data are expressed as the mean ± s.e.m.

Chapter 5 — Discussion

CHAPTER FIVE

General discussion

5.1. Rationale of studies

In general, there are two ways to frame how experimental amnesia of a consolidated memory or a reactivated memory can occur. The memory is lost either through a storage impairment, where the memory representation is rendered unavailable, or a retrieval impairment, where the memory representation is rendered inaccessible. We were interested in showing how erasure of a long-term object location memory (LTM) through infusions of PKMζ inhibitor ZIP, or blocking reconsolidation through post-reactivation infusions of transcription inhibitor sulfasalazine (SSZ), caused either a storage or retrieval impairment of the memory. In addition, we were interested in discovering the relationship of the emergent behavioural impairments with the loss of a neural correlate of memory (GluA2-AMPARs), in not only cases of experimentally-induced amnesia, but also in forgetting, which likely occurs through a decay-like mechanism. We wanted to show both behavioural and molecular evidence for how storage impairment of a memory can lead to memory deficits. Therefore, overall, we hoped to increase our understanding of how mechanisms of memory loss involving GluA2-containing AMPARs occurs.

The exact nature of the relationship between α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs) and memory loss is still being established. The cellular models of synaptic plasticity, long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD), involve insertion and removal of AMPARs, respectively, from the plasma membrane of the postsynaptic density (PSD), a mechanism that seems to modulate postsynaptic expression of synaptic strength (Kessels & Malinow, 2009). This ability marks AMPARs as prominent neural correlates of many types of memory, including object location memories represented in the dorsal hippocampus (Assini et al., 2009; Gilbert & Kesner, 2004; Mumby, Gaskin, Glenn, Schramek, & Lehmann, 2002). Current research has built a wealth of knowledge about how AMPAR trafficking in and out of the excitatory synapses leads to learning and memory, including findings about how insertion of AMPARs containing the GluA2 subunit (GluA2-AMPARs) in the PSD are required for sustained LTP, memory strengthening, and memory maintenance, and how removal of these receptors from the synapse result in LTD and memory weakening (see Kessels & Malinow, 2009, and Huganir & Nicoll, 2013, for a review). There is compelling evidence that removal of GluA2-AMPARs from the synaptic surface leads to decay of LTP (Dong et al., 2015), and loss of LTM (Migues et al., 2010; Migues et al., 2014), and blocking GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis has been shown to prevent these decay effects (Migues et al., 2016). In support of this, a proposed mechanism of memory maintenance involving constitutive activity of PKMζ is hypothesized to preserve GluA2-AMPARs in the PSD (Migues et al., 2010; Sacktor, 2011; Yao et al., 2008). Data on the whole suggest that GluA2-AMPARs confer stability to the putative memory trace (Man, 2011), and removal of GluA2-AMPARs will disrupt the memory (Hardt, Nader, & Wang, 2014).

This research led us to the question of how the rate or amount of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis affects memory loss. Studies have linked increasing surface GluA2-AMPAR presence to increasing memory strength (Migues et al., 2010), but the opposite relationship, of decreasing amounts of GluA2-AMPARs to decreasing memory strength, leading to memory loss, had not yet been explicitly shown. Furthermore, the relative percentage of GluA2-AMPARs that must be internalized from the postsynaptic membrane to manifest behavioural impairment was not known. We intended to examine if observed levels of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis in neurons recruited in the memory representation directly correlate to a decrease in memory expression, as measured by an object location preference task. Thus, overall, our research goal was to relate how removal of surface GluA2-AMPARs in dorsal hippocampus neurons leads to a
storage loss of the memory trace, leading to experimental amnesia (Project 1, blocking long-term memory maintenance, and Project 2, blocking reconsolidation), and forgetting over time (Project 3). Comparing results from the three projects would allow us to determine whether changes to GluA2-AMPAR expression as a result of experimentally-induced amnesia caused similar changes to those associated with natural forgetting.

5.2. Summary of findings

5.2.1. Experimental amnesia causes storage loss of spatial learning memory

For Projects 1 and 2, we employed a second learning paradigm originally developed in our lab (Hardt et al., 2009), to decipher the nature of experimental amnesia. This protocol makes a prediction about whether an amnesic intervention (i.e. here, either post-consolidation ZIP or post-reactivation sulfasalazine infusions) leads to a storage or retrieval impairment of a first learning memory based on the efficacy of AP5 infusions (i.e. NMDAR impairment) on second learning acquisition. While NMDAR activation is required for the first time a task is learned, second learning has been shown not to require NMDAR activation (for example, Bannerman et al., 1995; Hardt et al., 2009; Tayler et al., 2011; Wiltgen et al., 2011). We therefore hypothesized that if the storage of a first-learned memory was impaired, then a subsequently learned object location memory would be acquired in an NMDAR-dependent manner, as if the learning was naïve. Had the amnesia been a product of retrieval impairment, acquisition of a second learning experience would have remained NMDAR-independent. This procedure thus forms a positive prediction about the cause of the amnesia, rather than relying on negative results (i.e. a lack of memory) that historically led to confounding interpretations of behavioural data (see Gold & King, 1974; Nader, 2009). With this procedure, we were able to confirm that ZIP-induced

impairment of LTM and sulfasalazine-induced reconsolidation blockade—and any associated GluA2-AMPAR changes—could be categorized as a storage impairment of the memory trace.

Our hypotheses were confirmed for the behavioural components of both Projects 1 and 2. Erasing long-term memory through infusions of PKMζ-inhibitor ZIP or blocking reconsolidation of a memory with post-reactivation infusions of transcription blocker sulfasalazine lead to a second learning memory to be NMDAR-dependent, suggesting that these treatments lead to a storage impairment of object location memory (Chapter 2, Figure 4; Chapter 3, Figure 2, respectively). Building off these results, if experimental amnesia was indeed caused by a storage impairment of the memory trace, then it is possible to measure molecular changes in the PSD that are the root of the storage of loss. Therefore, the behavioural results lend support to our hypothesis that GluA2-AMPAR expression levels would decrease after inducing amnesia. Blocking PKMζ with ZIP will disrupt the maintenance of GluA2-AMPARs in the PSD (Migues et al., 2010). Reactivation of a memory has also been shown to involve surface GluA2-AMPAR internalization, causing destabilization (Hong et al., 2013; Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011); blocking the subsequent restabilization process known as reconsolidation, must therefore prevent reinsertion of GluA2-AMPARs. Thus, in both situations, we anticipated that GluA2-AMPAR levels in the PSD would decrease after inducing experimental amnesia of first learning memory.

However, our biochemical analyses did not confirm our hypothesis. Neither Project 1 nor 2 found a significant difference in surface GluA2-AMPAR expression in PSD fractions of CA1 neurons between the fully amnesic group (drug-AP5) and other treatment groups (Chapter 2, Figure 4; Chapter 3, Figure 2). This might be reflective of the pattern seen in the behavioural results, as neither project showed a significant difference between their treatment groups in terms of novelty ratio score (Chapter 2, Figure 5; Chapter 3, Figure 3). In Project 1, interestingly, we found an upregulation of GluA2-AMPARs associated with decreasing novel location preference, but only in animals infused with ZIP (Chapter 2, Figure 7). But we did not see any similar changes in Project 2 (Chapter 3, Figure 3). The amount of GluA2-AMPARs internalized in these conditions was inconsistent with what we expected in both projects. In Project 1, some groups showed increased levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression after impairing LTM; in Project 2, we saw no changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression in rats given reconsolidation blockade, compared to those with non-impaired memories. Thus, because of these inconsistencies, the data overall suggest that western blotting may not be a sensitive technique enough to detect changes in surface GluA2-AMPAR expression caused by our experimental method. These interpretations will be discussed more in depth in Section 4.

5.2.2. Forgetting of the object location task does not correlate with changes in surface GluA2-AMPAR expression in CA1

We wanted to compare the changes seen in GluA2-AMPAR expression after experimental amnesia with changes that occurred as memory was forgotten. If similarities between GluA2-AMPAR expression patterns in situations of experimental amnesia and regular forgetting were found, this would allow formation of broader conclusions about the role of GluA2-AMPAR internalization in memory loss. Thus in Project 3, different groups of rats received object location learning and then were tested after varying retention intervals. Behaviourally, we expected to see a gradual decline of novel object location preference (i.e. decreasing novelty ratio) as retention time increased, until the performance plateaued at no preference or equal preference ratio (0.5 novelty ratio score). Based on the literature, we then hypothesized that we would see a corresponding decline in GluA2-AMPAR expression in CA1 that would match the behavioural pattern.

Being able to show GluA2-AMPAR expression changes as forgetting progresses would provide information about the percentage of GluA2-AMPARs internalized in order for the animal to behaviourally show no memory expression. Many behavioural tasks such as the object location protocol have a performance floor—a point where the animal has functionally forgotten the memory and cannot show "worse" performance. In this task, this point is the no preference ratio of 0.5. If GluA2-AMPAR levels continued to change (i.e. decline) even after the animal has reached this limit of memory expression (i.e. the memory has been forgotten), this would suggest that GluA2-AMPAR changes only correlate with memory expression up to a point. In other words, this might indicate a threshold of GluA2-AMPAR expression needed in order for the neural representation of memory to be expressible as behaviour. Thus, levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression in groups that had forgotten the memory were of unique interest for our study. Equally important at the outset of the project was the percentage of GluA2-AMPAR change between good and inadequate performance at test, and if these changes were relatively similar to those that would be observed when the memory is experimentally erased (Projects 1 and 2). For example, would the relative percentage of GluA2-AMPARs internalized after ZIP infusions correspond to the GluA2-AMPAR levels in rats that experienced retention time of 5 to 7 days, when the memory has recently been forgotten, or at 30 days, when the memory may have been forgotten for weeks? Compiling the data from all three projects would allow us to build a profile of how much GluA2-AMPAR internalization leads to functional memory loss. This would show the ratio of GluA2-AMPARs that could be lost through experimental means versus endogenous means. Unfortunately, inconsistent molecular data did not allow for these comparisons.

Like Projects 1 and 2, the behavioural results of Project 3 matched our predictions. Corroborating previous work (Migues et al., 2016), we saw a gradual decline in novelty ratio

score as retention time increased. As retention time increased past a week, average novelty ratio scores remained around 0.5. This showed that object location memory weakened over time, and was fully forgotten between 5 to 7 days after training. The memory may have been lost through decay or interference processes, but decay is more likely for three reasons: because animals were not exposed to any new learning experiences during the retention time, because these hippocampus-dependent LTM have been shown to be relatively immune to interference (Migues et al., 2016), and because it would fit in with the framework of losing postsynaptic GluA2-AMPARs over time.

However, western blot analysis did not show results matching our hypothesis. We observed overall a large spike of GluA2-AMPAR expression after 7 days of retention time; it was significantly higher than the expression seen in many other groups. This uptick followed a dip in GluA2-AMPAR expression after 5 days of retention, which showed the lowest GluA2-AMPAR expression relative to all groups (Chapter 4, Figure 3). When we correlated individual novelty ratio score with GluA2-AMPAR expression of the sample, only the group that was given three and a half days of retention (R=3.5d) displayed a significant correlation, in which increasing GluA2-AMPAR expression correlated with increasing novelty ratio score. This in itself seemed to oppose the negative correlation that was observed in ZIP-infused animals in Project 1. The lack of consistent results across groups and across experiments makes interpretation difficult. However, as stated in Chapter 4, drawing firm conclusions here is problematic since, due to issues with the loading control, we could not be certain that GluA2-AMPAR levels seen in the no-training group accurately represented true GluA2-AMPAR levels, and thus standardizing other experimental groups to the data of the no-training group may have skewed actual GluA2-AMPAR levels across all groups.

Chapter 5 — Discussion

Despite these reservations, we would like to note a potentially interesting finding when looking and Projects 1 and 3. The possibility of an upregulation of GluA2-AMPAR expression at R=7d (Chapter 3, Figure 3) or even R=5d (unstandardized GluA2-AMPAR expression; Chapter 3, Figure 6) is surprising because at that point, the memory is no longer expressed behaviourally (i.e. it has been forgotten), so we would expect less GluA2-AMPARs in the PSD fractions. It was also surprising to find more GluA2-AMPAR expression in ZIP-infused rats that preferred to explore the old object location at a second learning test (Chapter 2, Figure 7). These situations both are snapshots in time when the object location memory is forgotten, as indicated by behavioural results. Could there be a subsequent increase in GluA2-AMPARs that occurs after a first-learned object location memory is lost? If so, what is the function of this upregulation? One plausible explanation is that new GluA2-AMPARs are being inserted as a result of a new learning experience. For example, the probe test could have induced a new learning experience that translated to upregulated GluA2-AMPARs seen 24 hours later. However, this would not explain why some treatment groups showed greater upregulation than others, since all rats received the same test session. In particular, we did not observe the same GluA2-AMPAR upregulation for the R=14d and 30d group in Project 3, which would be expected if forgetting was a prerequisite to GluA2-AMPAR upregulation after testing. Thus, even if the nature of GluA2-AMPAR involvement is more nuanced than we originally predicted, the current data does not lend themselves to clear conclusions.

Taking into consideration the difficulties in detecting GluA2-AMPAR changes across groups throughout all three projects, the most likely conclusion may be that western blotting did not accurately quantify GluA2-AMPAR expression across all three experiments. It may even be that the observed molecular changes were due to artifacts in the procedure, and thus the

fluctuations were at least somewhat random. Ultimately, the ambiguity of our molecular results prevent us from making conclusions about GluA2-AMPARs' correlation with memory loss, comparing the patterns across the three projects, and from inferring how GluA2-AMPAR levels change as a result of the various conditions of the second learning paradigm (i.e. no memory, one retained memory, two retained memories; see section 1.4.4. in the Introduction). However, if our results do accurately reflect true GluA2-AMPAR expression levels, at least to some degree, it is nevertheless important to consider what might lead to these results.

5.3. Theoretical implications of the data

Overall, many parts of the biochemical data do not align what the literature would suggest. Below we speculate about possible theories that may account for some of our findings, and whether these interpretations are plausible.

5.3.1. Post-retrieval GluA2-AMPAR exchange with CP-AMPARs

In Project 1, we observed that following erasure of a first learning memory, adequate second learning memory was correlated with relatively low levels of GluA2-AMPARs. Previous research has shown that retrieval of a memory leads to a temporary destabilization period of the memory trace, in which GluA2-AMPAR are exchanged with GluA1-AMPARs (Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011). GluA2-AMPARs are rapidly removed from the PSD to be replaced with GluA1-AMPARs, which are then gradually exchanged again for GluA2-AMPARs as the memory reconsolidates and thus restabilizes (Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011; Hong et al., 2013). We therefore considered the possibility that memory retrieval induced by the probe test caused GluA2-AMPAR aMPAR exchange with GluA1-AMPARs, which were not exchanged back at the time of sacrifice. In Rao-Ruiz and colleagues' study using contextual fear memory, GluA2-AMPAR

reinsertion during reconsolidation had occurred by 7 hours post-retrieval. Perhaps the timeline of GluA2-AMPAR reinsertion post-retrieval is different for object location memories?

Morris et al. (2006) showed reconsolidation of a water maze memory, but to our knowledge there is no other study that shows reconsolidation in an object location memory. If our data reflects actual changes in GluA2-AMPARs, they suggest that object location memories take significantly longer to reconsolidate than contextual fear memories, leading to a longer duration where GluA2-AMPARs are downregulated after retrieval. This may also explain the peculiar behaviour observed in the ZIP-infused rats from Project 1 showing high levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression and preference to the old object location at test. ZIP-Veh rats in this subset may not have correctly retrieved the second learning memory, thus there was no internalization of GluA2-AMPARs prompted by the test session. ZIP-AP5 rats in the subset, on the other hand, had not acquired any of the training, and thus higher GluA2-AMPAR levels may be indicative of the probe test acting as new learning. However, if new learning occurred at test, all individuals in the ZIP-AP5 group should show similarly high levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression, which was not observed. Therefore, we would then have to infer that the observed GluA2-AMPAR expression in these rats directly correlates to an individual's learning experience, and thus not all rats learned at the test session. Although individual variation in learning and retention is expected, this theory opens an additional layer of complexity regarding the efficacy of the object learning task. This would further confound any behavioural interpretation.

Indeed, if data from Project 2 was interpreted with the above framework, we would reason that the lack of difference in GluA2-AMPAR expression levels between groups indicates that none of the memories retrieved at test had reconsolidated at the time of sacrifice. But as

these results do not show any treatment group differences, and there was no correlation between GluA2-AMPARs and novelty ratio, the data does not allow any further speculation. With Project 3 data, a reconsolidation period lasting over 24 hours would infer that post-retrieval GluA2-AMPAR internalization should lower GluA2-AMPAR expression levels to be similar to baseline levels of the no-training group. This could explain the results of the R=1d group. However, the data would imply that this putative reversal of GluA2-AMPAR expression continued for 5 days after testing, which is extremely unlikely (Chapter 3, Figure 3). Thus, on the whole, there is no parsimonious interpretation involving post-retrieval GluA2-AMPAR internalization that accounts for all observations.

5.3.2. Place field size correlates to neuronal recruitment

Place cells in the hippocampus are neurons that respond to an animal's current location (O'Keefe & Dostrovsky, 1971), as well as past locations (O'Keefe and Speakman, 1987) and upcoming locations (Ferbinteanu & Shapiro, 2003), by firing when animals are in their respective place fields. In an open field less than 1 m², approximately 20 to 50% of dorsal CA1 pyramidal neurons will become place cells (Karlsson & Frank, 2008; Thompson & Best, 1989; Wilson & McNaughton, 1993). Research has shown that over time, place cells do not solely reflect location information, but also information about events that took place in that space (Leutgeb et al., 2005; Moser, Rowland, & Moser, 2015). As the object location task would imply, hippocampal neurons have been shown to respond to object-in-space information (Komorowski et al., 2009; Manns & Eichenbaum, 2009). Additionally, neurons in the distal CA1 express more place fields when objects are in the open field (Burke et al., 2011). Therefore, as our task deals with object location, a second way to interpret our GluA2-AMPAR findings is to relate them to place field expression.

An increase in GluA2-AMPAR expression seen at second learning test after ZIP-induced erasure of first learning memory (Project 1) may reflect an increase in cells being recruited for a larger place field (Fenton et al., 2008). Studies of the ventral hippocampus have suggested that larger place fields of individual neurons are related to a decline in precision of spatial representation (Royer et al., 2010). This could suggest that the relatively high GluA2-AMPAR levels after second learning test reflects greater neuronal recruitment, which may be related to less precise place fields. Thus, the preference to the old object location may be an artifact of imprecise place fields. Indeed, Barry et al. (2012) have shown that infusing ZIP into the hippocampus while place fields are being expressed makes them less precise. Thus, if the ZIP infusions resulted in larger place fields, the preference to the old location is not necessarily an indication of preference for familiarity, but rather may reflect neurons firing at more locations, or perhaps that more hippocampal neurons were activated near the old object location, thus producing a cruder memory. Following this logic, less GluA2-AMPAR expression implies smaller, more precise place fields, which may be a measure of optimized performance (i.e., better novelty preference).

However, while this interpretation may hold for Project 1, it does not clearly explain the GluA2-AMPAR results from Project 3. Following this explanation, the increase of GluA2-AMPARs seen after 7 days of retention time may indicate less precise place fields, which may be a consequence of forgetting, but we would also expect molecular data from R=14d and R=30d groups to display similarly, or even more imprecise place fields. This would output as similarly high or even higher levels of GluA2-AMPAR expression compared to R=7d rats, which is opposite to the declining levels seen in our data. Additionally, it is impossible to conclude whether imprecision in place fields also occurs after reconsolidation blockade via sulfasalazine

infusions as seen in Project 2, as no any significant correlations between behaviour and GluA2-AMPAR expression were observed. Thus, this theory does not adequately explain all results.

5.3.3. Metaplasticity and NMDAR-independent learning

The phenomenon of metaplasticity, described as the plasticity of synaptic plasticity, is another means through which we may be able to interpret our data. Situations in which prior experience will influence future learning and memory (Abraham and Bear, 1996; Abraham, 2008) may be a form of metaplasticity; thus the second learning phenomenon first observed by Bannerman et al., (1995) may fall under this description. Other studies have also shown the effect of NMDAR-independent learning (Sanders & Fanselow, 2003; Saucier & Cain, 1995; Tayler et al., 2011; Wiltgen et al., 2011). Wiltgen et al. (2011) put forth evidence that this effect only occurs when the subsequent learning experience occurs using the same behavioural task as the initial experience. Some data has recently emerged showing that if two separate hippocampus-based learning events are related such that one learning event influences the other, this can increase the degree of overlap of each memory's associated neuronal populations (Cai et al., 2016; Nomoto et al., 2016). For example, Cai et al.'s 2016 study showed that exposing mice to two separate contexts within one day shows a higher overlap of neural ensembles in the CA1, compared to when events are separated by a week. Furthermore, the shared neurons link together both memories, allowing the fear associated to the first context to be activated when animals were put in the second context, and increased excitability of the neurons representing the first contextual fear memory increase the strength of the later memory. Thus, it may be possible that the second learning effect reflects recruitment of overlapping neurons across two learning experiences, and the existence of a first-learned memory provides support for the subsequent

memory to be acquired without NMDAR activation. In this sense, the first experience with the object location task can be viewed as a type of priming for later learning.

Interestingly, some research has shown that disrupting the synaptic mechanisms of memory can result in a later rebound of the behaviour (Chen et al., 2014; R. G. Parsons & Davis, 2011; Ryan, Roy, Pignatelli, Arons, & Tonegawa, 2015). The observed recovery suggested that initial learning may leave some form of priming that facilitates future learning, despite memory disruption of the initial learning (Parsons, 2017). Using Aplysia, in which sensitization of the siphon withdrawal reflex can occur by inducing long-term facilitation of the neurons involved in that circuit (Montarolo et al., 1986), the Glanzman group have shown that LTM can still be formed with a partial training protocol when protein synthesis was blocked after training, and therefore despite impaired consolidation (Pearce, Cai, Roberts, & Glanzman, 2017)(Pearce et al., 2017). Importantly, the same training would not induce LTM in untrained animals. The authors suggest that the early proteins formed by the original training constitute a "priming signal" that is not affected by protein synthesis inhibition (Pearce et al., 2017). As well, since no intervention is ever one hundred percent effective, any leftover neural correlates may provide a partial foundation or scaffolding that streamlines future learning. Similar results of reinstated memory with partial training were seen after blocking reconsolidation of long-term facilitation with anisomycin treatment to Aplysia cell cultures (Chen et al., 2014).

Observations from the ZIP-infused groups in Project 1 may also be evidence of this effect. ZIP infusions erased the first learning memory, but likely in an incomplete way. Any lingering traces of the first learning memory then acted as a priming effect for second learning acquisition (ZIP-Veh group), or for the second learning probe test to act as a learning session (ZIP-AP5 group). In the ZIP-Veh group, second learning memory was facilitated; perhaps

training required recruitment of fewer new GluA2-AMPARs compared to rats that did not properly acquire the training. Thus, when rats correctly explored the new location at test, this would involve less GluA2-AMPAR expression. However, in the ZIP-AP5 group, if the probe test acted as new learning, there was no subsequent session to test that learning, and thus the current GluA2-AMPAR data cannot infer that the "training" was acquired more efficiently. And, as before, this interpretation can neither be confirmed nor rejected in light of the non-significant results from Project 2. The results from Project 3 are not easily applicable for the same reasons: there is no experience given to solely the R=7d group that would imply the upregulation in GluA2-AMPAR expression resulted from facilitated learning. Thus, overall, it is tenuous that our results could be explain by facilitated second learning through a metaplastic mechanism.

Because none of these possible explanations fully satisfy our range of data, it might therefore be more likely that the western blot technique could not reliably quantify GluA2-AMPAR expression across the experimental conditions. In the next section, we discuss reasons why using this molecular technique to probe for GluA2-AMPAR level changes caused by object location learning and forgetting may be problematic.

5.4. Usage of western blotting to probe for GluA2-AMPARs in the hippocampus

The previous sections outline the challenge in building a comprehensive theory that applies to all our biochemical findings and are difficult to reconcile with the behavioural results. Therefore, it is possible that a common methodological issue underpins these outcomes: either GluA2-AMPARs were not recruited in the way we hypothesized, or the western blot technique was not effective in reliably measuring GluA2-AMPAR expression changes caused by the experimental paradigms.

5.4.1. Dorsal hippocampus is necessary for spatial memory representation

One possibility is that we targeted the incorrect brain area in the experiments. Both infusions and brain tissue collection for subcellular fractionation occurred at the dorsal CA1 subregion of the hippocampus (for example see Chapter 2, Figure 5). But the likelihood that spatial memory representation of the object location task is not based in the dorsal hippocampus (dHPC), but perhaps elsewhere, such as in the ventral hippocampus (vHPC), is very low. This is supported by several studies. For example, a seminal study by Moser et al. (1995), showed that the dHPC is required for rats to perform in the Morris water maze task, which is a standard method to assess spatial memory. Acquisition of this task was impaired after lesions to a quarter of the dHPC, but was not affected by lesions to the vHPC (Moser et al., 1995). Additionally, research has shown that the dHPC and vHPC serve, broadly, two different functions, with the dHPC being involved more in spatial information processing and cognition, and the vHPC being involved more involved with emotional reactions (Fanselow & Dong, 2010). Furthermore, density of place fields is higher in the dHPC compared to the vHPC (Jung, Wiener, & McNaughton, 1994), suggesting that the dHPC is more biased towards location-based tasks than the vHPC. And, most importantly, multiple studies have shown that object location tasks depend on the dHPC (Assini et al., 2009; Gilbert & Kesner, 2004; Mumby et al., 2002). Thus, it seems unlikely that we probed the wrong brain area in our experiments.

5.4.2. Long-term retention of spatial memories recruit GluA2-AMPARs

Another possible interpretation of our findings is that long-term spatial memories do not depend on postsynaptic GluA2-AMPARs. However, the available empirical evidence strongly argues against this option. As mentioned above, several studies have directly implicated GluA2-AMPARs in long-term object location memories (Migues et al., 2014; Migues et al., 2016; see Hardt et al., 2013). Moreover, hippocampus-dependent spatial memory has also extensively been shown to require PKMζ for maintenance (Pastalkova et al., 2006; Serrano et al., 2008; see Sacktor, 2011, or Kwapis & Helmstetter, 2013, for a review), which participates in a memory maintenance mechanism that sustains GluA2-AMPARs in the postsynaptic membrane (Migues et al., 2010; Migues et al., 2016; Yao et al., 2008; Dong et al., 2015). It therefore seems reasonable to conclude that GluA2-AMPARs are involved in object location memory maintenance. That our data suggest otherwise therefore more likely indicates a methodological issue, rather than the discovery of a form of long-term object location memory that is not reliant on GluA2-AMPARs for maintenance.

5.4.3. Actin is not an appropriate loading control for experiments measuring learning-based changes

New learning involves growth and expansion of dendrites (see Rudy, 2015, for a review), which will necessarily increase levels of structural proteins like β -actin (Fukazawa et al., 2003; Lamprecht & LeDoux, 2004; Okamoto, Nagai, Miyawaki, & Hayashi, 2004). In our experiments, we isolated the PSD fraction, which enlarges as a result of LTP (Desmond & Levy, 1986) due in part to insertion of proteins involved in LTP processes, such as Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (Soderling & Derkach, 2000), or, more pertinently, AMPARs into the plasma membrane. In Project 3, comparing actin expression between the no-training group versus R=1d group, we found that expression of actin increased with new learning. Although it was not a significant increase, further analysis of actin expression levels across the different groups nevertheless showed fluctuations in actin as retention time increased. In western blot protocols, loading control expression levels need to be consistent across treatment groups if they are to act as an internal measure through which target proteins can be standardized. The changes

observed in actin across groups abolishes its effectiveness as a loading control for our experiments. We tested if another commonly used loading control protein, β -tubulin, remained constant between the no-learning group and the 1d retention group, but also found it increases with new learning. Because we aimed to detect changes in protein expression related to learning and memory loss, choosing a valid loading control protein for our study is difficult. In light of loading control unreliability, conclusions about GluA2-AMPAR levels in our data should be taken with some discretion. Indeed, some articles have also highlighted complications in using actin as a loading control in western blot analyses (Dittmer & Dittmer, 2006), despite its ubiquity in immunoblot protocols.

5.4.4. Spatial memories likely are coded sparsely in the dorsal hippocampus

There may be a disadvantageous signal-to-noise ratio complicating detection of changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression in CA1-dependent object location memories. Pyramidal cells in CA1 receive tens of thousands of synaptic inputs, and hundreds of simultaneous synaptic events are required to produce an action potential (Andersen, 1990). Furthermore, GluA2-AMPARs are the most common AMPAR found in CA1 pyramidal cells (Wenthold et al., 1996). This makes it extremely challenging to detect changes related to one new learning experience over the background activity. Indeed, there is a probability that GluA2-AMPAR signalling specific for our manipulations are below the threshold for detection (Stacey & Durand, 2001). Some of our data support this interpretation. In Project 1, we found that we could detect a significant relationship between GluA2-AMPAR expression and individual novelty ratio score within groups for ZIP-AP5 and ZIP-Veh infused rats. If ZIP infusions erased the LTM previously represented in dHPC, this would significantly reduce background noise, which would allow detection of changes in GluA2-AMPAR expression caused by second learning. Rats infused with

scrambled-ZIP after first learning would therefore retain a signal to noise ratio in CA1 unfavorable to our measuring methods.

As well, in Project 2, we did not see any significant correlation between novelty ratio score and GluA2-AMPAR expression, nor were there any differences in GluA2-AMPAR expression across treatment groups. Therefore, this result might be reflecting an inability to detect changes in GluA2-AMPAR levels associated with reconsolidation blockade. In Project 3, because the changes in GluA2-AMPARs seem somewhat random, this data may also support the lack of reliability in using western blot for molecular analyses of object location based learning and forgetting. Indeed, the signal to noise issue may be one reason why quantifying learningbased AMPAR changes in the CA1 proves challenging for a non-Pavlovian, exploratory task, compared to an aversive fear-memory task. Activation of around 15% of neurons might occur after exploration of a novel context, although this recruitment can increase to approximately 50% with the addition of a second learning experience (Cai et al., 2016). Tao-Cheng et al. (2011) showed that NMDAR-mediated endocytosis led to upwards of a 42% increase in GluA2-AMPARs found in clathrin-coated pits near the PSD. Following stimulation, clathrin-coated pits can internalize AMPARs for recycling and thus help regulate surface expression of proteins (Carroll et al., 2001), and have been shown to mediate endocytosis after insulin stimulation, leading to LTD in the dHPC CA1 (Man et al., 2000). However, Tao-Cheng and colleagues did not observe noticeable changes in labeled GluA2-AMPAR levels at the PSD, which they noted was consistent with other studies (Ehlers, 2000; D.-T. Lin & Huganir, 2007). They conclude that despite occurrence of GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis in peri-PSD areas, endocytosis at the PSD is highly regulated by activity. Likely, there needs to be a strong activity to induce significant amounts of endocytosis of PSD GluA2-AMPARs. Therefore, perhaps our protocols involving

experimental amnesia and forgetting were not strong enough to cause a noticeable change in GluA2-AMPAR expression.

Regardless of these issues with our biochemical analyses, our behavioural results are sound. The literature strongly supports the role of GluA2-AMPAR internalization in memory loss. Thus, overall, the most parsimonious conclusion of the biochemical analyses is that induced amnesia or innately-occurring forgetting of an object location learning memory very likely results in internalization of GluA2-AMPARs from the PSD, but western blots are not the ideal method to evaluate these changes. In the last section, we therefore touch on a few techniques or molecular targets that may be viable alternatives.

5.5. Future directions

Considering the methodological challenges outlined above, we here highlight a few alternative directions to approach our question or to further explore our current findings. *5.5.1. Alternative neural correlates associated with memory destabilization and/or memory loss*

If probing for PSD GluA2-AMPARs in the CA1 hippocampus is difficult because the signal of GluA2-AMPAR expression involved in the object location memory representation is too small, then one option is to probe for a larger population of GluA2-AMPARs. It may be possible to access a larger pool of GluA2-AMPARs by targeting phosphorylated GluA2-AMPARs in the synaptosome. Phosphorylation of amino acids on the GluA2-AMPAR C-terminus tail—serine 880 (ser-880) by protein kinase C (PKC) and tyrosine (tyr-876) by non-receptor Src family tyrosine kinases (Trks)—can trigger GluA2-AMPAR internalization (J. Q. Wang et al., 2005). Phosphorylation at these locations disrupts GluA2 subunit binding to scaffolding proteins such as GRIP (Trk phosphorylation of tyr-876; Hayashi & Huganir, 2004),

and PICK1 (PKC phosphorylation of ser-880; Chung, Xia, Scannevin, Zhang, & Huganir, 2000; Seidenman, Steinberg, Huganir, & Malinow, 2003), which have both been implicated in regulation of AMPAR trafficking and memory maintenance mechanisms involving PKMζ (Sacktor, 2011). Therefore, levels of GluA2-AMPARs phosphorylated at these amino acids may reflect GluA2-AMPARs internalized via this mechanism. As AMPARs have been found to mostly internalize from peri-PSD zones (within 200 nm from the edge of the PSD) after NMDAR treatment (Tao-Cheng et al., 2011), as well as possibly endocytic zones at the lateral edges of excitatory synapses (Blanpied, Scott, & Ehlers, 2002; Rácz, Blanpied, Ehlers, & Weinberg, 2004), expanding the postsynaptic region of interest to the synaptosome is required.

Similarly, it may be interesting to measure the expression of ubiquitinated GluA2-AMPARs. Ubiquitination is a post-translation attaching of the ubiquitin molecule to a substrate protein, which helps regulate various processes such as trafficking, endocytosis, and degradation (Hershko & Ciechanover, 1998) of these proteins. AMPAR processes have also been shown to be regulated by the ubiquitin-proteasome system (Hou, Gilbert, & Man, 2011; Patrick, Bingol, Weld, & Schuman, 2003; Zhang et al., 2009). Moreover, synaptic activity can induce GluA2-AMPAR ubiquitination following GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis (Lussier, Nasu-Nishimura, & Roche, 2011). The ubiquitin-proteasome system allows GluA2-AMPAR to be targeted for degradation or for recycling them back into the plasma membrane (Lussier et al., 2011; Widagdo et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2009). An increased amount of polyubiquitinated proteins were found in the CA1 hippocampal PSD following retrieval of a contextual fear memory in rats (Jarome, Werner, Kwapis, & Helmstetter, 2011; S. H. Lee et al., 2008). Additionally, the effects of inhibiting protein synthesis during reconsolidation with anisomycin infusions can be prevented by infusing the proteasome inhibitor lactacystin immediately following retrieval (Lee et al.,

2008; Jarome et al., 2011) suggesting that protein degradation mediated by the ubiquitinproteasome system may underlie destabilization following fear memory retrieval in the amygdala (Lee et al., 2008) and cocaine reward memory in the nucleus accumbens (Ren et al., 2012). Ren et al. (2012) showed a reversal of retrieval-induced GluA2-AMPAR downregulation with lactacystin. Although it is unknown if all internalized GluA2-AMPARs are tagged with ubiquitin after memory retrieval, nor has the exact relationship between ubiquitinated GluA2-AMPARs and memory loss been clearly characterized, ubiquitinated GluA2-AMPARs may provide another molecular target for our research interests.

We note that if other molecular correlates are targeted to characterize memory loss, the time course of the molecular assay will necessarily change from what is described in our current procedure (i.e. sacrifice 24 hours after test). Indeed, different proteins do not require all the same amount of time to express. For example, to quantify ubiquitinated GluA2-AMPARs, the tissue samples must be procured from brains frozen within 24 hours following retrieval.

5.5.2. Other techniques

A different angle to approach our research questions is to use another method to either increase GluA2-AMPAR signalling in the dHPC, or improve its detection. Assuming there is indeed a signal-to-noise issue that underlies the learning-based changes of the object location task, other molecular quantification or visualization techniques may also lack efficacy because of this issue. Thus, it is necessary either to find techniques to increase signal, decrease noise, or specifically are able to label and quantify only the GluA2-AMPARs that are recruited for the memory representation.

A unique way to increase in vitro hippocampal CA1 signal is using electrode stimulation to create stochastic resonance (Stacey & Durand, 2001; Wiesenfeld & Moss, 1995; Yoshida,

Hayashi, Tateno, & Ishizuka, 2002). In essence, stochastic resonance describes the phenomenon of supplementing the endogenous noise of a system—that is, "white noise"—to enhance a weak input signal. In behaving animals, noise can be created by administering periodic stimulation that by itself is too weak to induce firing. For example, perturbing the water at a specific periodicity can stimulate crayfish mechanoreceptors (Douglass, Wilkens, Pantazelou, & Moss, 1993), or the perturbing air flow can stimulate a cricket mechanosensory system (Levin & Miller, 1996), boosting originally weak signals to detectable levels. Creating an optimal amount of noise resonates and thereby can amplify the weak signal (Gammaitoni, Hänggi, Jung, & Marchesoni, 1998). In vivo, stochastic resonance has been applied to CA1 slices via sets of electrode pulses given at random intervals in response to subthreshold "signal" stimulation at 5 Hz (Stacey & Durand, 2001). Although this technique has not been applied to in vivo rat experiments, computer simulations of CA1 neurons (Stacey & Durand, 2001) and in vitro models of in vivo neocortical activity (Fellous, Rudolph, Destexhe, & Sejnowski, 2003) suggest efficacy.

It may also be possible to increase a signal by increasing extracellular noradrenaline in the hippocampus (Sara, 2009). Stimulation of the locus coeruleus has been shown to increase noradrenergic activity of hippocampus cells, which may improve signal/noise differentials by enhancing the neuronal responses to reinforcing stimuli and inhibiting background spontaneous activity (Susan J. Sara, 1985; Segal & Bloom, 1976). Noradrenaline can also enhance LTP at hippocampal mossy fibres (Hopkins & Johnston, 1988). Behaviourally, noradrenaline increase caused by chronic psychosocial stress has been shown to improve hippocampus-dependent spatial distribution learning in tree shrews (Bartolomucci, Biurrun, Czéh, Kampen, & Fuchs, 2002), and infusing noradrenaline into the basolateral amygdala after water maze training enhances retention of the platform location (Hatfield & McGaugh, 1999). More recently,

optogenetic activation of noradrenergic locus coeruleus neurons have been shown to improve object location memory by increasing dopamine released in the hippocampus (Kempadoo, Mosharov, Choi, Sulzer, & Kandel, 2016). This noradrenergic neuromodulation in essence imitates stimulation that typically would result from behavioural training with aversive or appetitive protocols, such a fear conditioning. Since fear conditioning training has been known to generate robust memories, we would expect that pharmacologically increasing the dHPC signal would enhance object location memory strength to similarly robust levels, thus increasing the signal to noise ratio. However, strong fear memories are known to resist decay, lasting for over a month (J. Kim & Fanselow, 1992) or two months after extensive training (Pickens, Golden, Adams-Deutsch, Nair, & Shaham, 2009), or upwards of over a year (Fanselow & Gale, 2003). It is unclear if modulating object location memory strength with noradrenaline may also lead to a similar resistance to decay. But, as the type of training we use does not specifically target use of the amygdala and the fear memory circuit, object location memories enhanced this way may have a higher chance of decaying than true fear conditioning memories.

In terms of improving detection, the goal would be to identify GluA2-AMPAR expression only in neurons that are allocated to the object location memory. There exist several neurobiological visualization methods that can be useful. For example, collecting tissue samples specific time points and treating brain slices with biotin, which can label surface AMPARs for immunoblot quantification (shown in mice, Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011). For increased temporal resolution, to detect real-time GluA2-AMPAR insertion and removal in vitro, some labs have tagged GluA2-AMPARs with the green fluorescent protein variant pHluorin, which fuses to the N-terminus of GluA2 (Rathje et al., 2013). The dynamics of surface diffusion of hippocampal GluA2-AMPARs in neuronal cultures can then be monitored under total internal reflection

fluorescence microscopy (TIRFM) (Araki et al., 2010). This has been used to visualize NMDAR-mediated AMPAR endocytosis that leads to LTD (Rathje et al., 2013), which might make it appropriate for our needs as well. There is some controversy with this technique (Rathje et al., 2013) though some purport that the technique is sound as long as appropriate caution is exercised (Wilkinson, Ashby, & Henley, 2014). Newly emerging techniques such as Capturing Activated Neuronal Ensembles (CANE) and the Robust Activity Marking (RAM) System take advantage of immediate early genes such as *fos* to specifically label active neuronal ensembles in vivo (Sakurai et al., 2016, and Sørensen et al., 2016, respectively). How these highly specific and temporally precise methods can apply to visualization of AMPAR trafficking has yet to be determined. In particular, despite the fact that these visualization methods are often only tested on transgenic mice, the RAM system is also applicable to rats (Sørensen et al 2016).

5.6. Conclusion

The experiments of this dissertation explored two lines of research, behavioural and biochemical, in order to corroborate how storage loss of a memory trace is related to GluA2-AMPAR endocytosis. Using the second learning paradigm, we showed that experimental amnesia observed after impairing a consolidated memory or reconsolidation of a memory leads to a storage loss of an object location memory trace. This storage impairment was not corroborated with our molecular data, which showed inconsistent expression patterns of postsynaptic GluA2-AMPARs. These studies provide a direction for future research of these phenomena. Characterizing how neural correlates, like GluA2-AMPARs, are related to memory loss can improve our knowledge of how memory mechanisms work, as well as help build clinical interventions that may improve memory maintenance, or minimize forgetting occurring from memory disorders.

References

- Abraham, W., & Goddard, G. V. (1983). Asymmetric relationships between homosynaptic long-term potentiation and heterosynaptic long-term depression. *Nature, 305*(5936), 717.
- Abraham, W. C. (2008). Metaplasticity: tuning synapses and networks for plasticity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *9*(5), 387.
- Abraham, W. C., & Bear, M. F. (1996). Metaplasticity: the plasticity of synaptic plasticity. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *19*(4), 126-130.
- Abraham, W. C., Mason, S. E., Demmer, J., Williams, J. M., Richardson, C. L., Tate, W. P., . . . Dragunow, M. (1993). Correlations between immediate early gene induction and the persistence of longterm potentiation. *Neuroscience*, *56*(3), 717-727. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(93)90369-Q
- Ahmadian, G., Ju, W., Liu, L., Wyszynski, M., Lee, S. H., Dunah, A. W., . . . Wang, Y. T. (2004). Tyrosine phosphorylation of GluR2 is required for insulin-stimulated AMPA receptor endocytosis and LTD. *The EMBO Journal, 23*(5), 1040-1050. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600126
- Ahn, H. J., Hernandez, C. M., Levenson, J. M., Lubin, F. D., Liou, H.-C., & Sweatt, J. D. (2008). c-Rel, an NFκB family transcription factor, is required for hippocampal long-term synaptic plasticity and memory formation. *Learning & Memory*, 15(7), 539-549.
- Alberini, C. M. (2005). Mechanisms of memory stabilization: are consolidation and reconsolidation similar or distinct processes? *Trends in Neurosciences*, 28(1), 51-56. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2004.11.001
- Andersen, P. (1990). Chapter 15 Chapter Synaptic integration in hippocampal CA1 pyramids. In J. Storm-Mathisen, J. Zimmer, & O. P. Ottersen (Eds.), *Progress in Brain Research* (Vol. 83, pp. 215-222): Elsevier.
- Anggono, V., & Huganir, R. L. (2012). Regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 22(3), 461-469. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2011.12.006
- Araki, Y., Lin, D.-T., & Huganir, R. L. (2010). Plasma membrane insertion of the AMPA receptor GluA2 subunit is regulated by NSF binding and Q/R editing of the ion pore. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107*(24), 11080-11085. doi:10.1073/pnas.1006584107
- Assini, F. L., Duzzioni, M., & Takahashi, R. N. (2009). Object location memory in mice: Pharmacological validation and further evidence of hippocampal CA1 participation. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 204(1), 206-211. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2009.06.005
- Bannerman, D. M., Good, M. A., Butcher, S. P., Ramsay, M., & Morris, R. G. M. (1995). Distinct components of spatial learning revealed by prior training and NMDA receptor blockade. *Nature*, 378(6553), 182-186.
- Barnes, C. A. (1979). Memory deficits associated with senescence: a neurophysiological and behavioral study in the rat. *Journal of comparative and physiological psychology, 93*(1), 74.
- Barry, J. M., Rivard, B., Fox, S. E., Fenton, A. A., Sacktor, T. C., & Muller, R. U. (2012). Inhibition of protein kinase Mζ disrupts the stable spatial discharge of hippocampal place cells in a familiar environment. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(40), 13753-13762.
- Bartolomucci, A., Biurrun, G. D., Czéh, B., Kampen, M. V., & Fuchs, E. (2002). SHORT COMMUNICATION Selective enhancement of spatial learning under chronic psychosocial stress. *European Journal* of Neuroscience, 15(11), 1863-1866. doi:doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.2002.02043.x
- Bear, M. F., & Abraham, W. C. (1996). Long-term depression in hippocampus. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 19(1), 437-462.
- Berlyne, D. E., & Slater, J. (1957). Perceptual curiosity, exploratory behavior, and maze learning. *Journal* of comparative and physiological psychology, 50(3), 228-232. doi:10.1037/h0046603

References

- Bhattacharya, S., Kimble, W., Buabeid, M., Bhattacharya, D., Bloemer, J., Alhowail, A., . . .
 Suppiramaniam, V. (2017). Altered AMPA receptor expression plays an important role in inducing bidirectional synaptic plasticity during contextual fear memory reconsolidation. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 139*, 98-108. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2016.12.013
- Blanpied, T. A., Scott, D. B., & Ehlers, M. D. (2002). Dynamics and regulation of clathrin coats at specialized endocytic zones of dendrites and spines. *Neuron*, *36*(3), 435-449.
- Bliss, T. V., & Collingridge, G. L. (1993). A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature*, *361*(6407), 31-39.
- Boccia, M., Freudenthal, R., Blake, M., de la Fuente, V., Acosta, G., Baratti, C., & Romano, A. (2007). Activation of Hippocampal Nuclear Factor-κB by Retrieval Is Required for Memory Reconsolidation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *27*(49), 13436-13445. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4430-07.2007
- Boersma, M. C., & Meffert, M. K. (2008). Novel Roles for the NF-κB Signaling Pathway in Regulating Neuronal Function. *Science signaling*, 1(6), pe7-pe7. doi:10.1126/stke.16pe7
- Burgess, N., Maguire, E. A., & O'Keefe, J. (2002). The Human Hippocampus and Spatial and Episodic Memory. *Neuron*, *35*(4), 625-641. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00830-9
- Burke, S. N., Maurer, A. P., Nematollahi, S., Uprety, A. R., Wallace, J. L., & Barnes, C. A. (2011). The influence of objects on place field expression and size in distal hippocampal CA1. *Hippocampus*, 21(7), 783-801. doi:10.1002/hipo.20929
- Burnashev, N., Villarroel, A., & Sakmann, B. (1996). Dimensions and ion selectivity of recombinant AMPA and kainate receptor channels and their dependence on Q/R site residues. *The Journal of Physiology*, *496*(1), 165-173.
- Cai, D. J., Aharoni, D., Shuman, T., Shobe, J., Biane, J., Song, W., . . . Silva, A. J. (2016). A shared neural ensemble links distinct contextual memories encoded close in time. *Nature*, *534*(7605), 115-118. doi:10.1038/nature17955
- Carroll, R. C., Beattie, E. C., von Zastrow, M., & Malenka, R. C. (2001). Role of ampa receptor endocytosis in synaptic plasticity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *2*, 315. doi:10.1038/35072500
- Carter, T. L., Rissman, R. A., Mishizen-Eberz, A. J., Wolfe, B. B., Hamilton, R. L., Gandy, S., & Armstrong, D. M. (2004). Differential preservation of AMPA receptor subunits in the hippocampi of Alzheimer's disease patients according to Braak stage. *Experimental neurology*, 187(2), 299-309.
- Cazakoff, B. N., & Howland, J. G. (2011). AMPA receptor endocytosis in rat perirhinal cortex underlies retrieval of object memory. *Learning & Memory, 18*(11), 688-692. doi:10.1101/lm.2312711
- Chan, D., Baker, K. D., & Richardson, R. (2015). Relearning a context-shock association after forgetting is an NMDAr-independent process. *Physiology & Behavior, 148*, 29-35. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.11.004
- Chen, S., Cai, D., Pearce, K., Sun, P. Y., Roberts, A. C., & Glanzman, D. L. (2014). Reinstatement of longterm memory following erasure of its behavioral and synaptic expression in Aplysia. *eLife*, *3*.
- Chung, H. J., Steinberg, J. P., Huganir, R. L., & Linden, D. J. (2003). Requirement of AMPA receptor GluR2 phosphorylation for cerebellar long-term depression. *Science*, *300*(5626), 1751-1755.
- Chung, H. J., Xia, J., Scannevin, R. H., Zhang, X., & Huganir, R. L. (2000). Phosphorylation of the AMPA Receptor Subunit GluR2 Differentially Regulates Its Interaction with PDZ Domain-Containing Proteins. *The Journal of Neuroscience, 20*(19), 7258-7267.
- Collingridge, G. L., Isaac, J. T. R., & Wang, Y. T. (2004). Receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *5*, 952. doi:10.1038/nrn1556
- Crestani, A. P., Sierra, R. O., Machado, A., Haubrich, J., Scienza, K. M., de Oliveira Alvares, L., & Quillfeldt, J. A. (2018). Hippocampal plasticity mechanisms mediating experience-dependent learning change over time. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 150*, 56-63. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2018.02.020

- Davis, R. L., & Zhong, Y. (2017). The Biology of Forgetting—A Perspective. *Neuron, 95*(3), 490-503. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2017.05.039
- Davis, S., Butcher, S., & Morris, R. (1992). The NMDA receptor antagonist D-2-amino-5phosphonopentanoate (D-AP5) impairs spatial learning and LTP in vivo at intracerebral concentrations comparable to those that block LTP in vitro. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 12(1), 21-34. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.12-01-00021.1992
- Debiec, J., LeDoux, J. E., & Nader, K. (2002). Cellular and systems reconsolidation in the hippocampus. *Neuron*, *36*(3), 527-538.
- Desmond, N. L., & Levy, W. B. (1986). Changes in the numerical density of synaptic contacts with longterm potentiation in the hippocampal dentate gyrus. *Journal of Comparative Neurology, 253*(4), 466-475.
- DiDonato, J. A., Hayakawa, M., Rothwarf, D. M., Zandi, E., & Karin, M. (1997). A cytokine-responsive IκB kinase that activates the transcription factor NF-κB. *Nature*, *388*(6642), 548.
- Dittmer, A., & Dittmer, J. (2006). β-Actin is not a reliable loading control in Western blot analysis. *ELECTROPHORESIS, 27*(14), 2844-2845. doi:10.1002/elps.200500785
- Dong, Z., Han, H., Li, H., Bai, Y., Wang, W., Tu, M., . . . Wang, Y. T. (2015). Long-term potentiation decay and memory loss are mediated by AMPAR endocytosis. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 125(1), 234-247. doi:10.1172/JCI77888
- Douglass, J. K., Wilkens, L., Pantazelou, E., & Moss, F. (1993). Noise enhancement of information transfer in crayfish mechanoreceptors by stochastic resonance. *Nature*, *365*, 337. doi:10.1038/365337a0
- Doyère, V., Srebro, B., & Laroche, S. (1997). Heterosynaptic LTD and depotentiation in the medial perforant path of the dentate gyrus in the freely moving rat. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 77(2), 571-578.
- Dudai, Y., & Eisenberg, M. (2004). Rites of Passage of the Engram: Reconsolidation and the Lingering Consolidation Hypothesis. *Neuron*, 44(1), 93-100. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.003
- Eacott, M. J., & Norman, G. (2004). Integrated Memory for Object, Place, and Context in Rats: A Possible Model of Episodic-Like Memory? *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *24*(8), 1948-1953. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.2975-03.2004
- Ehlers, M. D. (2000). Reinsertion or Degradation of AMPA Receptors Determined by Activity-Dependent Endocytic Sorting. *Neuron*, 28(2), 511-525. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)00129-X
- Ekstrom, A. D., Meltzer, J., McNaughton, B. L., & Barnes, C. A. (2001). NMDA Receptor Antagonism Blocks Experience-Dependent Expansion of Hippocampal "Place Fields". *Neuron*, *31*(4), 631-638. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00401-9
- Ennaceur, A., & Delacour, J. (1988). A new one-trial test for neurobiological studies of memory in rats. 1: Behavioral data. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *31*(1), 47-59. doi:10.1016/0166-4328(88)90157-X
- Ennaceur, A., Neave, N., & Aggleton, J. P. (1997). Spontaneous object recognition and object location memory in rats: the effects of lesions in the cingulate cortices, the medial prefrontal cortex, the cingulum bundle and the fornix. *Experimental brain research*, *113*(3), 509-519.
- Exton-McGuinness, M. T. J., Lee, J. L. C., & Reichelt, A. C. (2015). Updating memories—The role of prediction errors in memory reconsolidation. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 278, 375-384. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.10.011
- Fanselow, M. S., & Dong, H.-W. (2010). Are the Dorsal and Ventral Hippocampus Functionally Distinct Structures? *Neuron*, *65*(1), 7-19. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.11.031
- Fanselow, M. S., & Gale, G. D. (2003). The Amygdala, Fear, and Memory. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 985*(1), 125-134. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb07077.x
- Fellous, J. M., Rudolph, M., Destexhe, A., & Sejnowski, T. J. (2003). Synaptic background noise controls the input/output characteristics of single cells in an in vitro model of in vivo activity. *Neuroscience*, 122(3), 811-829. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2003.08.027

- Fenton, A. A., Kao, H.-Y., Neymotin, S. A., Olypher, A., Vayntrub, Y., Lytton, W. W., & Ludvig, N. (2008). Unmasking the CA1 ensemble place code by exposures to small and large environments: more place cells and multiple, irregularly-arranged, and expanded place fields in the larger space. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 28*(44), 11250-11262. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2862-08.2008
- Ferbinteanu, J., & Shapiro, M. L. (2003). Prospective and retrospective memory coding in the hippocampus. *Neuron*, 40(6), 1227-1239.
- Fujii, S., Saito, K., Miyakawa, H., Ito, K.-i., & Kato, H. (1991). Reversal of long-term potentiation (depotentiation) induced by tetanus stimulation of the input to CA1 neurons of guinea pig hippocampal slices. *Brain Research*, 555(1), 112-122. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(91)90867-U
- Fukazawa, Y., Saitoh, Y., Ozawa, F., Ohta, Y., Mizuno, K., & Inokuchi, K. (2003). Hippocampal LTP is accompanied by enhanced F-actin content within the dendritic spine that is essential for late LTP maintenance in vivo. *Neuron*, *38*(3), 447-460.
- Fukushima, H., Zhang, Y., Archbold, G., Ishikawa, R., Nader, K., & Kida, S. (2014). Enhancement of fear memory by retrieval through reconsolidation. *eLife*, *3*, e02736.
- Gammaitoni, L., Hänggi, P., Jung, P., & Marchesoni, F. (1998). Stochastic resonance. *Reviews of Modern Physics, 70*(1), 223-287. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.70.223
- Ghosh, S., & Karin, M. (2002). Missing Pieces in the NF-κB Puzzle. *Cell, 109*(2, Supplement 1), S81-S96. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00703-1
- Gilbert, P. E., & Kesner, R. P. (2004). Memory for objects and their locations: The role of the hippocampus in retention of object–place associations. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 81*(1), 39-45. doi:10.1016/S1074-7427(03)00069-8
- Gold, P. E., Haycock, J. W., Macri, J., & McGaugh, J. L. (1973). Retrograde Amnesia and the "Reminder Effect": An Alternative Interpretation. *Science*, *180*(4091), 1199-1201. doi:10.1126/science.180.4091.1199
- Gold, P. E., & King, R. A. (1974). Retrograde amnesia: Storage failure versus retrieval failure. *Psychological Review*, *81*(5), 465-469. doi:10.1037/h0036949
- Gong, Y., Lippa, C. F., Zhu, J., Lin, Q., & Rosso, A. L. (2009). Disruption of glutamate receptors at Shankpostsynaptic platform in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Research*, *1292*, 191-198.
- Grilli, M., & Memo, M. (1999). Nuclear factor-κB/Rel proteins: A point of convergence of signalling pathways relevant in neuronal function and dysfunction. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *57*(1), 1-7. doi:10.1016/S0006-2952(98)00214-7
- Hales, J. B., Ocampo, A. C., Broadbent, N. J., & Clark, R. E. (2016). Consolidation of spatial memory in the rat: Findings using zeta-inhibitory peptide. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 136, 220-227. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2016.11.003
- Han, J.-H., Kushner, S. A., Yiu, A. P., Cole, C. J., Matynia, A., Brown, R. A., . . . Josselyn, S. A. (2007). Neuronal competition and selection during memory formation. *Science*, *316*(5823), 457-460.
- Hanley, J. G., Khatri, L., Hanson, P. I., & Ziff, E. B. (2002). NSF ATPase and α -/ β -SNAPs disassemble the AMPA receptor-PICK1 complex. *Neuron*, *34*(1), 53-67.
- Hara, Y., Punsoni, M., Yuk, F., Park, C. S., Janssen, W. G. M., Rapp, P. R., & Morrison, J. H. (2012).
 Synaptic Distributions of GluA2 and PKMζ in the Monkey Dentate Gyrus and Their Relationships with Aging and Memory. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(21), 7336-7344.
 doi:10.1523/jneurosci.0605-12.2012
- Hardt, O., Nader, K., & Nadel, L. (2013). Decay happens: the role of active forgetting in memory. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 17(3), 111-120.
- Hardt, O., Nader, K., & Wang, Y.-T. (2014). GluA2-dependent AMPA receptor endocytosis and the decay of early and late long-term potentiation: possible mechanisms for forgetting of short- and long-

term memories. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 369*(1633), 20130141. doi:10.1098/rstb.2013.0141

- Hardt, O., Wang, S.-H., & Nader, K. (2009). Storage or retrieval deficit: The yin and yang of amnesia. *Learning & Memory, 16*(4), 224-230. doi:10.1101/lm.1267409
- Hatfield, T., & McGaugh, J. L. (1999). Norepinephrine Infused into the Basolateral Amygdala Posttraining Enhances Retention in a Spatial Water Maze Task. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 71(2), 232-239. doi:10.1006/nlme.1998.3875
- Haubrich, J., & Nader, K. (2018). Memory reconsolidation. *Behavioral Neuroscience of Learning and Memory*, 151-176.
- Hayashi, T., & Huganir, R. L. (2004). Tyrosine phosphorylation and regulation of the AMPA receptor by SRC family tyrosine kinases. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *24*(27), 6152-6160.
- Hayashi, Y., Shi, S.-H., Esteban, J. A., Piccini, A., Poncer, J.-C., & Malinow, R. (2000). Driving AMPA Receptors into Synapses by LTP and CaMKII: Requirement for GluR1 and PDZ Domain Interaction. *Science*, *287*(5461), 2262-2267. doi:10.1126/science.287.5461.2262
- Hershko, A., & Ciechanover, A. (1998). The Ubiquitin System. *Annual Review of Biochemistry, 67*(1), 425-479. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.67.1.425
- Heynen, A. J., Quinlan, E. M., Bae, D. C., & Bear, M. F. (2000). Bidirectional, Activity-Dependent
 Regulation of Glutamate Receptors in the Adult Hippocampus In Vivo. *Neuron*, 28(2), 527-536.
 doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)00130-6
- Hollmann, M., Hartley, M., & Heinemann, S. (1991). Ca2+ permeability of KA-AMPA--gated glutamate receptor channels depends on subunit composition. *Science*, *252*(5007), 851-853.
- Hollmann, M., & Heinemann, S. (1994). Cloned glutamate receptors. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 17(1), 31-108.
- Hong, I., Kim, J., Kim, J., Lee, S., Ko, H.-G., Nader, K., . . . Choi, S. (2013). AMPA receptor exchange underlies transient memory destabilization on retrieval. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110*(20), 8218-8223. doi:10.1073/pnas.1305235110
- Hopkins, W. F., & Johnston, D. (1988). Noradrenergic enhancement of long-term potentiation at mossy fiber synapses in the hippocampus. *Journal of neurophysiology, 59*(2), 667-687. doi:10.1152/jn.1988.59.2.667
- Hou, Q., Gilbert, J., & Man, H.-Y. (2011). Homeostatic Regulation of AMPA Receptor Trafficking and Degradation by Light-Controlled Single-Synaptic Activation. *Neuron*, 72(5), 806-818. doi:10.1016j.neuron.2011.10.011
- Huganir, Richard L., & Nicoll, Roger A. (2013). AMPARs and Synaptic Plasticity: The Last 25 Years. *Neuron*, *80*(3), 704-717. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.025
- Isaac, J. T. R., Ashby, M. C., & McBain, C. J. (2007). The Role of the GluR2 Subunit in AMPA Receptor Function and Synaptic Plasticity. *Neuron*, *54*(6), 859-871. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.06.001
- Jarome, T. J., Ferrara, N. C., Kwapis, J. L., & Helmstetter, F. J. (2015). Contextual Information Drives the Reconsolidation-Dependent Updating of Retrieved Fear Memories. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(13), 3044-3052. doi:10.1038/npp.2015.161
- Jarome, T. J., Werner, C. T., Kwapis, J. L., & Helmstetter, F. J. (2011). Activity Dependent Protein Degradation Is Critical for the Formation and Stability of Fear Memory in the Amygdala. *PLoS ONE*, 6(9), e24349. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024349
- Jarrard, L. E. (1975). Role of interference in retention by rats with hippocampal lesions. *Journal of comparative and physiological psychology, 89*(5), 400-408. doi:10.1037/h0077049
- Joels, G., & Lamprecht, R. (2010). Interaction between N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor and GluR2 is essential for fear memory formation in lateral amygdala. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(47), 15981-15986.

- Jung, M. W., Wiener, S. I., & McNaughton, B. L. (1994). Comparison of spatial firing characteristics of units in dorsal and ventral hippocampus of the rat. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(12), 7347-7356.
- Kaltschmidt, B., Ndiaye, D., Korte, M., Pothion, S., Arbibe, L., Prüllage, M., . . . Israël, A. (2006). NF-κB regulates spatial memory formation and synaptic plasticity through protein kinase A/CREB signaling. *Molecular and cellular biology*, *26*(8), 2936-2946.
- Karlsson, M. P., & Frank, L. M. (2008). Network dynamics underlying the formation of sparse, informative representations in the hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(52), 14271-14281.
- Kempadoo, K. A., Mosharov, E. V., Choi, S. J., Sulzer, D., & Kandel, E. R. (2016). Dopamine release from the locus coeruleus to the dorsal hippocampus promotes spatial learning and memory. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113*(51), 14835-14840. doi:10.1073/pnas.1616515114
- Kentros, C., Hargreaves, E., Hawkins, R. D., Kandel, E. R., Shapiro, M., & Muller, R. V. (1998). Abolition of Long-Term Stability of New Hippocampal Place Cell Maps by NMDA Receptor Blockade. *Science*, 280(5372), 2121-2126. doi:10.1126/science.280.5372.2121
- Kessels, H. W., & Malinow, R. (2009). Synaptic AMPA Receptor Plasticity and Behavior. *Neuron, 61*(3), 340-350. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.01.015
- Kim, C.-H., & Lisman, J. E. (2001). A labile component of AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission is dependent on microtubule motors, actin, and N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(12), 4188-4194.
- Kim, J., & Fanselow, M. (1992). Modality-specific retrograde amnesia of fear. *Science*, 256(5057), 675-677. doi:10.1126/science.1585183
- Komorowski, R. W., Manns, J. R., & Eichenbaum, H. (2009). Robust conjunctive item–place coding by hippocampal neurons parallels learning what happens where. *Journal of Neuroscience, 29*(31), 9918-9929.
- Koppenaal, R. J., Jagoda, E., & Cruce, J. A. F. (1967). Recovery from ECS-produced amnesia following a reminder. *Psychonomic Science*, *9*(5), 293-294. doi:10.3758/bf03332228
- Kwapis, J. L., & Helmstetter, F. J. (2014). Does PKM(zeta) maintain memory? *Brain Research Bulletin, 105*, 36-45. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2013.09.005
- Lamprecht, R. (2014). The actin cytoskeleton in memory formation. *Progress in Neurobiology, 117*, 1-19. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2014.02.001
- Lamprecht, R., & LeDoux, J. (2004). Structural plasticity and memory. Nat Rev Neurosci, 5(1), 45-54.
- Langton, J. M., & Richardson, R. (2010). The temporal specificity of the switch from NMDAr-dependent extinction to NMDAr-independent re-extinction. *Behavioural Brain Research, 208*(2), 646-649. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2009.12.018
- Lee, H.-K., Barbarosie, M., Kameyama, K., Bear, M. F., & Huganir, R. L. (2000). Regulation of distinct AMPA receptor phosphorylation sites during bidirectional synaptic plasticity. *Nature, 405*, 955. doi:10.1038/35016089
- Lee, J. L., Di Ciano, P., Thomas, K. L., & Everitt, B. J. (2005). Disrupting reconsolidation of drug memories reduces cocaine-seeking behavior. *Neuron*, 47(6), 795-801.
- Lee, J. L. C. (2009). Reconsolidation: maintaining memory relevance. *Trends in Neurosciences, 32*(8), 413-420. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2009.05.002
- Lee, J. L. C., & Hynds, R. E. (2013). Divergent cellular pathways of hippocampal memory consolidation and reconsolidation. *Hippocampus*, 23(3), 233-244. doi:10.1002/hipo.22083
- Lee, J. L. C., Nader, K., & Schiller, D. (2017). An Update on Memory Reconsolidation Updating. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 21(7), 531-545. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2017.04.006
- Lee, S. H., Choi, J. H., Lee, N., Lee, H. R., Kim, J. I., Yu, N. K., . . . Kaang, B. K. (2008). Synaptic protein degradation underlies destabilization of retrieved fear memory. *Science*, 319. doi:10.1126/science.1150541

- Lee, S. H., Liu, L., Wang, Y. T., & Sheng, M. (2002). Clathrin adaptor AP2 and NSF interact with overlapping sites of GluR2 and play distinct roles in AMPA receptor trafficking and hippocampal LTD. *Neuron*, *36*(4), 661-674.
- Leutgeb, S., Leutgeb, J. K., Barnes, C. A., Moser, E. I., McNaughton, B. L., & Moser, M.-B. (2005). Independent Codes for Spatial and Episodic Memory in Hippocampal Neuronal Ensembles. *Science*, 309(5734), 619-623. doi:10.1126/science.1114037
- Levin, J. E., & Miller, J. P. (1996). Broadband neural encoding in the cricket cereal sensory system enhanced by stochastic resonance. *Nature, 380*, 165. doi:10.1038/380165a0
- Levitan, D., Fortis-Santiago, Y., Figueroa, J. A., Reid, E. E., Yoshida, T., Barry, N. C., . . . Katz, D. B. (2016). Memory Retrieval Has a Dynamic Influence on the Maintenance Mechanisms That Are Sensitive to ζ-Inhibitory Peptide (ZIP). *The Journal of Neuroscience, 36*(41), 10654-10662. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.1568-16.2016
- Lewis, D. J., Misanin, J. R., & Miller, R. R. (1968). Recovery of Memory following Amnesia. *Nature, 220*, 704. doi:10.1038/220704a0
- Li, S., & Richardson, R. (2013). Traces of memory: Reacquisition of fear following forgetting is NMDArindependent. *Learning & Memory, 20*(4), 174-182. doi:10.1101/lm.029504.112
- Lin, B., Kramár, E. A., Bi, X., Brucher, F. A., Gall, C. M., & Lynch, G. (2005). Theta Stimulation Polymerizes Actin in Dendritic Spines of Hippocampus. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *25*(8), 2062-2069. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4283-04.2005
- Lin, D.-T., & Huganir, R. L. (2007). PICK1 and Phosphorylation of the Glutamate Receptor 2 (GluR2) AMPA Receptor Subunit Regulates GluR2 Recycling after NMDA Receptor-Induced Internalization. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *27*(50), 13903-13908. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.1750-07.2007
- Ling, D. S., Benardo, L. S., Serrano, P. A., Blace, N., Kelly, M. T., Crary, J. F., & Sacktor, T. C. (2002). Protein kinase Mζ is necessary and sufficient for LTP maintenance. *Nat Neurosci, 5*.
- Lu, W.-Y., Man, H.-Y., Ju, W., Trimble, W. S., MacDonald, J. F., & Wang, Y. T. (2001). Activation of Synaptic NMDA Receptors Induces Membrane Insertion of New AMPA Receptors and LTP in Cultured Hippocampal Neurons. *Neuron, 29*(1), 243-254. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00194-5
- Lu, W., Shi, Y., Jackson, A. C., Bjorgan, K., During, M. J., Sprengel, R., . . . Nicoll, R. A. (2009). Subunit Composition of Synaptic AMPA Receptors Revealed by a Single-Cell Genetic Approach. *Neuron*, 62(2), 254-268. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.02.027
- Lubin, F. D., & Sweatt, J. D. (2007). The IkB Kinase Regulates Chromatin Structure during Reconsolidation of Conditioned Fear Memories. *Neuron*, *55*(6), 942-957. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.07.039
- Lüscher, C., Xia, H., Beattie, E. C., Carroll, R. C., von Zastrow, M., Malenka, R. C., & Nicoll, R. A. (1999).
 Role of AMPA Receptor Cycling in Synaptic Transmission and Plasticity. *Neuron, 24*(3), 649-658.
 doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81119-8
- Lussier, M. P., Nasu-Nishimura, Y., & Roche, K. W. (2011). Activity-Dependent Ubiquitination of the AMPA Receptor Subunit GluA2. *The Journal of Neuroscience, 31*(8), 3077-3081. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5944-10.2011
- Luthi, A., Chittajallu, R., Duprat, F., Palmer, M. J., Benke, T. A., Kidd, F. L., . . . Collingridge, G. L. (1999). Hippocampal LTD expression involves a pool of AMPARs regulated by the NSF-GluR2 interaction. *Neuron, 24*.
- Malenka, R. C., Nicoll, & A., R. (1999). Long-Term Potentiation--A Decade of Progress? *Science*, 285(5435), 1870-1874. doi:10.1126/science.285.5435.1870
- Malinow, R., Mainen, Z. F., & Hayashi, Y. (2000). LTP mechanisms: from silence to four-lane traffic. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *10*(3), 352-357. doi:10.1016/S0959-4388(00)00099-4
- Malinow, R., & Malenka, R. C. (2002). AMPA RECEPTOR TRAFFICKING AND SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 25(1), 103-126. doi:doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.25.112701.142758

- Man, H.-Y. (2011). GluA2-lacking, calcium-permeable AMPA receptors inducers of plasticity? *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 21(2), 291-298. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2011.01.001
- Man, H.-Y., Lin, J. W., Ju, W. H., Ahmadian, G., Liu, L., Becker, L. E., . . . Wang, Y. T. (2000). Regulation of AMPA Receptor–Mediated Synaptic Transmission by Clathrin-Dependent Receptor Internalization. *Neuron*, *25*(3), 649-662. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81067-3
- Manns, J. R., & Eichenbaum, H. (2009). A cognitive map for object memory in the hippocampus. *Learning & Memory, 16*(10), 616-624.
- Maren, S. (1999). Long-term potentiation in the amygdala: a mechanism for emotional learning and memory. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 22(12), 561-567.
- Martin, S. J. (1998). Time-dependent reversal of dentate LTP by 5 Hz stimulation. *Neuroreport, 9*(17), 3775-3781.
- Matsuda, S., Launey, T., Mikawa, S., & Hirai, H. (2000). Disruption of AMPA receptor GluR2 clusters following long-term depression induction in cerebellar Purkinje neurons. *The EMBO Journal*, *19*(12), 2765-2774.
- McGaugh, J. L. (2000). Memory-a century of consolidation. *Science*, 287. doi:10.1126/science.287.5451.248
- Meng, Y., Zhang, Y., & Jia, Z. (2003). Synaptic Transmission and Plasticity in the Absence of AMPA Glutamate Receptor GluR2 and GluR3. *Neuron*, *39*(1), 163-176. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00368-4
- Mercurio, F., Zhu, H., Murray, B. W., Shevchenko, A., Bennett, B. L., Li, J. w., . . . Rao, A. (1997). IKK-1 and IKK-2: Cytokine-Activated IkB Kinases Essential for NF-кB Activation. *Science*, *278*(5339), 860-866. doi:10.1126/science.278.5339.860
- Merlo, E., Freudenthal, R., Maldonado, H., & Romano, A. (2005). Activation of the transcription factor NF-κB by retrieval is required for long-term memory reconsolidation. *Learning & Memory*, *12*(1), 23-29. doi:10.1101/lm.82705
- Migues, P. V., Hardt, O., Finnie, P., Wang, Y. W., & Nader, K. (2014). The maintenance of long-term memory in the hippocampus depends on the interaction between N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor and GluA2. *Hippocampus, 24*(9), 1112-1119. doi:10.1002/hipo.22295
- Migues, P. V., Hardt, O., Wu, D. C., Gamache, K., Sacktor, T. C., Wang, Y. T., & Nader, K. (2010). PKMζ maintains memories by regulating GluR2-dependent AMPA receptor trafficking. *Nat Neurosci*, *13*.
- Migues, P. V., Liu, L., Archbold, G. E. B., Einarsson, E. Ö., Wong, J., Bonasia, K., . . . Hardt, O. (2016). Blocking Synaptic Removal of GluA2-Containing AMPA Receptors Prevents the Natural Forgetting of Long-Term Memories. *The Journal of Neuroscience, 36*(12), 3481-3494. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3333-15.2016
- Milekic, M. H., & Alberini, C. M. (2002). Temporally graded requirement for protein synthesis following memory reactivation. *Neuron*, *36*(3), 521-525.
- Miller, R. R., & Springer, A. D. (1973). Amnesia, consolidation, and retrieval. *Psychological Review*, *80*(1), 69-79. doi:10.1037/h0033897
- Miller, R. R., & Springer, A. D. (1974). Implications of recovery from experimental amnesia. *Psychological Review*, *81*(5), 470-473. doi:10.1037/h0036951
- Mohamed, N.-E., Zhao, Y., Lee, J. H., Tan, M. G., Esiri, M. M., Wilcock, G. K., . . . Lai, M. K. (2011). Upregulation of AMPA receptor GluR2 (GluA2) subunits in subcortical ischemic vascular dementia is repressed in the presence of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochemistry international*, 58(7), 820-825.
- Montarolo, P., Goelet, P., Castellucci, V., Morgan, J., Kandel, E., & Schacher, S. (1986). A critical period for macromolecular synthesis in long-term heterosynaptic facilitation in Aplysia. *Science*, 234(4781), 1249-1254. doi:10.1126/science.3775383

- Morris, R. G., Davis, S., & Butcher, S. P. (1991). Hippocampal synaptic plasticity and N-methyl-Daspartate receptors: a role in information storage. *Long term potentiation: A debate of current issues*, 267-300.
- Morris, R. G. M., Anderson, E., Lynch, G. S., & Baudry, M. (1986). Selective impairment of learning and blockade of long-term potentiation by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, AP5. *Nature, 319*, 774. doi:10.1038/319774a0
- Morris, R. G. M., Inglis, J., Ainge, J. A., Olverman, H. J., Tulloch, J., Dudai, Y., & Kelly, P. A. T. (2006). Memory reconsolidation: Sensitivity of spatial memory to inhibition of protein synthesis in dosal hippocampus during encoding and retrieval. *Neuron*, *50*. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.04.012
- Moser, M.-B., Moser, E. I., Forrest, E., Andersen, P., & Morris, R. (1995). Spatial learning with a minislab in the dorsal hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 92*(21), 9697-9701.
- Moser, M.-B., Rowland, D. C., & Moser, E. I. (2015). Place Cells, Grid Cells, and Memory. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 7(2). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a021808
- Mumby, D. G., Gaskin, S., Glenn, M. J., Schramek, T. E., & Lehmann, H. (2002). Hippocampal Damage and Exploratory Preferences in Rats: Memory for Objects, Places, and Contexts. *Learning & Memory*, *9*(2), 49-57. doi:10.1101/lm.41302
- Murre, J. M. J., & Dros, J. (2015). Replication and Analysis of Ebbinghaus' Forgetting Curve. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(7), e0120644. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0120644
- Nader, K. (2003). Memory traces unbound. *Trends in Neurosciences, 26*(2), 65-72. doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(02)00042-5
- Nader, K., & Hardt, O. (2009). A single standard for memory: the case for reconsolidation. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *10*, 224. doi:10.1038/nrn2590
- Nader, K., Schafe, G. E., & Le Doux, J. E. (2000). Fear memories require protein synthesis in the amygdala for reconsolidation after retrieval. *Nature, 406*(6797), 722-726.
- Nakazawa, K., McHugh, T. J., Wilson, M. A., & Tonegawa, S. (2004). NMDA receptors, place cells and hippocampal spatial memory. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 5*(5), 361-372.
- Newpher, T. M., & Ehlers, M. D. (2009). Spine microdomains for postsynaptic signaling and plasticity. *Trends in Cell Biology*, *19*(5), 218-227. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2009.02.004
- Nishimune, A., Isaac, J. T., Molnar, E., Noel, J., Nash, S. R., Tagaya, M., . . . Henley, J. M. (1998). NSF binding to GluR2 regulates synaptic transmission. *Neuron*, *21*.
- Noel, J., Ralph, G. S., Pickard, L., Williams, J., Molnar, E., Uney, J. B., . . . Henley, J. M. (1999). Surface Expression of AMPA Receptors in Hippocampal Neurons Is Regulated by an NSF-Dependent Mechanism. *Neuron*, 23(2), 365-376. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80786-2
- Nomoto, M., Ohkawa, N., Nishizono, H., Yokose, J., Suzuki, A., Matsuo, M., . . . Watabe, A. M. (2016). Cellular tagging as a neural network mechanism for behavioural tagging. *Nature Communications*, *7*, 12319.
- O'Keefe, J., & Dostrovsky, J. (1971). The hippocampus as a spatial map: Preliminary evidence from unit activity in the freely-moving rat. *Brain Research*.
- Okamoto, K.-I., Nagai, T., Miyawaki, A., & Hayashi, Y. (2004). Rapid and persistent modulation of actin dynamics regulates postsynaptic reorganization underlying bidirectional plasticity. *Nature Neuroscience*, *7*(10), 1104.
- Otani, S., Marshall, C. J., Tate, W. P., Goddard, G. V., & Abraham, W. C. (1989). Maintenance of longterm potentiation in rat dentate gyrus requires protein synthesis but not messenger RNA synthesis immediately post-tetanization. *Neuroscience*, *28*(3), 519-526. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(89)90001-8

- Otmakhova, N., Duzel, E., Deutch, A. Y., & Lisman, J. (2013). The hippocampal-VTA loop: the role of novelty and motivation in controlling the entry of information into long-term memory *Intrinsically motivated learning in natural and artificial systems* (pp. 235-254): Springer.
- Park, M., Penick, E. C., Edwards, J. G., Kauer, J. A., & Ehlers, M. D. (2004). Recycling endosomes supply AMPA receptors for LTP. *Science*, *305*(5692), 1972-1975.
- Parsons, R. G. (2017). Behavioral and neural mechanisms by which prior experience impacts subsequent learning. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2017.11.008
- Parsons, R. G., & Davis, M. (2011). Temporary disruption of fear-potentiated startle following PKMzeta inhibition in the amygdala. *Nat Neurosci, 14*.
- Pastalkova, E., Serrano, P., Pinkhasova, D., Wallace, E., Fenton, A. A., & Sacktor, T. C. (2006). Storage of Spatial Information by the Maintenance Mechanism of LTP. *Science*, *313*(5790), 1141-1144. doi:10.1126/science.1128657
- Patrick, G. N., Bingol, B., Weld, H. A., & Schuman, E. M. (2003). Ubiquitin-Mediated Proteasome Activity Is Required for Agonist-Induced Endocytosis of GluRs. *Current Biology*, *13*(23), 2073-2081. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2003.10.028
- Pearce, K., Cai, D., Roberts, A. C., & Glanzman, D. L. (2017). Role of protein synthesis and DNA methylation in the consolidation and maintenance of long-term memory in Aplysia. *eLife*, *6*, e18299. doi:10.7554/eLife.18299
- Perez, J. L., Khatri, L., Chang, C., Srivastava, S., Osten, P., & Ziff, E. B. (2001). PICK1 targets activated protein kinase Cα to AMPA receptor clusters in spines of hippocampal neurons and reduces surface levels of the AMPA-type glutamate receptor subunit 2. *Journal of Neuroscience, 21*(15), 5417-5428.
- Pickens, C. L., Golden, S. A., Adams-Deutsch, T., Nair, S. G., & Shaham, Y. (2009). Long-lasting incubation of conditioned fear in rats. *Biological psychiatry*, *65*(10), 881-886. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.12.010
- Plant, K., Pelkey, K. A., Bortolotto, Z. A., Morita, D., Terashima, A., McBain, C. J., . . . Isaac, J. T. R. (2006). Transient incorporation of native GluR2-lacking AMPA receptors during hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Nat Neurosci*, 9(5), 602-604.
- Przybyslawski, J., & Sara, S. J. (1997). Reconsolidation of memory after its reactivation. *Behavioural Brain Research, 84*(1), 241-246.
- Quartermain, D., McEwen, B. S., & Azmitia, E. C. (1970). Amnesia Produced by Electroconvulsive Shock or Cycloheximide: Conditions for Recovery. *Science*, *169*(3946), 683-686. doi:10.1126/science.169.3946.683
- Rácz, B., Blanpied, T. A., Ehlers, M. D., & Weinberg, R. J. (2004). Lateral organization of endocytic machinery in dendritic spines. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(9), 917.
- Rao-Ruiz, P., Rotaru, D. C., van der Loo, R. J., Mansvelder, H. D., Stiedl, O., Smit, A. B., & Spijker, S. (2011). Retrieval-specific endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs underlies adaptive reconsolidation of contextual fear. *Nat Neurosci, 14*(10), 1302-1308. doi:10.1038/nn.2907
- Rathje, M., Fang, H., Bachman, J. L., Anggono, V., Gether, U., Huganir, R. L., & Madsen, K. L. (2013).
 AMPA receptor pHluorin-GluA2 reports NMDA receptor-induced intracellular acidification in hippocampal neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110*(35), 14426-14431. doi:10.1073/pnas.1312982110
- Ren, Z.-Y., Liu, M.-M., Xue, Y.-X., Ding, Z.-B., Xue, L.-F., Zhai, S.-D., & Lu, L. (2012). A Critical Role for Protein Degradation in the Nucleus Accumbens Core in Cocaine Reward Memory. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 38, 778. doi:10.1038/npp.2012.243
- Restivo, L., Tafi, E., Ammassari-Teule, M., & Marie, H. (2009). Viral-mediated expression of a constitutively active form of CREB in hippocampal neurons increases memory. *Hippocampus*, 19(3), 228-234. doi:10.1002/hipo.20527

- Rogerson, T., Cai, D. J., Frank, A., Sano, Y., Shobe, J., Lopez-Aranda, M. F., & Silva, A. J. (2014). Synaptic tagging during memory allocation. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *15*(3), 157.
- Royer, S., Sirota, A., Patel, J., & Buzsáki, G. (2010). Distinct representations and theta dynamics in dorsal and ventral hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(5), 1777-1787.
- Rudy, J. W. (2015). Variation in the persistence of memory: An interplay between actin dynamics and AMPA receptors. *Brain Research, 1621,* 29-37. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2014.12.009
- Rumpel, S., LeDoux, J., Zador, A., & Malinow, R. (2005). Postsynaptic receptor trafficking underlying a form of associative learning. *Science*, *308*(5718), 83-88.
- Ryan, T. J., Roy, D. S., Pignatelli, M., Arons, A., & Tonegawa, S. (2015). Engram cells retain memory under retrograde amnesia. *Science*, *348*(6238), 1007-1013.
- Sacktor, T. C. (2011). How does PKMzeta maintain long-term memory? *Nat Rev Neurosci, 12*(1), 9-15. doi:10.1038/nrn2949
- Sakurai, K., Zhao, S., Takatoh, J., Rodriguez, E., Lu, J., Leavitt, A. D., . . . Wang, F. (2016). Capturing and Manipulating Activated Neuronal Ensembles with CANE Delineates a Hypothalamic Social-Fear Circuit. *Neuron*, *92*(4), 739-753. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2016.10.015
- Sanders, M. J., & Fanselow, M. S. (2003). Pre-training prevents context fear conditioning deficits produced by hippocampal NMDA receptor blockade. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, *80*(2), 123-129. doi:10.1016/S1074-7427(03)00040-6
- Santos, S. D., Carvalho, A. L., Caldeira, M. V., & Duarte, C. B. (2009). Regulation of AMPA receptors and synaptic plasticity. *Neuroscience*, *158*(1), 105-125. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.02.037
- Sara, S. J. (1985). The locus coeruleus and cognitive function: Attempts to relate noradrenergic enhancement of signal/noise in the brain to behavior. *Physiological Psychology*, *13*(3), 151-162. doi:10.3758/bf03326515
- Sara, S. J. (2000). Retrieval and Reconsolidation: Toward a Neurobiology of Remembering. *Learning & Memory*, 7(2), 73-84. doi:10.1101/lm.7.2.73
- Sara, S. J. (2009). The locus coeruleus and noradrenergic modulation of cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *10*(3), 211.
- Saucier, D., & Cain, D. P. (1995). Spatial learning without NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation. *Nature, 378*, 186. doi:10.1038/378186a0
- Schiller, D., Monfils, M.-H., Raio, C. M., Johnson, D. C., LeDoux, J. E., & Phelps, E. A. (2009). Preventing the return of fear in humans using reconsolidation update mechanisms. *Nature*, 463, 49. doi:10.1038/nature08637
- Seeburg, P. H., Higuchi, M., & Sprengel, R. (1998). RNA editing of brain glutamate receptor channels: mechanism and physiology. *Brain Research Reviews, 26*(2), 217-229. doi:10.1016/S0165-0173(97)00062-3
- Segal, M., & Bloom, F. E. (1976). The action of norepinephrine in the rat hippocampus. IV. The effects of locus coeruleus stimulation on evoked hippocampal unit activity. *Brain Research*, 107(3), 513-525. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(76)90141-4
- Seidenman, K. J., Steinberg, J. P., Huganir, R., & Malinow, R. (2003). Glutamate receptor subunit 2 Serine 880 phosphorylation modulates synaptic transmission and mediates plasticity in CA1 pyramidal cells. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(27), 9220-9228.
- Serrano, P., Friedman, E. L., Kenney, J., Taubenfeld, S. M., Zimmerman, J. M., Hanna, J., . . . Fenton, A. A. (2008). PKMζ Maintains Spatial, Instrumental, and Classically Conditioned Long-Term Memories. *PLOS Biology*, *6*(12), e318. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060318
- Serrano, P., Yao, Y., & Sacktor, T. C. (2005). Persistent phosphorylation by protein kinase Mζ maintains late-phase long-term potentiation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *25*(8), 1979-1984.
- Sevenster, D., Beckers, T., & Kindt, M. (2013). Prediction Error Governs Pharmacologically Induced Amnesia for Learned Fear. *Science*, *339*(6121), 830-833. doi:10.1126/science.1231357

- Sevenster, D., Beckers, T., & Kindt, M. (2014). Prediction error demarcates the transition from retrieval, to reconsolidation, to new learning. *Learning & Memory*, *21*(11), 580-584.
- Shema, R., Sacktor, T. C., & Dudai, Y. (2007). Rapid erasure of long-term memory associations in the cortex by an inhibitor of PKMζ. *Science*, *317*(5840), 951-953.
- Sheng, M., & Lee, S. H. (2001). AMPA Receptor Trafficking and the Control of Synaptic Transmission. *Cell,* 105(7), 825-828. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00406-8
- Shepherd, J. D., & Huganir, R. L. (2007). The Cell Biology of Synaptic Plasticity: AMPA Receptor Trafficking. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 23*(1), 613-643. doi:doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.23.090506.123516
- Shi, S.-H., Hayashi, Y., Esteban, J. A., & Malinow, R. (2001). Subunit-Specific Rules Governing AMPA Receptor Trafficking to Synapses in Hippocampal Pyramidal Neurons. *Cell*, *105*(3), 331-343. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00321-X
- Shrum, C. K., & Meffert, M. K. (2008). 4.28 The NF-κB Family in Learning and Memory A2 Byrne, John H *Learning and Memory: A Comprehensive Reference* (pp. 567-585). Oxford: Academic Press.
- Si, J., Yang, J., Xue, L., Yang, C., Luo, Y., Shi, H., & Lu, L. (2012). Activation of NF-κB in Basolateral Amygdala Is Required for Memory Reconsolidation in Auditory Fear Conditioning. *PLoS ONE*, 7(9), e43973. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0043973
- Soderling, T. R., & Derkach, V. A. (2000). Postsynaptic protein phosphorylation and LTP. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 23(2), 75-80. doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(99)01490-3
- Song, I., & Huganir, R. L. (2002). Regulation of AMPA receptors during synaptic plasticity. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *25*(11), 578-588.
- Song, I., Kamboj, S., Xia, J., Dong, H., Liao, D., & Huganir, R. L. (1998). Interaction of the Nethylmaleimide-sensitive factor with AMPA receptors. *Neuron*, *2*1.
- Sørensen, A. T., Cooper, Y. A., Baratta, M. V., Weng, F.-J., Zhang, Y., Ramamoorthi, K., . . . Lin, Y. (2016). A robust activity marking system for exploring active neuronal ensembles. *eLife*, *5*, e13918. doi:10.7554/eLife.13918
- Squire, L. R. (1980). Specifying the defect in human amnesia: Storage, retrieval and semantics. *Neuropsychologia*, *18*(3), 369-372. doi:10.1016/0028-3932(80)90134-7
- Squire, L. R. (1982). The Neuropsychology of Human Memory. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 5(1), 241-273. doi:10.1146/annurev.ne.05.030182.001325
- Squire, L. R., & Alvarez, P. (1995). Retrograde amnesia and memory consolidation: a neurobiological perspective. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *5*(2), 169-177. doi:10.1016/0959-4388(95)80023-9
- Stacey, W. C., & Durand, D. M. (2001). Synaptic Noise Improves Detection of Subthreshold Signals in Hippocampal CA1 Neurons. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 86(3), 1104-1112. doi:10.1152/jn.2001.86.3.1104
- Steinberg, J. P., Huganir, R. L., & Linden, D. J. (2004). *N*-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor is required for the synaptic incorporation and removal of AMPA receptors during cerebellar long-term depression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(52), 18212-18216. doi:10.1073/pnas.0408278102
- Suzuki, A., Josselyn, S. A., Frankland, P. W., Masushige, S., Silva, A. J., & Kida, S. (2004). Memory Reconsolidation and Extinction Have Distinct Temporal and Biochemical Signatures. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 24(20), 4787-4795. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5491-03.2004
- Tao-Cheng, J.-H., Crocker, V. T., Winters, C. A., Azzam, R., Chludzinski, J., & Reese, T. S. (2011). Trafficking of AMPA Receptors at Plasma Membranes of Hippocampal Neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(13), 4834-4843. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4745-10.2011
- Tayler, K., Lowry, E., Tanaka, K., Levy, B., Reijmers, L., Mayford, M., & Wiltgen, B. (2011). Characterization of NMDAR-Independent Learning in the Hippocampus. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 5(28). doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2011.00028
- Teyler, T. J., & DiScenna, P. (1987). Long-term potentiation. *Annual Review of Neuroscience, 10*(1), 131-161.
- Thompson, L., & Best, P. (1989). Place cells and silent cells in the hippocampus of freely-behaving rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 9(7), 2382-2390.
- Traynelis, S. F., Wollmuth, L. P., McBain, C. J., Menniti, F. S., Vance, K. M., Ogden, K. K., . . . Dingledine, R. (2010). Glutamate Receptor Ion Channels: Structure, Regulation, and Function. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 62(3), 405-496. doi:10.1124/pr.109.002451
- Tronson, N. C., Wiseman, S. L., Olausson, P., & Taylor, J. R. (2006). Bidirectional behavioral plasticity of memory reconsolidation depends on amygdalar protein kinase A. *Nature Neuroscience*, *9*(2), 167.
- Tsumoto, T. (1993). Long-term depression in cerebral cortex: a possible substrate of "forgetting" that should not be forgotten. *Neuroscience Research*, *16*(4), 263-270. doi:10.1016/0168-0102(93)90036-P
- Tulving, E., & Markowitsch, H. J. (1998). Episodic and declarative memory: Role of the hippocampus. *Hippocampus, 8*(3), 198-204.
- Tulving, E., & Pearlstone, Z. (1966). Availability versus accessibility of information in memory for words. Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior, 5(4), 381-391. doi:10.1016/S0022-5371(66)80048-8
- Vazdarjanova, A., & Guzowski, J. F. (2004). Differences in Hippocampal Neuronal Population Responses to Modifications of an Environmental Context: Evidence for Distinct, Yet Complementary, Functions of CA3 and CA1 Ensembles. *The Journal of Neuroscience, 24*(29), 6489-6496. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.0350-04.2004
- Vazdarjanova, A., Ramirez-Amaya, V., Insel, N., Plummer, T. K., Rosi, S., Chowdhury, S., . . . Barnes, C. A. (2006). Spatial exploration induces ARC, a plasticity-related immediate-early gene, only in calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II-positive principal excitatory and inhibitory neurons of the rat forebrain. *Journal of Comparative Neurology, 498*(3), 317-329. doi:10.1002/cne.21003
- Verma, I. M., Stevenson, J. K., Schwarz, E. M., Van Antwerp, D., & Miyamoto, S. (1995). Rel/NF-kappa B/I kappa B family: intimate tales of association and dissociation. *Genes & development, 9*(22), 2723-2735.
- Villarreal, D. M., Do, V., Haddad, E., & Derrick, B. E. (2002). NMDA receptor antagonists sustain LTP and spatial memory: active processes mediate LTP decay. *Nat Neurosci, 5*(1), 48-52.
- Wahl, C., Liptay, S., Adler, G., & Schmid, R. M. (1998). Sulfasalazine: a potent and specific inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101(5), 1163-1174. doi:10.1172/JCI992
- Wang, J. Q., Arora, A., Yang, L., Parelkar, N. K., Zhang, G., Liu, X., . . . Mao, L. (2005). Phosphorylation of AMPA receptors. *Molecular Neurobiology*, *32*(3), 237-249. doi:10.1385/mn:32:3:237
- Wang, S.-H., de Oliveira Alvares, L., & Nader, K. (2009). Cellular and systems mechanisms of memory strength as a constraint on auditory fear reconsolidation. *Nature Neuroscience*, 12, 905. doi:10.1038/nn.2350
- Wenthold, R. J., Petralia, R. S., Blahos J, II, & Niedzielski, A. S. (1996). Evidence for multiple AMPA receptor complexes in hippocampal CA1/CA2 neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *16*(6), 1982.
- Whiteheart, S. W., Schraw, T., & Matveeva, E. A. (2001). N-ethylmaleimide sensitive factor (NSF) structure and function *International Review of Cytology* (Vol. 207, pp. 71-112): Academic Press.
- Widagdo, J., Chai, Ye J., Ridder, Margreet C., Chau, Yu Q., Johnson, Richard C., Sah, P., . . . Anggono, V. (2015). Activity-Dependent Ubiquitination of GluA1 and GluA2 Regulates AMPA Receptor Intracellular Sorting and Degradation. *Cell Reports*, *10*(5), 783-795. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.01.015

- Wiesenfeld, K., & Moss, F. (1995). Stochastic resonance and the benefits of noise: from ice ages to crayfish and SQUIDs. *Nature*, *373*, 33. doi:10.1038/373033a0
- Wilkinson, K. A., Ashby, M. C., & Henley, J. M. (2014). Validity of pHluorin-tagged GluA2 as a reporter for AMPA receptor surface expression and endocytosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(3), E304. doi:10.1073/pnas.1319322111
- Wilson, M. A., & McNaughton, B. L. (1993). Dynamics of the hippocampal ensemble code for space. *Science*, *261*(5124), 1055-1058.
- Wiltgen, B. J., Wood, A. N., & Levy, B. (2011). The cellular mechanisms of memory are modified by experience. *Learning & Memory*, 18(12), 747-750. doi:10.1101/lm.024026.111
- Winocur, G. (1988). Long-term memory loss in senescent rats: Neuropsychological analysis of interference and context effects. *Psychology and Aging*, *3*(3), 273-279. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.3.3.273
- Winters, B. D., Tucci, M. C., & DaCosta-Furtado, M. (2009). Older and stronger object memories are selectively destabilized by reactivation in the presence of new information. *Learning & Memory*, 16(9), 545-553. doi:10.1101/lm.1509909
- Wisden, W., & Seeburg, P. H. (1993). Mammalian ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 3(3), 291-298.
- Wittenberg, G. M., & Tsien, J. Z. (2002). An emerging molecular and cellular framework for memory processing by the hippocampus. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *25*(10), 501-505. doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(02)02231-2
- Xiao, M. Y., Niu, Y. P., & Wigström, H. (1996). Activity-dependent Decay of Early LTP Revealed by Dual EPSP Recording in Hippocampal Slices from Young Rats. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 8(9), 1916-1923. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.1996.tb01335.x
- Yao, Y., Kelly, M. T., Sajikumar, S., Serrano, P., Tian, D., Bergold, P. J., . . . Sacktor, T. C. (2008). PKMζ Maintains Late Long-Term Potentiation by *N*-Ethylmaleimide-Sensitive Factor/GluR2-Dependent Trafficking of Postsynaptic AMPA Receptors. *The Journal of Neuroscience, 28*(31), 7820-7827. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.0223-08.2008
- Yeh, S.-H., Lin, C.-H., & Gean, P.-W. (2004). Acetylation of Nuclear Factor-κB in Rat Amygdala Improves Long-Term but not Short-Term Retention of Fear Memory. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 65(5), 1286-1292. doi:10.1124/mol.65.5.1286
- Yoshida, M., Hayashi, H., Tateno, K., & Ishizuka, S. (2002). Stochastic resonance in the hippocampal CA3– CA1 model: a possible memory recall mechanism. *Neural Networks*, *15*(10), 1171-1183. doi:10.1016/S0893-6080(02)00092-8
- Zhang, D., Hou, Q., Wang, M., Lin, A., Jarzylo, L., Navis, A., . . . Man, H.-Y. (2009). Na,K-ATPase Activity Regulates AMPA Receptor Turnover through Proteasome-Mediated Proteolysis. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(14), 4498-4511. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.6094-08.2009